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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

For the definition of certain capitalised terms used throughout this Prospectus, see Section 17 "Definitions and 
Glossary of Terms". 

Readers are expressly advised that the Shares are exposed to financial and legal risk and they 
should therefore read this Prospectus in its entirety, in particular Section 2 "Risk Factors". The 
contents of this Prospectus are not to be construed as legal, financial or tax advice. Each reader 
should consult his, her or its own legal adviser, independent financial adviser or tax adviser for 
legal, financial or tax advice. 

This Prospectus, dated 22 November 2018 has been prepared by NRC Group ASA in connection with the listing 
of the Consideration Shares. This Prospectus has been prepared to comply with the Norwegian Securities 
Trading Act sections 7-2 and 7-3 of 29 June 2007 No. 75 (the "Norwegian Securities Trading Act") and 
related legislation and regulations, including the Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 
implementing Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. This Prospectus has been 
prepared solely in the English language.  

The Prospectus has been reviewed by the Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway (the "Norwegian FSA") 
and was approved on 22 November 2018 in accordance with sections 7-7 and 7-8 cf. sections 7-2 and 7-3 of 
the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The approval given by the Norwegian FSA only relates to the Company’s 
descriptions pursuant to a pre-defined checklist of requirements. The Norwegian FSA has not made any form of 
control or approval relating to corporate matters described in, or otherwise covered by, this Prospectus. This 
Prospectus is valid for a period of 12 months from the date of its approval by the Norwegian FSA.  

The information contained in the Prospectus is as at the date of this Prospectus and subject to change, 
completion and amendment without notice. In accordance with section 7-15 of the Norwegian Securities 
Trading Act, any new circumstance, material error or inaccuracy relating to information included in this 
Prospectus, which may have significance for the assessment of the Consideration Shares, and arises between 
the date of this Prospectus and before the Consideration Shares are listed on Oslo Børs, will be presented in a 
supplement to this Prospectus. Publication of this Prospectus shall not create any implication that there has 
been no change in the Company’s affairs or that the information in the Prospectus is correct as at any date 
subsequent to the date of this Prospectus. 

All inquiries relating to this Prospectus must be directed to the Company. No other person is authorised to give 
information or to make any representation in connection with listing of the Consideration Shares. If any such 
information is given or made, it must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Company or by any 
of its employees, affiliates or advisers. 

No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction other than Norway by the Company that would permit 
the possession or distribution of this Prospectus, any documents relating to the Prospectus, or any amendment 
or supplement to the Prospectus, in any country or jurisdiction where this is unlawful or specific action for such 
purpose is required. The distribution of this Prospectus in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. 
Persons into whose possession this Prospectus may come are required by the Company to inform themselves 
about and to observe such restrictions. The Company shall not be responsible or liable for any violation of such 
restrictions by prospective investors. The restrictions and limitations listed and described in the Prospectus are 
not exhaustive and other restrictions and limitations in relation to this Prospectus that are not known or 
identified at the date of this Prospectus may apply in various jurisdictions. This Prospectus serves as a listing 
prospectus as required by applicable laws and regulations only. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to 
buy, subscribe or sell any of the securities described in the Prospectus and no securities are being offered or 
sold pursuant to it. 

The securities described herein have not been and will not be registered under the US Securities Act of 1933 as 
amended (the "US Securities Act"), or with any securities authority of any state of the United States. 
Accordingly, the securities described in the Prospectus may not be offered, pledged, sold, resold, granted, 
delivered, allotted, taken up, or otherwise transferred, as applicable, in the United States, except in 
transactions that are exempt from, or in transactions not subject to, registration under the US Securities Act 
and in compliance with any applicable state securities laws.  

This Prospectus is subject to Norwegian law unless otherwise indicated in the Prospectus. Any dispute arising in 
respect of this Prospectus is subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts with Oslo District 
Court as legal venue in the first instance. 
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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   

Section A – Introduction and Warnings  
 

A.1 Warning This summary should be read as an introduction to this Prospectus.  

Any decision to invest in the securities should be based on consideration of this 
Prospectus as a whole by the investor. 

Where a claim relating to the information contained in this Prospectus is 
brought before a court, the plaintiff investor might, under the national 
legislation of the Member States, have to bear the costs of translating this 
Prospectus before the legal proceedings are initiated.  

Civil liability attaches only to those persons who have tabled the summary 
including any translation thereof, but only if the summary is misleading, 
inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the 
Prospectus or it does not provide, when read together with the other parts of 
the Prospectus, key information in order to aid investors when considering 
whether to invest in such securities. 

A.2 Resale and final 
placement by 
financial 
intermediaries 

Not applicable. No resale will take place. No financial intermediaries is or will 
be used for placement of the New Shares.  
 

 
Section B – Issuer 

 

B.1 Legal and 
commercial name 

The legal and commercial name of the Company is NRC Group ASA. 

B.2 Domicile and legal 
form, legislation 
and country of 
incorporation 

The Company is a Norwegian public limited liability company incorporated in 
Norway under the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act with registration 
number 910 686 909. 

B.3 Nature of current 
operations, 
principal activities 
/products and 
markets 

The Group is a fully integrated infrastructure contractor covering the 
Norwegian and Swedish markets with in-house capabilities to deliver complex 
infrastructure projects. The Company is a full-range supplier for the 
construction and maintenance of transport related infrastructure. Its main 
markets are related to transport infrastructure with specialist expertise within 
railroads; including train, metro and tram, roads and harbours. Additional 
markets include fibre, water and wastewater. 
 
The Company has all the necessary approvals to work within the train, tram 
and subway segments, including installation approval of electrical installations.  
 
The Group has specialist capabilities across the entire spectre of rail services. 
This includes (in addition to railroads) terminals and stations and related 
infrastructure such as tunnels, bridges and crossings. The Company has 
strengthened its offering within maintenance and renewal through its recent 
acquisitions in 2016 and 2017. Ability to offer the full scope and execution 
capacity are important factors in a tender process. 
 
The main service offerings of the Company include: 

 Project management 
 Security & safety 
 Groundwork – including surveying, tunnels, bridges, culverts, 

crossings, concrete, ponds, water & waste water 
 Signal & telecom  
 Electro, including fiber 
 Track  
 Environment 

 
The Company's key clients are the Norwegian and Swedish governments 
through Bane NOR (Norway) and Trafikverket (Sweden). In addition to 
operating as a main contractor, the Company may operate as a subcontractor 
to other contractors with Bane NOR and Trafikverket as end-users.  

B.4a Recent trends 
Revenue for the first three quarters of 2018 increased by 30% from the same 
period in 2017. This reflects both organic growth and growth through 
acquisitions. The own order back log increased from NOK 1,968 million at 30 
September 2017 to NOK 2,802 million at 30 September 2018. In addition, the 
relative part of the order back log (without any intercompany eliminations) in 
joint ventures/ associated companies increased from NOK 449 million at 30 



Prospectus – NRC Group ASA 
 

7 

September 2017 to NOK 551 million at 30 September 2018. The positive 
investment outlook for the Nordic railway and other transport infrastructure is 
supported by strong macro trends and political commitment. The approved 
NTP in both Norway and Sweden provides better visibility and confirms the 
commitment to increased railway spending and a shift towards larger projects. 
 
The size and focus of the Company has enabled access to capital, facilitating 
for its acquisitions. It is the Company’s belief that it needs to maintain this 
trust in the capital markets going forward. Delivering results through solid 
project execution has been vital to this success. 
 
To strengthen the Group's Norwegian operations and broaden the Group's 
overall capabilities as a turnkey contractor, the Group acquired Gunnar 
Knutsen AS and NSS Holding AS during September 2018, including 100% 
ownership of Norsk Saneringsservice AS and 70% ownership of Miljøvakta AS. 
Construction and infrastructure development is associated with major climate 
and environmental responsibility. There is a clear trend of increased 
regulations and expectations from the authorities related to sustainability and 
environmental impact. The same trend is reflected among customers and other 
stakeholders, which has led to a greater importance of environmental and 
safety considerations in tendering processes. Having in-house competence and 
capacity to provide a full range of services, from planning and project 
management to the actual physical work of decommissioning, remediation and 
waste logistics, strengthens the Group’s competitive position.  
 
On 11 October 2018, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire VR 
Track, a Finnish company in the VR Group engaged in railway construction, 
maintenance services and design, with operations in Finland and Sweden. 
Completion of the Acquisition is expected in early January 2019.  Combining 
the Group and VR Track will create the largest specialized rail infrastructure 
group in the Nordic region, with strong capabilities across the entire railway 
value chain and leading positions in the attractive Norwegian, Swedish and 
Finnish markets.  
 
The Norwegian national budget proposal confirmed political support for 
strengthening the railway sector with a record NOK 26.4 billion spending 
allocated to this sector for 2019, an increase of 12.4% from 2018. However, 
proposed spending on investment, maintenance and renewal is lower than the 
average levels outlined in the 2018-2029 National Transport Plan for a second 
consecutive year. The maintenance backlog has also been adjusted upwards. 
These are factors that indicate continued growth in railway infrastructure 
investments and activity in the coming years. The overall tendering activity in 
Norway is high. 
 
Bane NOR announced that it will create a 100% owned railway operation and 
maintenance unit with approximately 1,000 employees, operative from the 
first half of 2019. The move is a preparation for the upcoming privatization of 
long-term operations and maintenance contracts in Norway. Additional details 
on the process is expected in December. NRC Group is uniquely positioned for 
this expansion of the Norwegian market with its full-service capabilities and 
ability to leverage a leading maintenance position in Sweden and Finland 
following completion of the Acquisition. 
 
The Swedish Government approved the National Transport Plan in June, 
confirming a 20% increase in investments to develop new railway 
infrastructure and a 47% growth in maintenance and renewal spending for the 
new planned period compared to the previous NTP. The 2019 Swedish budget 
proposal has not yet been made public following the general elections in 
September. Overall tendering activity in Sweden is high. 
 

B.5 Group/issuer's 
position within 
the Group 

The Company is a holding company and the parent company of the Group. 

B.6 Interests in the 
Company’s capital 
and/or voting 
rights 

As at 21 November 2018, the Company has a total of 2,260 registered 
shareholders in the VPS, of which the top 10 registered shareholders are listed 
below:  

# Shareholders 
Number 

of Shares % 

1 DATUM AS   5 100 000 11.58 
2 MIDDELBORG INVEST AS   4 401 454 10.00 
3 ARCTIC FUNDS PLC  BNY MELLON SA/NV 2 329 034 5.29 
4 Carnegie Investment   2 241 414 5.09 
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5 NORDEA NORDIC SMALL   1 929 117 4.38 
6 Nordnet Bank AB   1 329 905 3.02 
7 CHARLOTTE HOLDING AS   1 328 008 3.02 
8 VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALF  SEB Investor World G 1 322 156 3.00 
9 GUNNAR KNUTSEN HOLDI   1 252 677 2.85 
10 LGA HOLDING AS   1 168 102 2.65 

 

B.7 Selected historical 
key financial 
information  

The selected historical consolidated financial information set out below has 
been derived from the Group’s audited Financial Statements for the financial 
years 2015, 2016 and 2017, restated financial statements for 2015 as 
presented in the 2016 Financial Statements, as well as the unaudited Interim 
Financial Statements for the three and nine-month periods ended 30 
September 2017 and 2018.  
 
The selected historical consolidated financial information for the Group set out 
below should be read in conjunction with the Financial Information and the 
notes thereto, which is incorporated by reference in this Prospectus. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Income statement 
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Financial position 
 

 
 
 
 
Condensed cash flow statement 
 

 
 
 
 

2018 2017 2017 2016 2015 2015
Condensed Condensed Condensed Condensed Condensed Condensed
 (unaudited)  (unaudited)  (audited)  (audited)  (restated)  (audited)

Profit/loss before tax 54 98 144 89 9 7
Net cash flow from operating activities - continuing operations -44 -28 133 129 26 34

Net cash flow from operating activities - discontinued operations 0 0 0 18 8 0

Net cash flow from operating activities -44 -28 133 147 34 34

Net cash flow from investing activities - continuing operations -145 -218 -247 -89 -241 249

Net cash flow from investing activities - discontinued operations 5 4 4 21 -8 0

Net cash flow from investing activities -140 -214 -243 -68 -249 249

Net cash flow from financing activities - continuing operations -21 128 92 93 420 414

Net cash flow from financing activities - discontinued operations 0 0 0 0 -6 0

Net cash flow from financing activities -21 128 92 93 414 414

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -206 -114 -18 172 199 199
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 408 418 418 258 52 52
Currency translation differences -14 4 9 -12 7 7
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 189 308 409 418 258 258

In NOK millions

Nine months ended
30 September

Year ended
31 December
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Statement of changes in equity 
 
 

 
 
 

B.8 Selected key pro 
forma financial 
information 

On 11 October 2018, the Company entered into the Acquisition Agreement for 
the acquisition of VR Track, a Finnish company in the VR Group engaged in the 
business of railway construction, maintenance services and design with 
operations in Finland and Sweden. VR Track and its three subsidiaries together 
constitute VR Group’s business segment "VR Track Group". The Acquisition is 
expected to be completed in early January 2019, subject to the satisfaction of 
various closing conditions and will impact the financial statements of NRC 
Group from the date of completion of the Acquisition.  
 
The Acquisition resulted in a significant gross change to the NRC Group. 
Pursuant to Commission Regulation (EC) No. 809/2044 of 29 April 2004, the 
Company has included this unaudited pro forma financial information to 
describe how the Acquisition may have affected NRC Group's income statement 
had the Acquisition been completed on 1 January 2017 and how the Acquisition 
may have affected the Company's financial position had the Acquisition been 
completed on 31 December 2017.  
 
The unaudited pro forma financial information set out in this Prospectus has 
been prepared by the Company to show how the Acquisition might have 
affected the Group's income statement for the year ended 31 December 2017 
as if the Acquisition had occurred at 1 January 2017, and how the Acquisition 
might have affected the Group's statement of financial position as of 31 
December 2017 if the Acquisition had occurred at 31 December 2017. 
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B.9 Profit forecast or 
estimate 

Not applicable. The Prospectus does not contain any profit forecasts or 
estimates.  

B.10 Audit report 
qualifications 

Not applicable. The audit reports do not include any qualifications. 

B.11 Working capital  The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the working capital of the 
Company is sufficient for the Group’s present requirements in a twelve month 
perspective from the date of the Prospectus. 

 
Section C - Securities 

C.1 Type and class of 
securities  

New ordinary Shares of the Company with ISIN NO 0003679102. 

C.2 Currency of the 
securities issue 

Norwegian kroner (NOK). 

C.3 Number of shares 
in issue and 
nominal value 

The Company currently has 44,026,270 Shares outstanding, each with a 
nominal value of NOK 1.  

C.4 Rights attaching 
to the securities 

All Shares carry equal and full shareholder rights in all respects (including, but 
not limited to voting rights and dividend rights) and no Shares have different 
rights. Each Share gives one vote at the Company’s general meeting. 

C.5 Transferability The Shares of the Company are freely transferable subject to local regulatory 
transfer restrictions. 

C.6 Admission to 
trading 

The Shares of the Company are listed on Oslo Børs under the ticker "NRC".  

The listing on Oslo Børs of the Consideration Shares is subject to approval of 
the Prospectus by the Norwegian FSA under the rules of the Norwegian 
Securities Trading Act.  

The Company’s Shares are not listed on any other stock exchange or regulated 
market place and the Company does not intend to seek such listing. 

C.7 Dividend policy 
The Board of Directors has introduced a dividend policy whereby, subject to a 
satisfactory underlying financial performance, it is the Company's ambition 
over time to distribute as dividend a minimum of 30% of the profit for the 
year. The target level will be subject to adjustment depending on possible 
other uses of funds. 

 
Section D – Risks 

 

D.1 Key risks specific 
to the Company or 
its industry 

 The Company’s revenues are affected by the economic conditions in the 
countries in which it operates 

 The Company operates in market segments that are highly competitive 

 Governmental bodies and local municipalities represent the main customer 
group for the Group 

 The Group is subject to local laws and regulations in the countries in which 
it operates and requires regulatory approvals for conducting its operations 

 The Group may be subject to changes in taxation 

 The Group's success depends on key personnel and competency 

 The Group relies on its reputation and commercial integrity 

 The Group's results depend on utilisation of its resources 

 The Group will from time to time be involved in disputes and legal or 
regulatory proceedings 

 Risks related to funding and servicing of debt 

 The Group may not have adequate insurance 

D.3 Key risks specific  There may not be a liquid market for the Shares  
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to the securities  Volatility of the share price 

 Shareholders may be diluted if they are unable to participate in future 
offerings  

 Pre-emptive rights may not be available to U.S. holders and certain other 
foreign holders of the Shares 

 Holders of Shares that are registered in a nominee account may not be 
able to exercise voting rights as readily as shareholders whose Shares are 
registered in their own names with the Norwegian Central Securities 
Depository 

 The transfer of Shares is subject to restrictions under the securities laws 
of the United States and other jurisdictions 

 
Section E - Offer 

 

E.1 

Proceeds and 
expenses 

The Consideration Shares are to be issued as a part of the consideration for 
the Company's acquisition of VR Track and will therefore not give any cash 
proceeds to the Company.  

E.2a Reasons for the 
issuance of new 
shares and use of 
proceeds 

On 11 October 2018, the Company entered into a share sale and purchase 
agreement with VR-Group Ltd for the acquisition of 100% of the issued shares 
of VR Track Oy, a Finnish company in the VR Group Ltd engaged in the 
business of railway design, construction and maintenance services with 
operations in Finland and Sweden. VR Track Oy has three wholly-owned 
subsidiaries, VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro 
AB. 

VR Track is based on an Enterprise Value of EUR 225 million on a cash and 
debt free basis with normalised working capital. 65% of the purchase price is 
to be paid in cash and the remaining 35% of the purchase price is to be 
satisfied through the issue of the Consideration Shares to VR Group Ltd.  

The Consideration Shares are based on an agreed price per Consideration 
Share of NOK 75.31. The share price represents the volume weighted average 
price of each Group share on Oslo Børs during the period of thirty trading days 
prior to signing of the Acquisition Agreement. The cash portion of the purchase 
price will be fully financed by available cash and a new bank debt facility. 

E.3 Terms and 
conditions 

The Consideration Shares will be ordinary shares of the Company, issued in 
accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, will 
have a nominal value of NOK 1 each and will be issued electronically in 
registered form in accordance with the Public Limited Liability Companies Act. 
The Consideration Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with the existing 
Shares and carry full and equal shareholder rights in the Company from the 
time of registration of the share capital increase with the Norwegian Register 
of Business Enterprises. The Consideration Shares are eligible for dividends. All 
Shares, including the Consideration Shares, will have the voting rights and 
other standard rights and obligations pursuant to the Public Limited Liability 
Companies Act and are governed by Norwegian law. 

E.4 Interests material 
to the issue 

Not applicable. Other than the seller of VR Track receiving the Consideration 
Shares, there are no specific interests material to issuance of the 
Consideration Shares. 

E.5 Selling 
shareholders and 
lock-up 

Subject to any applicable securities laws, the Consideration Shares will be 
freely transferable. 

E.6 Dilution The immediate dilution of ownership for shareholders who do not receive 
Consideration Shares is approximately up to 18%.  

E.7 Estimated 
expenses charged 
to investor 

There are no expenses charged to investors in connection with the 
Consideration Shares.  
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2. RISK FACTORS  

Investing in the Company involves inherent risks. Prospective investors should carefully consider all of the 
information set forth in this Prospectus, and in particular, the specific risk factors set out below. An investment 
in the Shares is suitable only for investors who understand the risk factors associated with this type of 
investment and who can afford a loss of all or part of their investment. 
 
If any of the risks described below materialise, individually or together with other circumstances, they may 
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition, which may 
cause a decline in the value and trading price of the Shares and result in a loss of all or part of any investment 
in the Shares. 
  
The order in which the risks are presented below is not intended to provide an indication of the likelihood of 
their occurrence nor of their severity or significance.  

2.1 Market risk  

 The Group’s revenues are affected by the economic conditions in the countries in which it operates 
The Group's business, operating results and financial condition depend on the demand for its key products and 
services. General economic conditions in the countries in which the Group sells its products and services 
influence the demand for the Group’s products and services. If the economic conditions in the countries in 
which the Group operates experience economic downturns and demand for the Group’s products and services 
decreases, its business, operating results and financial condition are likely to be negatively affected. 

 The Group operates in market segments that are highly competitive 
The market segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive. The competitive position may be 
harmed by increased competition from national and international infrastructure companies or other companies, 
new or current participants, offering, better technology and product offering, price reductions and/or increased 
capacity for other parts of the Group’s business. The failure of the Group to maintain its competitiveness could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results and financial condition. 

 Governmental bodies and local municipalities represent the main customer group for the Group  
Governmental bodies and local municipalities, in particular the state owned Bane NOR in Norway and state 
owned Trafikverket in Sweden, represent the Group's main customers and following completion of the 
Acquisition, the Finnish Transport Agency (Finland) will be one of the Group's main customers. Even though the 
approved National Transport Plan (NTP) in Norway and the approved NTP for Sweden confirm the commitment 
to increase railway spending, public spending may be subject to significant fluctuations from year to year and 
from country to country. Even if there currently seems to be a broad political consensus on the need for railway 
investments, there can be no guarantee that a change in government may not affect the level of spending upon 
revision of the current transportation plans. Further, changes in the general economic situation could also affect 
governmental spending, inter alia, as a consequence of the need to reduce governmental spending in order to 
avoid an overheating of the economy or in order to reduce governmental deficit. This may affect railroad 
infrastructure. Further, failure of the Group to successfully be admitted to participate in public tenders could 
have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results and financial condition. 

2.2 Operational risk  

 The Group is subject to local laws and regulations in the countries in which it operates and requires 
regulatory approvals for conducting its operations 

Part of the Group's operations in Norway, Sweden, and following the Acquisition also Finland, depend on its 
personnel being qualified and having all necessary local approvals. If the Group fails to comply with any laws 
and regulations or fails to obtain necessary regulatory approval, then the Group may be refused to participate 
in public tenders, and may be subject to, among other things, civil and criminal liability. Changes in the local 
laws and regulations or in regulatory approvals that are required in the Group’s operations, or the loss of such 
approvals or permits, could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results and 
financial condition. 
 
For example, the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) entered into force on 25 May 2018 and the 
Group is therefore affected by new and more onerous laws relating to the handling of customer data and/or the 
location of data storage centres. This may result in the Group incurring additional compliance costs and face a 
risk of high penalties in the event of non-compliance. 

 The Group may be subject to changes in taxation 
The Group is subject to taxes in the countries in which it operates. There can be no assurance that the Group’s 
operations will not become subject to increased taxation by national, local or foreign authorities or to new or 
modified taxation regulations and requirements, including requirements relating to the timing of any tax 
payments. From time to time the Group's tax payments may be subject to review or investigation by tax 
authorities of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates. The consequences of such tax reviews or 
investigations could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results and financial 
condition. 
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 The Group's success depends on key personnel and competency 
The Group’s success depends upon, to a significant extent, competent personnel, and the continued service of 
these resources who have substantial experience in the industry and in the local jurisdiction in which the Group 
operates. Human capital is an important part of the Group’s assets and access to and ability to attract 
competent personnel and contractors may in the short and/or long term influence the Group’s operational and 
financial results. 
 
The Group’s ability to continue to identify and develop opportunities depends on its personnel’s knowledge of, 
and expertise in, the industry and such local jurisdictions and on their external business relationships. There 
can be no assurance that any key personnel will remain with the Group or that the Group will be able to attract 
equally experienced and/or competent replacements. Any loss of the services of such key personnel could have 
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results and financial condition. 

 The Group relies on its reputation and commercial integrity 
The Group’s success depends on its ability to maintain and enhance its reputation and trustworthiness. An 
event or series of events that materially damages the Group’s reputation, such as allegations of price 
collaboration or any unethical behaviour, such as fraud or bribery, could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s business, operating results and financial condition. 

 The Group's results depend on utilization of its resources 
The Group must to a certain extent keep resources available in order to respond in due time to project 
requests. The Group evaluates its needs for resources continuously. However, the resources involving staffing 
may lead to a substantial fixed cost base and risk of overcapacity in relation to the scope of projects in 
progress. Overcapacity of resources could have a negative effect on the Group’s business, operating results and 
financial condition. 

 The Group will from time to time be involved in disputes and legal or regulatory proceedings  
The Group is, and will from time to time be, involved in disputes and legal or regulatory proceedings. Such 
disputes and legal or regulatory proceedings may be expensive and time-consuming and could divert 
management’s attention from the Group’s business. Furthermore, legal proceedings could be ruled against the 
Group and the Group could be required to, inter alia, pay damages or fines, halt its operations, stop its 
projects, stop the sale of its products, etc., which can consequently have a material adverse effect on the 
Group’s business, prospects, financial results or results of operations.  

 Risks related to funding and servicing of debt 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Group has interest bearing debt. The Group’s ability to meet its payment 
obligations related to its debt and running operations is dependent on its future performance and may be 
affected by events beyond its control. If the financing available to the Group is insufficient to meet its financing 
needs or if the Group is unable to service its debt, it may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, sell 
assets or businesses at unanticipated times and/or for unfavourable prices or other terms, seek additional 
equity capital or restructure or refinance its debt. There can be no assurance that such measures would be 
successful or adequate to meet the Group’s financing needs. 

 The Group may not have adequate insurance  
The Group has insurance for certain liabilities and losses. If the Group incurs significant liabilities or losses for 
which it is not adequately insured, or not insured at all, or if the Group’s insurance policies are terminated for 
any reason and the Group is not able to obtain replacement insurance policies at favourable rates, or at all, the 
Group’s business, operating results and financial condition may be materially adversely affected.  

 Entrance into Finnish market 

Following completion of the Acquisition, the NRC Group will have operations in Finland and expand its 
operations in Sweden. Although VR Track has a long operating track-record in Finland, the country is a new 
jurisdiction for the NRC Group. The NRC Group will therefore be exposed to risks associated with entering and 
operating in a new market, including that the NRC Group may not be familiar with the economic, legal and 
regulatory environment of Finland and therefore may not succeed in effectively integrating the expanded 
operations or, the expanded operations may not generate adequate returns on NRC Group's investments or 
positive operating cash flows. Furthermore, although it is intended that VR Track will continue operating as it 
does today, the business expansion may place a substantial strain on NRC Group's managerial and financial 
resources. Any failure in effectively managing the expanded operations may materially and adversely affect 
NRC Group's business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.   

2.3 Financial risk  

 Foreign currency risk 
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, mainly SEK. As at the date of this Prospectus, 
the Group only has operations in Sweden outside of Norway, and will following completion of the Acquisition, 
also have operations in Finland. The Group is therefore exposed to fluctuations in the SEK and will be exposed 
to fluctuations in the EUR when it comes to revenues and mainly with regard to the net investments in foreign 
subsidiaries. To a limited extent, the Group has purchase and sub-contractor agreements in other currencies, 
mainly EUR. Hedging instruments have been used to a limited extent. Investments in Sweden are financed with 
SEK loans, limiting the net investment exposure. A significant part of the Group's cash investment in Finland 
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will be financed with loans in the EUR. The cash consideration in the Acquisition will be paid in EUR. Due to this, 
a forward contract of EUR 57 million at a fixed rate of 9.5535 and a loan agreement of EUR 189 million at a 
fixed rate of 9.5535 have been entered into to hedge the cash element of the purchase price. 

 Interest rate risk 
The Group's interest rate risk is associated with interest bearing assets, interest bearing loans, financial leasing 
and overdraft facilities. 
 
The Group's interest-bearing assets are cash and cash equivalents and the Group's profit and cash flow from 
operations are in general independent of changes in market interest rates.  
 
The interest-bearing loans are based on 3 months NIBOR or STIBOR with a fixed margin and will change with 
the market. Since the debt can be repaid at the points in time when the interest rate is adjusted, the difference 
between the fair value and book value will be small and insignificant. The interest in financial lease agreements 
are based on 3 months NIBOR or STIBOR with a fixed margin and will therefore change in accordance with the 
market. The value of the leased assets is set at inception and will be independent of any changes to the market 
interest rates. The Group has not made use of interest rate swaps or other financial instruments, hedging 
interest risk.  

 Credit risk 
Credit risk in connection with sales to customers is managed in the local subsidiaries and at the group level for 
large projects. Credit risk is monitored locally with central monitoring of the local subsidiary. The Group has 
guidelines for new contracts that focus on various elements, all of which shall contribute to the customer paying 
the company as quickly as possible. The Group's customers are to a large degree municipalities, government 
agencies, or companies or institutions where municipalities or government agencies have a dominant influence. 
Risk of potential future losses from these customers is low. The Group has earmarked provisions for potential 
losses on specific customers and evaluated the size of the potential loss. The provisions for potential losses on 
receivables are based on management’s discretionary assessment of potential future losses on receivables from 
customers. The Group has not entered into any transactions that involve financial derivatives or other financial 
instruments to mitigate credit risks.  

 Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its financial obligations when they are due and 
that financing will not be available at a reasonable price. The Group's business requires liquidity. There is no 
assurance that such funding will be available throughout the year and thus this may entail a liquidity risk. The 
Group's management of liquidity risk entails maintenance of adequate liquid reserves and credit facilities. The 
central management team monitors the Group’s liquid resources and credit facilities. The Group’s operations 
are discernible by seasonal fluctuations. This denotes that the Group normally ties up working capital in the first 
half of the year.  

The Group has not entered into any financial instruments and consequently does not have any liquidity risk 
originating from financial instruments. 

 Need for additional funding 
The Group’s future capital requirements and level of expenses depend on several factors, including, among 
other things, its growth strategy, investment requirements, timing and terms on which contracts can be 
negotiated, the amount of cash generated from operations, the level of demand for the Group’s services and 
general industry conditions. There can be no assurance that the Group’s business will generate sufficient cash 
flow from operations to service its debt and fund future capital requirements and expenses. In the event that 
the Group’s existing resources are insufficient to fund the Group’s business activities, the Group may need to 
raise additional funds through public offerings or private placements of debt or equity securities. The Group 
cannot guarantee that it will be able to obtain additional funding at all or on terms acceptable to the Group. 
Failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operations and financial 
conditions. 

2.4 Risks related to the Shares  

 There may not be a liquid market for the Shares  
Active, liquid trading markets generally result in lower price volatility and more efficient execution of buy and 
sell orders for investors. If there are is no active trading market for the Shares, the price of the Shares may be 
more volatile and it may be more difficult to complete a buy or sell order for Shares. Even if there is an active 
public trading market, there may be little or no market demand for the Shares, making it difficult or impossible 
to resell the shares which would have an adverse effect on the resale price, if any, of the Shares. Furthermore, 
there can be no assurance that the Company will maintain its listing Oslo Børs. A delisting from Oslo Børs would 
make it more difficult for shareholders to sell their Shares and could have a negative impact on the market 
value of the Shares.  

 Volatility of the share price 
The trading price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly, inter alia, in response to quarterly variations in 
operating results, general economic outlook, adverse business developments, interest rate changes, changes in 
financial estimates by securities analysts, matters announced in respect of competitors or changes to the 
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regulatory environment in which the Group operates. Market conditions may affect the Shares regardless of the 
Group’s operating performance or the overall performance in the industry. Accordingly, the market price of the 
Shares may not reflect the underlying value of the Group’s net assets and the price at which investors may 
dispose of their Shares at any point in time may be influenced by a number of factors, only some of which may 
pertain to the Group, while others of which may be outside the Group’s control. The market price of the Shares 
could decline due to sales of a large number of Shares in the Company in the market or the perception that 
such sales could occur. Such sales could also make it more difficult for the Company to offer equity securities in 
the future at a time and at a price that are deemed appropriate. 

 Shareholders may be diluted if they are unable to participate in future offerings 
The development of the Group's business may depend upon, inter alia, the Company's ability to obtain equity 
financing. Unless otherwise resolved by the general meeting or the Board of Directors by proxy, shareholders in 
Norwegian public companies such as the Company have pre-emptive rights proportionate to the aggregate 
amount of the shares they hold with respect to new shares issued by the Company. Shareholders that do not 
exercise granted pre-emptive rights may be diluted. Furthermore, shareholders may be unable to participate in 
future offerings due to deviation from the shareholders' pre-emptive rights in order to raise equity on short 
notice in the investor market or for reasons relating to foreign securities laws or other factors and as such have 
their shareholdings diluted.  

 Pre-emptive rights may not be available to U.S. holders and certain other foreign holders of the Shares 
Prior to the Company issuing any new Shares for consideration in cash, Norwegian law prescribes that the 
Company must offer holders of the Company’s then-outstanding Shares pre-emptive rights to subscribe and 
pay for a sufficient number of Shares to maintain their existing ownership percentages, unless these rights are 
waived at a general meeting of the Company’s shareholders. These pre-emptive rights are generally 
transferable during the subscription period for the related offering and may be listed on Oslo Børs. U.S. holders 
of the Shares may not be able to receive trade or exercise pre-emptive rights for new Shares unless a 
registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act is effective with respect to such rights or an exemption 
from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act is available. The Company is not a registrant under 
the U.S. securities laws. If U.S. holders of the Shares are not able to receive trade or exercise pre-emptive 
rights granted in respect of their Shares in any rights offering by the Company, they may not receive the 
economic benefit of such rights. In addition, their proportional ownership interests in the Company will be 
diluted. Similar restrictions may apply to other foreign holders of Shares, including, but not limited to, 
shareholders in Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, Japan and Switzerland. 

 Holders of Shares that are registered in a nominee account may not be able to exercise voting rights 
as readily as shareholders whose Shares are registered in their own names with the Norwegian Central 
Securities Depository 

Beneficial owners of the Company’s Shares that are registered in a nominee account (e.g., through brokers, 
dealers or other third parties) may not be able to vote for such Shares unless their ownership is re-registered in 
their names with the VPS prior to the Company’s general meetings. The Company cannot guarantee that 
beneficial owners of the Company’s Shares will receive the notice for a general meeting in time to instruct their 
nominees to either effect a re-registration of their Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares in the manner 
desired by such beneficial owners. 

 The transfer of Shares is subject to restrictions under the securities laws of the United States and 
other jurisdictions 

The Company has not registered the Shares under the U.S. Securities Act or the securities laws of other 
jurisdictions than Norway and the Company does not expect to do so in the future. The Shares may not be 
offered or sold in the United States, nor may they be offered or sold in any other jurisdiction in which the 
registration of the Shares is required but has not taken place, unless an exemption from the applicable 
registration requirement is available, or the offer or sale of the Shares occurs in connection with a transaction 
that is not subject to these provisions. In addition, there can be no assurances that shareholders residing or 
domiciled in the United States will be able to participate in future capital increases or exercise subscription 
rights. 
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3. RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PROSPECTUS  

 
We, the board of directors of NRC Group ASA, hereby declare that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure 
that such is the case, the information contained in this Prospectus is, to the best of our knowledge, in 
accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import. 
 

 

22 November 2018 

The board of directors of NRC Group ASA 

 

 

 

Helge Midttun 
Chair 

Brita Eilertsen 
Board member 

 
 

Harald Arnet 
Board member 

 

 
 

Kjersti Kanne 
Board member 

 
 

Mats Williamson 
Board member 
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4. GENERAL INFORMATION  

4.1 Presentation of financial information and other information  

 Financial information  
The Group’s audited financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 2017, 2016 and 2015 
(together the "Financial Statements") have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the EU. The IFRS principles have been applied consistently for 
2017, 2016 and 2015. The unaudited financial statements for the three and nine-month periods ended 30 
September 2018 and 2017 (together the "Interim Financial Statements") have been prepared in accordance 
with International Accounting Standards ("IAS") 34 "Interim Financial Reporting".  
 
The Group’s accounting principles are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus, see Section 16.3 
"Incorporation by reference".  

 Alternative Performance Measures  

In this Prospectus, the Company presents certain alternative performance measures ("APMs"), including 
EBITDA and EBITDA margin. The APMs presented herein are not measurements of performance under IFRS or 
other generally accepted accounting principles and investors should not consider any such measures to be an 
alternative to profit and loss for the period, operating profit for the period or any other measures of 
performance under generally accepted accounting principles.  

The Company believes that APMs such as EBITDA is commonly reported by companies in the markets in which 
it competes and are widely used by investors in comparing performance on a consistent basis without regard to 
factors such as depreciation and amortisation, which can vary significantly, depending upon accounting 
methods (in particular when acquisitions have occurred) or based on non-operating factors. Accordingly, the 
Group discloses EBITDA and EBITDA margin herein to permit a more complete and comprehensive analysis of 
its underlying operating performance relative to other companies and across periods, and of the Group’s ability 
to service its debt. Because companies may calculate EBITDA and EBITDA margin differently, the Company’s 
presentation of these APMs may not be comparable to similar titled measures used by other companies.  

For the purpose of this Prospectus:  

(i) EBIT is defined as earnings before interests and tax;  

(ii) EBITDA is defined as operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment; and  

(iii) EBITDA margin is defined as EBITDA divided on operating revenues.  

(iv) Enterprise Value is the value of the shares of the target on a cash and debt free basis and considering a 
normalized net working capital. 

(v) M&A expenses are the direct and external expenses related to mergers and acquisitions. 

 Rounding  

Certain figures included in this Prospectus have been subject to rounding adjustments (by rounding to the 
nearest whole decimal or fraction, as the case may be). Accordingly, figures shown for the same category 
presented in different tables may vary slightly. As a result of rounding adjustments, the figures presented may 
not add up to the total amount presented.  

 Industry and market data  

This Prospectus contains statistics, data, statements and other information relating to markets, market sizes, 
market shares, market positions and other industry data pertaining to the Group’s business and the industries 
and markets in which it operates. Unless otherwise indicated, such information reflects the Group’s estimates 
based on analysis of multiple sources, including data compiled by professional organisations, consultants and 
analysts and information otherwise obtained from other third party sources, as well as the Group’s internal data 
and its own market experience, or on a combination of the foregoing. Unless otherwise indicated in this 
Prospectus, the basis for any statements regarding the Group’s competitive position is based on the Company’s 
own assessment and knowledge of the market in which it operates.  

Industry publications or reports generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from 
sources believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. The 
Company has not independently verified, and cannot give any assurances, as to the accuracy of market data 
contained in this Prospectus that was extracted from these industry publications or reports and reproduced 
herein. Market data and statistics are inherently predictive and subject to uncertainty and not necessarily 
reflective of actual market conditions. Such statistics are based on market research, which is based on sampling 
and subjective judgements by both the researchers and the respondents, including judgements about what 
types of products and transactions should be included in the relevant market.  

As a result, prospective investors should be aware that statistics, data, statements and other information 
relating to markets, market sizes, market shares, market positions and other industry data in this Prospectus 
and projections, assumptions and estimates based on such information may not be reliable indicators of the 
Group’s future performance and the future performance of the industry in which operates. Such indicators are 
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necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to limitations described above and to a variety 
of other factors, including those described in Section 2 "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Prospectus. 

 Information sourced from third parties 

In certain sections of this Prospectus, information sourced from third parties has been reproduced. In such 
cases, the source of the information is always identified. Such third party information has been accurately 
reproduced. As far as the Company is aware, and is able to ascertain from information published by the 
relevant third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or 
misleading. 

 Other information  

In this Prospectus, all references to "NOK" are to the lawful currency of Norway, all references to "SEK" are to 
the lawful currency of Sweden and all references to "EUR" are to the currency of the European Union. No 
representation is made that the NOK or SEK amounts to referred to herein could have been or could be 
converted into NOK or SEK, as the case may be, at any particular rate, or at all. The financial information in this 
Prospectus is NOK, unless otherwise indicated.  

4.2 Notice regarding forward-looking statements  

Section 2.1.3, Section 2.2.9, Section 6 "Presentation of the Company and its Business", Section 8 "Market 
Analysis" and Section 10 "Financial Information", including, without limitation, projections and expectations 
regarding the Company's future financial position, business strategy, plans and objectives. All forward-looking 
statements included in this document are based on information available to the Company, and views and 
assessment of the Company, as at the date of this Prospectus. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation 
or undertaking to release any updates or revisions of the forward-looking statements contained in the 
Prospectus to reflect any change in the Company's expectations with regard to these or any change in events, 
conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based, unless such update or revision is prescribed 
by law. 

When used in this document, the words "anticipate", "believe", "estimate", "expect", "seek to", "may", "plan" 
and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company, its subsidiaries or its management, are intended to 
identify forward-looking statements. The Company gives no assurance as to the correctness of such forward-
looking statements and investors are cautioned that any forward-looking statements are not guarantees of 
future performance. Forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors, which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries, or, as the case may be, the industry, to materially differ from any future results, performance or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements are 
based on numerous assumptions regarding the Company’s present and future business strategies and the 
environment in which the Company and its subsidiaries are operating or will operate. Factors that could cause 
the Company’s actual results, performance or achievements to materially differ from those in the forward-
looking statements include, but are not limited to, those described in Section 2 "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in 
this Prospectus. 

Given the aforementioned uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any of these 
forward-looking statements. 
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5. THE CONSIDERATION SHARES 

5.1 The acquisition of the VR track business segment  

On 11 October 2018, the Company entered into a share sale and purchase agreement with VR-Group Ltd ("VR 
Group") for the acquisition of 100% of the issued shares of VR Track Oy ("VR Track"), a Finnish company in 
the VR Group engaged in the business of railway design, construction and maintenance services with operations 
in Finland and Sweden (the "Acquisition" and the agreement governing the Acquisition being the "Acquisition 
Agreement"). VR Track has three wholly-owned subsidiaries, VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy 
and VR Infrapro AB (together with VR Track, the "VR Track Entities").   

5.1.1 Key terms of the Acquisition  

Pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, a newly established and wholly owned Finnish subsidiary of the Group, 
Parallel Bidco Oy (name to change following the Acquisition) (the "Purchaser") is to acquire VR Track from VR 
Group.  

The purchase price for VR Track is based on an Enterprise Value of VR Track of EUR 225 million on a cash and 
debt free basis with normalised working capital. This amount is to be adjusted for agreed warranty and 
indemnity insurance costs and normalised working capital adjustments. 65% of the purchase price is to be paid 
in cash by the Purchaser and the remaining 35% of the purchase price is to be satisfied through the issue of the 
Consideration Shares to VR Group.  

The Consideration Shares are based on an agreed price per Consideration Share of NOK 75.31. The share price 
represents the volume weighted average price of each Group share on Oslo Børs during the period of thirty 
trading days prior to signing of the Acquisition Agreement. The cash portion of the purchase price will be fully 
financed by available cash and a new bank debt facility. Completion of the Acquisition is conditional upon 
certain regulatory approvals in Finland and several other customary closing conditions. Completion of the 
Acquisition is expected to take place in early January 2019, subject to satisfaction of the closing conditions. 

The Company is a party to the Acquisition Agreement and undertakes, pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement, 
to issue the Consideration Shares.  

5.1.2 Strategic rationale for the Acquisition 

The combination of the Group and VR Track will create the largest specialised rail infrastructure company in the 
Nordics, with strong capabilities across the entire railway value chain and leading positions in the attractive 
Norwegian, Swedish and Finnish markets1. The Group and VR Track are two complementary businesses and 
their combined operations will be stronger and more competitive than each company stand-alone. The 
combined NRC Group will be able to leverage its unique capabilities across borders to create new project 
opportunities and offer larger turnkey projects to a wider customer group. 

There are significant long-term growth opportunities across all three key markets on the back of political 
willingness to upgrade existing infrastructure and invest in new railways. With a broader operational scope and 
synergies, the combined company will be in a favourable position to capitalize on these positive market trends 
and further grow the already strong cash flow of both the Group and VR Track's existing operations. 

5.1.3 Synergies 

The Acquisition is expected to create several opportunities for the combined NRC Group, including: 

 stronger ability to capitalise on the trend towards maintenance projects in both Norway and Sweden 
on the back of VR Track's extensive experience from such contracts in Finland and Sweden; 

 greater capacity and sufficient machinery to take on more projects;  

 increased utilisation of VR Track's machine pool; 

 stronger platform for growth and better utilisation of resources in Sweden; and 

 leveraging of unique capabilities across borders, such as city infrastructure construction in Finland, 
design projects in Norway and environmental services in Sweden and Finland. 

5.2 Authorisation to issue the Consideration Shares  

On 5 November 2018, the Company's extraordinary general meeting resolved to issue an authority to the Board 
of Directors to increase the share capital of the Company in order to issue the Consideration Shares to VR 
Group, the seller of VR Track.  

The resolutions of the extraordinary general meeting of the Company are as follows: 

"1. The Board of Directors is authorised to increase the share capital by up to NOK 9,877,953.00, through 
issuance of up to 9,877,953 new shares, each with a par value of NOK 1.00. 

                                                            
 
 
1 
NRC Group ASA 
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2. The authorisation may only be used for issuance of shares to VR-Group Ltd. in connection with fulfilment of 
the Company's obligations in accordance with the share purchase agreement regarding purchase of all shares in 
VR Track Oy. 

3. The subscription price and other subscription terms are determined by the Board of Directors in accordance 
with the terms of the share purchase agreement entered into with VR-Group Ltd.  

4. The authorization covers share capital increases against contribution in other assets than cash, cf. Section 
10-2 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act. 

5. The Board of Directors may waive the existing shareholders' preferential rights pursuant to Section 10-4 of 
the Norwegian Public Limited Liability Companies Act, cf. Section 10-5 of the Norwegian Public Limited Liability 
Companies Act. 

6. The authorization is valid until 30 June 2019." 

As the purpose of the authorisation is to issue shares to the seller of VR Track, it is necessary to give the Board 
of Directors the authority to waive the existing shareholders' preferential rights to subscribe for new shares. 
Reference is made to the Company's continuous reporting through the Oslo Stock Exchange with respect to 
events after the last balance sheet date and circumstances which must be considered as part of a decision to 
subscribe for shares in the Company. 

5.3 Settlement, VPS registration and listing  

The Consideration Shares will be delivered to the subscribers as soon as possible after they have been issued 
and will be registered electronically in book entry form in the VPS with ISIN NO 0003679102. The Consideration 
Shares will be listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange under the ticker code "NRC" following the registration of the 
share capital increase with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. 

The Consideration Shares will be issued on or around the date of completion of the Acquisition which is 
expected to occur in early January 2019.  

5.4 The rights attached to the Consideration Shares  

The Consideration Shares will be ordinary shares of the Company, issued in accordance with the Norwegian 
Public Limited Liability Companies Act, will have a nominal value of NOK 1.00 each and will be issued 
electronically in registered form in accordance with the Public Limited Liability Companies Act. The 
Consideration Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with the existing Shares and carry full and equal 
shareholder rights in the Company from the time of registration of the share capital increase with the 
Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises, including rights to dividends. The Consideration Shares are eligible 
for dividends. All Shares, including the Consideration Shares, will have the voting rights and other standard 
rights and obligations pursuant to the Public Limited Liability Companies Act and are governed by Norwegian 
law. Refer to Section 12 "Shares and Share Capital" for a detailed description of the Shares. 

5.5 Transferability of the Consideration Shares  

Subject to any applicable securities laws, the Consideration Shares will be freely transferable. 

5.6 Dilution 

The immediate dilution of ownership for shareholders who do not receive Consideration Shares is approximately 
up to 18%.  

5.7 Advisors  

Law firm Schjødt AS acted as the legal advisor to the Company in connection with the Acquisition and Arctic 
Securities AS acted as the financial advisor to the Company in connection with the Acquisition.   
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6. PRESENTATION OF THE COMPANY AND ITS BUSINESS  

6.1 Overview 
The Group is a major contractor within infrastructure related to public transportation in Norway and Sweden. 
The Group is a supplier of all rail, harbour and road related infrastructure services, including groundwork, 
specialised track work, safety, electro, telecom, signalling systems and environmental services. Since its 
inception in 2011, the Group has experienced significant growth and is now one of the leading Nordic 
entrepreneurs within railway infrastructure2.  

6.2 Corporate information 

NRC Group ASA is a public limited liability company, organised and existing under the laws of Norway pursuant 
to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Company’s registered office is in the municipality of 
Bærum, Norway and its organisation number in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises is 910 686 909.  
 
The Company was incorporated on 12 September 1966. The Company’s Shares are listed on Oslo Børs (ticker: 
NRC) and are registered in VPS under ISIN NO 0003679102. The Company’s register of shareholders in VPS is 
administrated by DNB Bank ASA, Registrars Department. The Company has approximately 874 employees as at 
the date of this Prospectus.  
 
Registered office: Lysaker Torg 25, NO-1366 Lysaker, Norway 
Telephone:  + 47 90 40 70 97 
Website:  www.nrcgroup.com 

6.3 Legal structure  
The Company is a holding company and the Group’s operative business is carried out through its subsidiaries. 
The subsidiaries and affiliates owned 100% by the Company, either directly or indirectly, are listed below.  
 

Name of subsidiary 
Organisation  
reg. number Company address 

NRC Group ASA  (Nw.) 910 686 909 Lysaker torg 25, NO-1366 Lysaker, Norway 

NRC Group Holding AS  (Nw.) 915 244 963 Lysaker torg 25, NO-1366 Lysaker, Norway 

NRC Norge AS  (Nw.) 997 342 259 Rolf Olsens vei 28, 2007 Kjeller, Norway  

NRC Rail AS ("NRC Rail") (Nw.) 997 371 569 Rolf Olsens vei 28, 2007 Kjeller, Norway 

NRC Maskin AS (Nw.) 918 660 836 Rolf Olsens vei 28, 2007 Kjeller, Norway 

NRC Civil AS (Nw.) 817 465 412 Lysaker torg 25, NO-1366 Lysaker, Norway 

NRC Railcap AS (Nw.) 913 393 023 Storgata 112, 3921 Porsgrunn, Norway 
ALTi Bygg og Anlegg AS ("ALTi") (Nw.) 996 878 031 Veverigata 21, 4514 Mandal, Norway  
Gravco AS  (Nw.) 921 665 938 Alfasetveien 2, 0668 Oslo, Norway 
Septik Tank Co AS  (Nw.) 998 586 259 Alfasetveien 2, 0668 Oslo, Norway 
HAG Anlegg AS  (Nw.) 914 601 290 Asdal 1, 4824 Bjorbekk, Norway 
Fibertech AS (Nw.) 998 817 730 Ulvenveien 90, 0581 Oslo, Norway  
NSS Holding AS (Nw.) 919 061 278 Østensjøveien 15D, 0661 Oslo 
Norsk Saneringsservice AS (Nw.) 997 710 371 Østensjøveien 15 D, 0661 Oslo 
Gunnar Knutsen AS (NW.) 815 229 762 Strandpromenaden 18, 1516 Moss 
Blom Sweden AB (Swe.) 556258-8854 Hamngatan 13, 111 47 Stockholm, Sweden 
Nordic Railway Construction Sverige 
AB ("NRC Sverige AB") 

(Swe.) 556580-8846 Hamngatan 13, 111 47 Stockholm, Sweden 

Nordic Railway Construction AB (“NRC 
AB”) 

(Swe.) 556953-1956 Hamngatan 13, 111 47 Stockholm, Sweden 

Signal och Banbyggarna i Dalarna AB 
("SBB AB") (Swe.) 556580-8846 Hamngatan 13, 111 47 Stockholm, Sweden 

 
 
The Group structure is illustrated as follows3:   
 

                                                            
 
 
2 NRC Group ASA's opinion 

3 Structure of the Group on the assumption the Acquisition is completed 
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6.4 Historical background and company development  
The Company was incorporated in 1966 with the name, Blom ASA. Initially the Company provided services 
within acquisition, processing and modelling of geographic information and high-quality map data. In 2015, 
Blom ASA acquired the railway construction company, NRC Rail AS, based in Lillestrøm, Norway. Following this 
acquisition, the Company had two different business divisions: the Geo division and the Rail division. During 
2016 and the first half of 2017, most of the companies in the former Geo business were divested, and, as at 31 
December 2016, the Company classified the remaining Geo business as discontinued operations. From January 
2017, the Company classified Norway and Sweden as its two reporting segments. 
 
The Company's services within ground construction and infrastructure have been strengthened through the 
acquisitions completed by the Company in 2016, 2017 and 2018.  
 
Significant milestones in the development of the Group’s current business, as operated by NRC Rail in Norway 
since 2011 are summarised below: 
 
Year Event 

2011 ...............  • NRC Rail is established under the name "Team Bane" 
2015 ...............  • NRC Rail combines its business with the Company and the Company changes its 

name from Blom ASA to NRC Group ASA 
• The Company expands its rail business by acquiring Svensk Järnvägsteknik, Litz, 

Elektrobyggnad and Segermo  
• The Company raises a total of approximately NOK 280 million in equity offerings 

2016 ...............  • On 20 May 2016, the Company acquires Railcap AS, a rail signaling specialist 
contractor in Norway carrying out railway installations, test and commissioning, 
construction and design 

• In November 2017, the Company completes a private placement with gross proceeds 
of NOK 210 million  

• On 1 December 2016, the Group completes the acquisition of Gravco AS and Septik 
Tank Co AS, a water and wastewater entrepreneur, which, in the opinion of the 
Company, better positioned the Group for projects related to the tram and metro 
systems in Oslo 

2017 ...............  
 

• On 7 April, the Company acquires HAG Anlegg AS, a company carrying out project- 
and site management within transport and infrastructure, specializing in surface work 
and concrete constructions 

• On 6 July, the Company acquires ALTi, a company carrying out ground and 
construction work, as well as project- and site management, within both the private 
and public sector  

• On 10 July, the Company acquires Swedish company SBB, a company carrying out 
construction work and project- and site management within railway infrastructure 
and signalling, as well as groundwork 

• On 24 October, the Company completes the acquisition of Fibertech, a company 
carrying out cable installation, hauling and floating work  

2018 ...............  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• On 14 August, the Group acquires NSS Holding AS, a decommissioning and 
reclamation specialist with core competencies within environmental analysis, 
planning and project management 

• On 30 August, the Group acquires Gunnar Knutsen AS, a leading company within 
transportation of loose materials for the building and construction industry in Norway 

• On 11 October, the Company entered into an agreement with VR Group for the 
acquisition of VR Track, a Finnish company engaged in the business of railway 
construction, maintenance services and design with operations in Finland and 
Sweden. Completion of the Acquisition is expected to occur in January 2019 subject 
to the satisfaction of several conditions precedent 
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6.5 Business strategy  
The Company’s strategy for the Group’s business is to capitalize on strong market growth within the 
infrastructure industry in Norway, Sweden and Finland. Increasing budget allocations to infrastructure 
investments in all countries have resulted in a long-term positive outlook for the industry. The Company 
believes that the Group is uniquely positioned to take on complex rail, road and harbour infrastructure projects 
due to its capabilities covering the entire value chain. 
 
The Company has an ambition for the Group’s business to grow, both organically and by consolidating a 
fragmented Nordic market for infrastructure services. Sound business conduct and a clearly defined 
environmental profile coupled with knowledge, skills and experience are amongst the Group’s most important 
competitive advantages.  
 
The Group has a vision of becoming the leading Nordic entrepreneur within railway infrastructure. Acquisition of 
VR Track is an important step in realising the Group’s vision. The Group’s strategy will not change as a result of 
the Acquisition but, the Group will have an increased focus on leveraging unique capabilities and assets across 
the Norwegian, Swedish and Finnish markets. 

6.6 The business of the Group 

 Overview of services 
The Group is a fully integrated infrastructure contractor covering the Norwegian and Swedish markets with in-
house capabilities to deliver complex infrastructure projects. The Company is a full-range supplier for the 
construction and maintenance of transport related infrastructure. Its main markets are related to transport 
infrastructure with specialist expertise within railroads; including train, metro and tram, roads and harbours. 
Additional markets include fibre, water and wastewater. 
 
The Company has all the necessary approvals to work within the train, tram and subway segments, including 
installation approval of electrical installations.  
 
The Group has specialist capabilities across the entire spectre of rail services. This includes (in addition to 
railroads) terminals and stations and related infrastructure such as tunnels, bridges and crossings. The 
Company has strengthened its offering within maintenance and renewal through its recent acquisitions in 2016 
and 2017. Ability to offer the full scope and execution capacity are important factors in a tender process. 
 
The main service offerings of the Company include: 

 Project management 
 Security & safety 
 Groundwork – including surveying, tunnels, bridges, culverts, crossings, concrete, ponds, water & 

waste water 
 Signal & telecom  
 Electro, including fiber 
 Track  
 Environment 

 
Project Management: The Group service deliverables include planning, management and reporting of 
production, quality, health, safety and environmental progress.  
 
Security and Safety: The Group can assume 
responsibility for security and safety during 
any groundwork or construction project and is 
an approved supervisor for electrical safety. 
The services include inspections, planning and 
execution of electrical safety plans, security 
installations and integration. Security and 
safety is required for all work in the proximity 
of the catenary.  
 
Groundwork: The Group delivers products 
and services covering the entire spectre of 
groundworks for the transport related 
infrastructure industry, including surveying, 
excavation, concrete works, carpentry, 
culvert, bridges and tunnels. The Group also 
provides specialist water and wastewater work relating to rail developments in urban areas.  
 
Signal & telecom: The Group offers services within maintenance, modifications and building of complete 
interlocking systems for the rail industry. This includes services for switches, track circuits and interlocking 
systems. The Group also provides specialist fibre services related to railways.  
 
Electro: The Group is approved by the Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection (DSB) for engineering, 
building and maintenance of complete technical installations. This includes low and high voltage, catenary, fibre 
and installation.  
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Track: The Group holds all required approvals and safety expertise needed for construction or maintenance of 
railroad tracks. The company provides track workers and signal specialists in addition to the machines and 
equipment required for completion of projects within track works. 
 
Environment: The Group delivers services within decommissioning and waste logistics for both internal and 
external projects. 

 Tenders and tender process  
The following tables present the Group's selected ongoing projects won through tender processes:  
 
Norway 
 

Client  Start-up  Completion 
Project value 

(NOK) Services  

Sporveien  March 2018 January 2020 NOK 402 million Groundwork, electro, track 
Bane NOR March 2017 December 2018 NOK 202 million Electro 
Statens Vegvesen October 2017 August 2019 NOK 155 million Groundwork 
Statens Vegvesen October 2017 May 2019 NOK 122 million Groundwork 
Bane NOR March 2018 November 2019 NOK 66 million Signal/telecom 
Oslo Kommune, Bymiljøetaten  November 2018    July 2021 NOK 360 million    Groundwork, electro, track 
 
 
Sweden  
 

Client  Start-up  Completion 
Project value 

(SEK) Services  

Trafikverket ................ March 2018 January 2024 SEK 357 million  Maintenance of signal/telecom, 
electro, and track  

Trafikverket ................ March 2018 Fall 2021 SEK 273 million  Signal/telecom, electro, track and 
groundwork 

Trafikverket ................ March 2018 April 2020 SEK 188 million  Groundwork 
Trafikverket ................ August 2017 September 2019 SEK 155 million Groundwork 
Trafikverket ................ June 2017 August 2019 SEK 47 million Electro and groundwork 
Trafikverket ................ October 2017 September 2019 SEK 87 million Signal/telecom, electro, track and 

groundwork 
Trafikverket ................ October 2017 January 2019 SEK 58 million Signal/telecom, electro, track and 

groundwork 
Trafikverket ................ October 2017 October 2019 SEK 44 million Signal/telecom, electro, track and 

groundwork 

 Machinery and equipment  
The Group has a range of modern machinery which is primarily customised for infrastructure related work. The 
machines are used for both internal and third party projects. Approximately 60% of the Group's machines are 
leased and 40% are owned directly by the Group. Most of the leased machinery are under financial lease 
agreements. 
 
In 2017, the Group made a material investment in a tamping machine. This machine is used to tamp track 
ballast under railway tracks to extend durability of the tracks. For further information on the Company's 
historical investments in machinery and equipment, see Section 10.3.3 "Historical investments".  

6.7 Key clients 
The Company's key clients are the Norwegian and Swedish governments through Bane NOR (Norway) and 
Trafikverket (Sweden). In addition to operating as a main contractor, the Company may operate as a 
subcontractor to other contractors with Bane NOR and Trafikverket as end-users.  
 
The below diagram illustrates the relationship between customers, contractors and sub-contractors, as well as 
the Group’s role. 
 

Railway Tenderer  Contractor  Sub-contractor 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
as contractor 

 

  
 
 

Various sub-contractors 

 
 
 
 
 

   

 
as sub-contractor 

 
 
Large international players wanting to enter the Norwegian and Swedish railway construction market must 
establish their own entities in these respective jurisdictions. Such entity establishment requires local access, 
knowledge and acceptance and involves significant investment. Hence, the dynamics of the industry typically 
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favour local partnerships. The Company has successfully explored partnerships with larger European players 
enabling the Company to offer a competitive price to its clients.  
 
The Company's top 5 clients in Norway and Sweden are presented in the tables below: 
 
 

Top 5 clients by revenue in Norway - 2017 

# Key Client  % of revenues 
1 BaneNor ................................................................................................... 39.4 
2 Sporveien ................................................................................................. 9.8 
3 Metrostav NUF ........................................................................................... 9.6 
4 Obrascón Huarte Lain S.A. Norwegian Branch ................................................. 7.7 
5 Obras Subterraneas S A NUF ....................................................................... 7.6 
 

Top 5 clients by revenue in Sweden – 2017 

# Key Client  % of revenues 

1 Trafikverket .............................................................................................. 66.3 
2 Infranord AB ............................................................................................. 5.3 
3 Landstinget I Värmland ............................................................................... 2.9 
4 Stora Enso ................................................................................................ 2.3 
5 Karlstad Kommun ...................................................................................... 2.1 

6.8 Seasonality and backlog  

 Seasonality  
The Group’s business is affected by seasonal variation, typically with lower level of activity during the first 
quarter of the year due to weather conditions and timing of customer decisions in major projects. The Company 
usually commenced the first quarter of the year with a focus on bidding processes. Project implementation 
follows from quarter two to quarter four. As such, the first quarter of the year is usually the least profitable 
period for the Group.  
 
The Group's revenue and EBITDA from Q4 2016 to Q3 2018 are presented in the table below. 
 

Numbers in NOK million 

Q4 
2016 

Q1 
2017 

Q2 
2017 

Q3 
2017 

Q4 
2017 

Q1 
2018 

Q2 
2018 

 

Q3 
2018 

Revenue 552 341 582 776 674 528 827 851 
EBITDA  47 6 43 111 70 2 65 58 
 

 Backlog  
The table below presents the Group's contract backlog from Q4 2016 until Q3 2018. Order backlog is the total 
nominal value of orders received less revenue recognised on the same orders. The historical numbers shown 
below are therefore for illustrative purposes only. 
 
 

Numbers in NOK million 

Q4 
2016 

Q1 
2017 

Q2 
2017 

Q3 
2017 

Q4 
2017 

Q1 
2018 

Q2 
2018 

 

Q3 
2018 

Total Group ................................. 1,402 1,548 1,994 1,968 1,948 3,069 2,579 2,802 
Increase (decline) q-q 5 146 446 -26 -20 1,121 -490 223 
Order backlog from JVs  0 0 457 449 460 431 419 551 
Increase (decline) q-q 0 0 457 -8 11 -29 -12 132 

6.9 Material contracts  
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into any material contracts outside the ordinary 
course of business during the two years prior to the date of this Prospectus. Further, neither of the companies 
within the Group has entered into any other contract outside the ordinary course of business which contains 
any provisions under which the Group has an obligation or entitlement that is material to the Group as at the 
date of this Prospectus.  

6.10 Intellectual property rights, patents and licenses  

Neither the Group’s business nor profitability is dependent on any patents, licenses, industrial contracts, 
business contracts, financial contracts or new production methods. 
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7. PRESENTATION OF VR TRACK AND ITS BUSINESS  

7.1 Overview 

VR Track is a full life cycle rail infrastructure service provider focused on railway design, construction and 
maintenance in Finland and Sweden. It is a leading rail constructor in Finland and an established player in 
Sweden 4 . VR Track’s main customer is the Finnish Transport Agency and other key customers include 
municipalities, industrial companies and the Swedish Transport Agency. VR Track has approximately 1,550 
employees, of which 1,300 are in Finland and 250 are in Sweden.   

7.2 Corporate information 
As at the date of this Prospectus, VR Track is a 100% owned subsidiary of VR Group, which is 100% owned by 
the Finnish State.  
 
VR Track’s registered office is in the municipality of Helsinki, Finland and its business ID is 1007822-3.  VR 
Track (formerly called Oy VR Rata AB) was incorporated in 1995, and has operated in open competition since 
the early 2010s. The roots of the business date back more than 150 years as part of VR Group. 
 
Registered office: Radiokatu 3, 00240 Helsinki, Finland 
Telephone:  +358 307 10 
Website:  www.vrtrack.fi 

7.3 Legal structure  

VR Track’s operative business is carried out internally and through its three wholly-owned subsidiaries 
presented below:  
 

Name of subsidiary 
Organisation  
reg. number Company address 

VR Track Sweden AB 556857-4205 Englundavagen 7 D, 171 41 Solna, Sweden 

VR Infrapro AB 559023-2780 Ynglingagatan 14, 113 47 Stockholm, Sweden 

Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy 10234525-7 Linnankatu 16, 20100 Turku, Finland 

 
The foregoing is illustrated as follows: 
 

 
 
 
The Acquisition, as described in Section 5.1, is to be completed in January 2019, at which time, the VR Track 
Entities will be incorporated to form the NRC Group.  
  

                                                            
 
 
4 Source: VR Track 
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7.4 Historical background and company development  
VR Track’s history goes back to 1995 when the Finnish monopoly for track construction and maintenance ended 
and VR Track was established as a legal entity on 1 July 1995. During the period from 1998 to 2003, the 
Finnish Transport Agency started to divide its contracts into smaller parts. This eliminated VR Track's need to 
use subcontractors and lowered revenues. During the next two years, VR Track expanded with its first contract 
in Sweden and the Finnish Transport Agency opened for competition for track maintenance contracts. By 2011, 
the railway construction market was open to full competition as the last framework agreements in construction 
expired during this time. This challenged VR Track's competitiveness. During 2014, VR Track implemented a 
turnaround program in Finland including organizational restructuring. The program was a success and VR Track 
regained competitiveness ahead of its plan. During 2016, the design division entered Sweden and in the same 
year, a turnaround to stop heavy loss making was initiated in Sweden.  
 
Significant milestones in development of the VR Track’s current business, since 2010 are summarised below: 
 
Year Event 

2010 ...............  • Railway construction market opens to full competition as the last frame agreements 
in construction are due to expire  

2011 ...............  • VR Track Sweden established 
• VR Track wins public tender of the first public alliance project in Europe 
• The framework agreement in construction ends  

2012 ...............  • The last framework agreement in maintenance expires 
• VR Track wins the tender for the largest regional maintenance agreement in Finland   

2013 ...............  • Initiation of turnaround program, including organizational restructuring, in Finland  
2014 ...............  • Competitiveness regained ahead of plan after initiation of turnaround program 

• Divestment of ownership in Vossloh JV  
2015 ...............  • Tampere light rail alliance project awarded to VR Track 
2016 ...............  • Harri Lukkarinen appointed as VR Track's CEO 

• Design enters into Sweden with the founding  of VR Infrapro 
• Heavy loss making in Sweden leads to initiation of a new turnaround program and 

unprofitable projects are stopped 
2017 ...............  • VR Track awarded Helsinki-Espoo (Raide-Jokeri) light rail alliance project 

7.5 Business strategy  
VR Track’s business strategy is to maintain its position as the market leader in Finland and maintain its top line 
growth. Further, VR Track aims to expand into new, opening or growing markets, utilizing synergies from 
railway know-how. Urbanization opens possibilities in city infrastructure development such as light rail design 
and construction.  

7.6 The business of the Group 

 Overview of services 
VR Track has a wide offering of services within rail-infrastructure and operates in Finland and Sweden. Their 
business portfolio consists of services within design, construction, maintenance, materials and machinery. VR 
Track covers the entire rail-infrastructure construction life cycle.  
 
Design: VR Track offers engineering and consulting services encompassing the entire life cycle of railway and 
other infrastructure. The core competency is within rail and light-rail related consulting, but complete design 
services are also offered for roads, streets and area planning projects (e.g. harbours, industrial sites). The 
services are offered both in collaboration with VR Track and independently.  
 
Construction: A full-scope supplier of railway and light rail systems utilizing subcontractors and component 
systems. Broad system and project expertise in substructures, superstructure, bridges, electricity, catenary, 
and signalling systems. Active in main- and subcontracting, design & build contracts as well as alliance projects. 
Key services include management and implementation of railway construction projects, including super 
structure construction as well as work on track foundations, bridges and stations. Construction services for 
electrified railway and high voltage systems, substations and installations of control systems.   
 
Maintenance: VR Track delivers railway and electricity maintenance services. This covers inspection, servicing 
and repairs as well as infrastructure management measures. In addition, VR Track offer expertise within 
automation systems maintenance and repair, as well as maintenance of traffic management equipment and 
traction switching stations and transformers. As an experienced player VR Track offer comprehensive 
knowledge of the Finnish railway maintenance areas and technological capabilities enable high quality service 
and execution. Further, VR Track maintains and repairs industrial companies’ and harbours’ private rail and rail 
related electrical systems.   
 
Materials: Materials segment covers the procurement and storage of railway materials, as well as 
impregnation of railway sleepers. VR Track supplies railway specific materials to railway maintenance 
companies and contractors chosen by the Finnish Transport Agency. Materials also offers impregnation services. 
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Machinery: VR Track’s machinery division are mainly utilized internally and ensures work efficiency, accuracy 
and speed in construction and maintenance of railway by supporting the other business units. The fleet consists 
of a wide coverage of specialized, heavy duty machinery for different types of railway construction and 
maintenance work.   

 Machinery and equipment  
VR Track has a diversified range of over 100 machines for a variety of construction and maintenance work. The 
fleet is updated to reflect the trend towards smaller projects requiring more flexibility. VR Track focuses on 
utilization rates through parking and sale of old machinery, targeted maintenance and investment in more 
flexible and cost efficient light-weight machinery.    
 

7.7 Key clients 
VR Track's key clients are the Finnish and Swedish governments through Finnish Transport Agency (Finland) 
and Trafikverket (Sweden). In addition to operating as a main contractor, VR Track may operate as a 
subcontractor to other contractors with Finnish Transport Agency and Trafikverket as end-users.  
 
 

Railway Tenderer  Contractor  Sub-contractor 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
as contractor 

 

  
 
 

Various sub-contractors 

 
 
 
 
 

    

 
as sub-contractor 

 
 
VR Track has a fairly consolidated customer base, with the Finnish Transportation Agency accounting for 59% 
of total sales in 2017. The top 10 customers accounted for approximately 93% of sales in 2017, of which eight 
customers were in the Finnish market and two in the Swedish. 

7.8 Seasonality and backlog  

 Seasonality  
VR Track’s business is affected by seasonal variation, typically with lower level of activity during Q1 due to 
weather condition and timing of customer decisions in major projects. The Company usually start with a focus 
on bidding processes in Q1 with project implementation in Q2 to Q4. Q1 is normally a less profitable period for 
VR Track. 

 Backlog  
As of June 30, 2018, VR Track had a contract backlog of approximately EUR 385 million, of which construction, 
maintenance and the Swedish operations accounted for the majority. The backlog is expected to materialize 
with 28% in H2 2018, 28% in 2019, 20% in 2020 and 24% in 2021 and beyond. The backlog has been in a 
positive trend since year-end 2015, with some variations as larger projects are completed. 

7.9 Material contracts  
Neither VR Track nor any of the other VR Track Entities has entered into any material contracts outside the 
ordinary course of business during the two years prior to the date of this Prospectus. Further, neither of the 
Acquired Entities has entered into any other contract outside the ordinary course of business that contains any 
provisions under which a VR Track Entity has an obligation or entitlement that is material to the VR Track Entity 
as at the date of this Prospectus. 

7.10 Intellectual property rights, patents and licenses  
Neither VR Track’s business nor profitability is dependent on any patents, licenses, industrial contracts, 
business contract, financial contracts or new production methods. 
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8. MARKET ANALYSIS  

8.1 Introduction to the rail business  
The railroad’s strength as a system of transportation can be used as a strategic tool as part of a nation’s overall 
politics to connect areas and regions. The Norwegian, Swedish and Finnish populations are fairly small 
compared to the size of the respective countries' land area and many areas of professional/industrial expertise 
and competence are characterised by small communities. Norway, Sweden and Finland depend on well-
functioning communication systems between cities and regions to gain access to a greater range of skills, 
businesses and attractive residential areas. Railroads' characteristics with high speed, high comfort and large 
capacity can open new opportunities for business interaction and social development. 
 
Most contracts within the rail business are provided by the national agencies for railway services; Bane NOR in 
Norway, Finnish Transport Agency in Finland and Trafikverket in Sweden. The market continues to be 
dominated by established state owned contractors. However, private companies are increasingly challenging 
and winning contracts due to being price competitive, given that they may offer more efficient cost structures 
compared to state controlled contactors. 
 
The Norwegian and Swedish governments employ long-term national transportation plans to develop their 
transportation systems. The plans are developed every fourth year. Both the Norwegian and Swedish railway 
market will be characterised by heavy investments in the planning period. According to the most recent NTP, 
the Norwegian Government plans to invest NOK 330 billion in railway during 2018 - 20295. In Sweden, the 
Swedish Government approved a SEK 522 billion transportation plan for the period 2014 – 2025. The 
government’s proposal for a new Swedish National Transportation Plan shows an expected growth of 20% on 
investments and 47% on maintenance for the next 12-year period (2019-2030). The new NTP was approved by 
the Swedish parliament on 31 May 20186. In Finland, the parliament decides on the framework for the four-year 
parliament period. The state funding goes through the Finnish Transport Agency and is allocated in annual state 
budgets. Next parliamentary election is in April 2019. The maintenance backlog for transport infrastructure 
assets in Finland has grown steadily in the last 10 years and have been estimated to be around EUR 2.5 billion, 
where EUR 1.1 billion is estimated for railway infrastructure specifically. During 2018 a parliamentary working 
group proposed additional funding to reduce maintenance backlog. Further, the working group proposed that 
the transport network should be maintained and developed following a longer term, e.g. a 12-year national 
transport plan produced in a parliamentary process, more similar to the Norwegian and Swedish systems. 

8.2 The railroad construction scope 

The railroad construction can be divided into five main categories: 
 
Substructure: Substructure ensures stable tracks and railroads. The substructure is the foundation of the 
railway track. It consists of the mass that the railway track is placed on top, in addition to different technical 
constructions. Substructure includes: Groundwork, tunnels, bridges, culverts etc. 
 
Superstructure: Superstructure ensures the interaction between the train and the track, and makes sure 
trains move safely, comfortably and fast at the same time. The superstructure consists of ballast, sleepers, 
rails, switches, cable channels etc.  
Track, sleepers, ballast, switches, cable channel 
 
Signalling system: Ensures safety, speed and time management for trains on the move. Includes signalling 
systems 
 
Tele: Provides required telecommunication, including cables for fibre and telecom 
 
Power supply system: Secures continuous power transfer to the trains. Includes all electro and catenary 
 

                                                            
 
 
5  Source: Statens vegvesen vegdirektoratet, National Transportation Plan 2014-2023. 
6  Source: Fastställelse av nationell trafikslagsövergripande plan för transportinfrastrukturen för perioden 2018-2029, 
Regeringen  
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The Norwegian, Swedish and Finnish railroad construction markets have high barriers of entry. All three 
markets are highly regulated and contractors need a wide range of approvals to be able to provide the complete 
range of services. Contractors are also required to show references and history and to meet the requirements.  

8.3 Competitive landscape 

The players in the railway constructions business can be divided in 3 categories; 

• Civil contractors 

̵ Typically involved in the groundwork 
̵ Carried out by regular civil contractors 
̵ Fierce competition and lower margins business 
̵ Example of players: Veidekke, Skanska, AF Gruppen, Implenia and NCC 

• Railway specialists 

̵ Few players dominating the Nordic market 
̵ Typically, 3-4 companies in tender processes 
̵ Example of players: InfraNord, Baneservice, Norsk Jernbanedrift, VR Track and Strukton 

• International rail contractors 

8.4 The Norwegian railway construction market 

 The Norwegian railway network  
The Norwegian railway network has a total of 4,209 km of rails where 6% are double tracks and 58% are 
electrified7. According to the Association of Consulting Engineers in Norway 2016 report "State of the Nation" on 
the health of the Norwegian infrastructure, the condition of the Norwegian rail network is level 2 on a scale 
between 1 and 58. This implies that the infrastructure is in a poor condition, the functionality is at risk and 
extensive maintenance is needed immediately. The standard varies between the different railway lines, but 
generally the railway’s average age is high and the modification lag large. Relatively little has been invested in 
new rails since the 1960s. According to Jernbaneverket’s mapping of the infrastructure technical lifetime, 
especially related to the power lines, drainage- and signalling system, is outdated or about to be outdated the 
coming years. RIF estimates an investment need of approximately NOK 500 billion to increase the condition 
from level 2 to level 4.  
 
In June 2017, the Norwegian Parliament approved the NOK 330 billion NTP plan for railway for the period 2018-
2029. The plan represents a historical step-up in investments in railway infrastructure and includes major 
projects like the Inter-City development in the greater Oslo area. The plan comprises more than NOK 78 billion 
of expenditure for operation and maintenance of existing railways as well as NOK 95 billion of investments in 
new rail infrastructure.  
 
NTP has identified several larger railroad infrastructure projects. These projects include the Inter-City area, 
Follobanen, Ringeriksbanen, Sørlandsbanen, Kongsvingerbanen and Gjøviksbanen. In addition, several projects 
are planned in the Bergen, Stavanger and Trondheim region.  
 
                                                            
 
 
7 Source: Jernbaneverket’s "Railway Statistics 2016" 
8 Source: Rådgivende Ingeniørers Forening (RIF), Norges Tilstand 2015 "State of the Nation" 
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It is broad political consensus to build an efficient Inter-City high speed train network by 2030. The 
development of the Inter-City area with double tracks is the largest railway infrastructure project to date and 
will contribute to alleviate the pressure on a fast growing Oslo. The goal is to shorten journey times and 
increase the frequency of departures to transform large parts of Eastern Norway into one seamless residential 
and labor market.  

 The railway reform in Norway 
In 1996, the old NSB (Norges Statsbaner) was divided into an infrastructure owner (Jernbaneverket) and an 
operator (NSB), and there have not been any fundamental changes to the organisational structure of the 
railway sector since. In 2015, the Government proposed a reform of the railway sector with the overall purpose 
to improve the structure of how the Norwegian railways are managed and operated. The reform was approved 
by the Parliament and has been in operation since 1 January 2017:  
 
• A new administrative railway entity (Jernbanedirektoratet) was established as a replacement to 

Jernbaneverket 

• An independent state-owned infrastructure company named Bane NOR was established. Bane NOR manage 
the current infrastructure and build new railway infrastructure and operate on four-year contracts with 
Jernbanedirektoratet.  

A business relationship will be established between the infrastructure enterprise and its counterpart, which is 
expected to result in a more professional customer-supplier relationship.  
 
The establishment of Bane NOR in combination with the approval of the NTP not happening until June 2017 led 
to a difficult year in Norway in 2017. The targetable market for the Group dropped by almost 30%. Now that 
the NTP is approved and Bane NOR established as the new Norwegian Railway Authorities, the Group consider 
the railway construction market to be back for full during 2018. This is reflected by the increase of appointed 
contracts in Norway for the Group year to date.  
 
Long-term railway spending development in Norway (NOK billion per year)9: 
 

 

8.5 The Swedish railway construction market 

 The Swedish railway network  

According to Trafikanalys in Sweden, the Swedish railway infrastructure consisted in 2015 of approximately 
10.9 thousand km of rails, where 8.2 thousand km (75%) are electrified and 2.0 thousand km are double-
tracks (18%). 
 
Like Norway, the Swedish government has significantly increased its investment in infrastructure. In April 2014, 
the Swedish government approved a SEK 522 billion transportation plan for the period 2014-2025. This 
represents a 20% increase compared to the previous national transportation plan. Of the SEK 522 billion figure, 
SEK 241 billion is estimated to be deployed for operations and maintenance, of which SEK 155 billion for road 
and SEK 86 billion to operation, maintenance and re-investment in existing railways. SEK 281 billion is 
estimated to be deployed to develop infrastructure. Furthermore, the Swedish government intends to spend 
SEK 140 billion on new high-speed railway infrastructure until 2035. As mentioned above, the Swedish 

                                                            
 
 
9 Sources: 2006-2017: The Norwegian national budget and national accounts and the approved NTP for 2018-2030 
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government proposed a new Swedish NTP –approved by the Swedish parliament in May 2018 –which shows an 
expected growth of 20% on investments and 47% on maintenance for the next 12-year period (2019-2030).  
 
The railway maintenance projects are becoming larger and more complex which is in favour of the larger 
suppliers. Trafikverket’s 10 largest suppliers represented 70% of all maintenance volume10. 

 The Swedish railway infrastructure market 
The expected growth in Sweden will, typically, come through major construction contracts, especially linked to 
the construction of rail, metro and tram systems. Compared to Bane NOR in Norway, their Swedish 
counterparty, Trafikverket, have already launched larger contracts. Currently there are contracts in the market 
in the range SEK 1-5 billion. To remain a significant player in the Swedish market over time, the Group should 
be able to handle several of these contracts at the same time. Within maintenance, long-term "condition-based" 
contracts are the norm, as opposed to the call-off from frame agreements that is currently observed in Norway. 
The Group continuously assesses the possibility of entering into these types of contracts. 
 
Civil construction work is an important part of the Group’s business in Sweden and covers both rail and road 
infrastructure. For the Group, there is a strategic upside in combining in-house capabilities to cover most of the 
scope in rail infrastructure projects, as it reduces the interface risk in such contracts and allows the Group to 
take on "bundled" contracts without having to depend on external partners. 
 
Apart from railway, the Stockholm metro system is also facing major renewal and capacity-increasing projects. 
Towards 2025, more than SEK 30 billion will be invested in renewal and expansion of the Stockholm Metro11. 
The Group has established a business in Stockholm and this will be a strategically important area for us in the 
coming years.  
 
Long-term railway spending development in Sweden (SEK billion per year)12: 
 

 

8.6 The Finnish railway construction market 

 The Finnish railway network  
Finnish passenger and freight train operations as well as track construction and maintenance have traditionally 
been state-owned through VR. Finland is now starting to follow other Nordic countries by separating track 
construction and maintenance from train operations. Finland has the second longest track network in the 
Nordics, with 5,926 km of public rail; of which 89% is single track and 55% is electrified. Moreover, there is 
approximately 1,000 km of privately held railway tracks across Finland, as well as approximately 35 km of 
metro and approximately 38 km of tram network in the Helsinki region. Governmental bodies play an important 
role in the rail market through funding and regulatory control, especially the Finnish Transport Agency (as the 
largest customer and important authority). The trends driving growth in railway spending are similar to the 
Norwegian and Swedish market, and include urbanization, demand for green transportation and large 
maintenance backlog after years of underinvestment. 
 
The expected growth of the rail industry in Finland will, typically, come through major construction contracts, 
especially those linked to the construction of rail and light rail infrastructure. Large rail and light rail projects 
are under discussion in Finland. Some projects, such as the Tampere light rail and Raide-Jokeri, are already 
ongoing, and large projects in Helsinki and its surroundings (Kruunsillat, Kalatsatama line, and investments into 
existing light rail network) are approved with several more projects being at the planning stage. These projects 

                                                            
 
 
10 Trafikverkets inköpsvolym  
11 Source: Stockholms Läns landsting 
12 Source: 2010-2020 Swedish national budget  
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are expected to lead to a yearly growth rate of 8% in rail and tram road spending for the next 4 years from the 
current estimated market size of approximately EUR 600 million. 
 
Railway spending development in Finland (EUR billion per year)13: 
 

 

                                                            
 
 
13 Source: VR Track estimates including tramway, Finnish Transportation Agency  
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9. ORGANISATION, BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT 

9.1 Board of Directors  

 Overview of the Board of Directors  
 
The Board of Directors currently consists of the following persons: 
 

Name Position  Served since Term expires 

Helge Midttun ............................................ Chair 2 December 2015 Annual general meeting 2019 
Brita Eilertsen ............................................ Board member 28 May 2015 Annual general meeting 2019 
Kjersti Kanne ............................................. Board member 27 September 2015 Annual general meeting 2019 
Harald Arnet .............................................. Board member 11 August 2015 Annual general meeting 2019 
Mats Williamson Board member 1 July 2018 Annual general meeting 2019 

 Brief biographies of the Board of Directors  
Helge Midttun, chairman 
Helge Midttun has broad experience from a diverse range of industries where he has held senior management 
positions and served as board member. Mr Midttun was CEO of Fjord Seafoods ASA, a major international 
salmon farming company and worked for food company, Rieber & Søn, where he was also chairman of its board 
for 6 years until the company was sold to Orkla. Mr Midttun was President and CEO of the international ship 
classification and certification company, Det norske Veritas and Aker Biomarine ASA, and served on the boards 
of Statoil ASA and Aker Kværner ASA.  
 
Mr Midttun has a "Siviløkonom" degree from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH).  
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  Aibel AS (chair), Atlantis Vest AS (chair), Duett AS (chair), 

Hent AS (chair), SonansGruppen AS (chair) and Cermaq AS 
(board member). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  

 
Rieber & Søn ASA (chair), King Oscar AS (chair), Ayanda 
Group AS (chair), Nordic Seafarms AS, Slakteriet AS (chair), 
and Norway Ratos (advisory board member). 

 
Brita Eilertsen, board member  
Brita Eilertsen has extensive experience as a non-executive director of several listed and privately held 
companies in a range of industries. Ms Eilertsen's background is in investment banking and consulting. 
 
Ms Eilertsen has a "Siviløkonom" degree from the Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) in Bergen and a CEFA 
(Certified European Financial Analyst) degree from NHH/NFF.  
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  Axactor SE (board member), Next Biometrics ASA (board 

member), Pareto Bank ASA (board member), Unifor (board 
member), C Worldwide Asset Management AS (board 
member), Anders Jahres fond til vitenskapens fremme, (board 
member), Vernix Pharma AS (board member), Ladessa AS 
(managing director), Vernix Pharma AS (board member) and 
Haadem Invest AS (deputy board member). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  

 
Scanship Holding AS (board member), Nussir ASA (board 
member), Saga Tankers ASA (board member). 

 
Kjersti Kanne, board member  
Kjersti Kanne has 25 years of operational experience and technical expertise from the oil & gas industry. She is 
a Director at Digital Engineering in the Oilfield Equipment division at Baker Hughes, a GE company, and has 
previously held various senior positions at General Electrics, ABB and VetcoGray.  
 
Ms Kanne has a Master of Science (MSc) from the Norwegian University of Science and Technology.  
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  None 
Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  GE Oil & Gas (Executive - Engi  
 
Harald Arnet, board member  
Harald Arnet is the CEO and partner at Datum AS. Mr Arnet has over 30 years of national and international 
experience in corporate finance, industrial and financial investments.  
 
Mr Arnet has a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration with a major in Finance and Marketing from the 
University of Denver, Daniels College of Business and has completed an executive finance program at the 
London Business School.  
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  Datum AS (general manager and board member), Datum 

Finans AS (general manager and board member) 
Datum Invest AS, (general manager and board member) Hato 
Invest AS (general manager and chairman), Trojan AS 
(general manager and board member),  
Hermia AS (chairman), Torre Iron AS (board member), Douro 
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Gold AS (board member), Maximus AS (board member), 
Fjellfin ANS (deputy board member), Datum Vekst AS (general 
manager and board member), Kahoot! AS (board member), 
Diabase AS (board member). 

Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  

Fesil AS (board member), TH Finans AS (chairman), H Arnet 
AS (chairman), TH Finans AS (general manager), TH Finans 
AS (board member), Trojan AS (chairman), Fesil Utvikling AS 
(board member), Douro Gold AS (general manager), Fesil 
Venture AS (board member), Datum Holding AS (general 
manager), Datum Holding AS (chairman), Wega Mining AS 
(board member) ,Fesil Invest AS (board member),  Avocet Plc 
(board member). Fara ASA (board member), Targovax ASA 
(board member) and Vaccibody (board member). 

 
Mats Williamson, board member 
 
Mats Williamson has over 35 years of experience from various roles within the Skanska Group. Mr Williamson 
was Executive Vice President of the Skanska Group, Business Unit President of Skanska Group’s construction 
activities in Sweden and the UK and Project Director at The Öresund Bridge.  
 
Mr Williamson holds an MSc in Civil Engineering from Lund Institute of Technology and an AMP from Harvard 
Business School. 
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm (board member) 
Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  

SP Technical Research Institute of Sweden (board member), 
Skanska AB (Executive Vice President) 

 
 
The business address of the Board of Directors is c/o NRC Group ASA, Lysaker Torg 25, 1366 Lysaker, Norway. 
 
None of the members of the Board of Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries providing for benefits upon termination of their role as board members. 

 Directors' shareholdings 
The table below presents the number of Shares held by members of the Board of Directors as at the date of this 
Prospectus (including Shares held through private investment companies): 
 
Name Number of Shares 

Helge Midttun ...............................................................................................................  105,000 
Brita Eilertsen ...............................................................................................................  0 
Kjersti Kanne ................................................................................................................  1,500 
Harald Arnet (through wholly owned company, Hato Invest AS) ...........................................  100,000 
Mats Williamson ............................................................................................................  0 
 

 Independence of the Board of Directors 
In accordance with Norwegian law, the board of directors is responsible for administering a company's affairs 
and for ensuring that a company's operations are organised in a satisfactory manner. The Company’s Articles of 
Association provide that the Board of Directors shall have no fewer than three members and no more than nine 
members. In accordance with Norwegian law, the CEO and at least half of the members of the Board must 
either be resident in Norway or be citizens of, and resident in, an EU/EEA country. Members of the Board of 
Directors are elected by the general meeting of shareholders for a term of two years. Board members may be 
re-elected. In the event of a dead-lock of the Board of Directors, the chairman of the Board of Directors has a 
double vote. The Board of Directors consists of five members, of which four are independent of the 
management, main business associates and the main shareholders.  

 Audit Committee  
The Board of Directors has established an audit committee, currently consisting of two members, Brita Eilertsen 
and Harald Arnet. 
 
The main tasks of the audit committee are to prepare the Board of Directors’ supervision of the Company’s 
financial reporting process, monitor the systems for internal control and risk management, have continuous 
contact with the Company’s auditor regarding the audit of the annual accounts and review and monitor the 
independence of the Company’s auditor, including the extent to which services other than auditing provided by 
the auditor or the audit firm represent a threat to the independence of the auditor. The audit committee reports 
and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors but the Board of Directors retains responsibility for 
implementing such recommendations. 

 Remuneration committee 
The Board of Directors has established a remuneration committee composed of two board members. The 
current members of the remuneration committee are Helge Midttun and Kjersti Kanne. 
 
The primary purpose of the remuneration committee is to assist and facilitate the decision making of the Board 
of Directors in matters relating to the remuneration of the executive management of the Group, reviewing 
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recruitment policies, career planning and management development plans and prepare matters relating to 
other material employment issues in respect of the executive management. The remuneration committee 
reports and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors but the Board of Directors retains responsibility 
for implementing such recommendations.  

 Project committee  
The Board of Directors has established a project committee for larger projects composed of two board 
members. The current members of the committee are Helge Midttun and Mats Williamson. 
 
The primary purpose of the project committee is to assist and evaluate the risk in tender offerings with a total 
value exceeding NOK 250 million. The committee shall assess whether the companies have made necessary 
work in connection with tender offerings to eliminate risk and ensure good project execution prior to 
submission. Further, the committee assesses whether a project is within the strategies and frameworks that the 
Board of Directors has decided for the Group. 

 Remuneration to the Board of Directors 
Total remuneration paid to members of the Board of Directors for the period from the annual general meeting 
in 2017 until the annual general meeting in 2018 was NOK 1,526,000. The table below sets out the 
remuneration paid to current members of the Board of Directors serving as board members during such period:  
 
Name Amount (in NOK) 

Helge Midttun ...............................................................................................................  515,000 
Brita Eilertsen ...............................................................................................................  300,000 
Kjersti Kanne ................................................................................................................  260,000 
Harald Arnet .................................................................................................................  285,000 

 Nomination committee 
The responsibility of the nomination committee is, among other things, to nominate candidates to be elected by 
the shareholders as members of the Board of Directors and their deputies whenever their respective period of 
service expires or when a by-election is needed. To the extent possible, the nomination committee is to 
announce its nominations in the shareholders' notice of the Company’s annual general meeting. The nomination 
committee also proposes remuneration to the members of the Board of Directors. 
 
The current members of the nomination committee as elected at the annual general meeting in 2018 are 
Kristian Lundkvist (chair), Vegard Urnes and Albert Collett. 

9.2 Management  

 Overview of the Management  
The Group's executive management is responsible for the daily management and the operations of the Group. 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company’s management team consists of the following individuals: 
 

Name Position  Served since 

Øivind Horpestad .........................................................  CEO 1 March 2016 
Dag Fladby ..................................................................  CFO 1 March 2016 
Pär Tingström ..............................................................  Managing Director Sweden 19 September 2018 
Hans Olav Storkås ........................................................  Managing Director Norway 1 July 2018 
 
The business address of the Company’s management team is c/o NRC Group ASA, Lysaker Tog 25, 1366 
Lysaker, Norway. 

 Brief biographies of the Management  
Øivind Horpestad, CEO  
Horpestad has more than 10 years of experience in management, leadership and business development from 
the railway industry. Mr. Horpestad is one of the original founders of NRC, and has previously held positions 
within Team Bane, VRS Rail AS, and Coast Capital. 
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  Charlotte Holding AS (CEO and Chairman).  
Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  None.  
 
Dag Fladby, CFO 
Mr. Fladby has a broad managerial background from different industries. Including CEO and CFO with 
Scandinavian Beverage Group, as investment director with Norwegian Property ASA, CFO at Holta Invest and 
Finance Director with the Norwegian Armed Forces Logistical Organisation (FLO). 
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  None. 
Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  

 
Holta Invest (CFO), Armed Forces Logistical Organisation 
(Finance Director).  
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Pär Tingström, Managing Director Sweden 
Pär Tingström has been the Managing Director of the Company in Sweden since September 2018. Mr Tingström 
has extensive experience within the construction industry and a strong foundation in the Company.  
 
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  None. 
Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  NRC Sweden (Director), Director Segermo (Director) 
 
Hans Olav Storkås, Managing Director Norway 
Hans Olav Storkås has been the Managing Director of the Company in Norway since March 2018. Mr Storkås 
has over 25 years of experience within the construction industry, including as leading Director of AF Gruppen 
and Lemminkainen. He was the founder of an entrepreneur company which was later sold to Lemminkainen. 
  
Current directorships and senior management positions ........  None. 
Previous directorships and senior management positions 
during last five years .......................................................  

 
Lemminkainen Anlegg (Director), AF Bygg Prosjektpartner 
(Director) 

 Management’s shareholdings 
Shares held by the management as at the date of the Prospectus (including Shares held through private 
investment companies): 
 

Name 
Number of ordinary 

Shares 
Share  

options  

Øivind Horpestad1 .................................................................................... 1,328,008 100,000 
Dag Fladby .............................................................................................. 20,581 92,448 
Pär Tingström .......................................................................................... 0 10,000 
Hans Olav Storkås .................................................................................... 20,500 5,000 
 
1 Shares held by Charlotte Holding AS, a company controlled by Mr. Horpestad, as at the date of this Prospectus. In 

addition, Mr. Horpestad has sold and has the right and obligation to repurchase 500,000 Shares from DNB Bank ASA 
under a term contract. The contract expires on 20 February 2019. 

 Benefits upon termination 
CEO, Øivind Horpestad, has waived his protection against notice in exchange for severance pay corresponding 
to 12 months' salary if his employment is terminated by the Group, in addition to all agreed benefits and salary 
during the notice period of 6 months.  
 
CFO, Dag Fladby, is entitled to 6 months' severance pay if his employment is terminated by the Group in 
addition to all agreed benefits and salary during the notice period of 6 months. 
 
No other member of management has entered into an employment or service contract with the Company or 
any of its subsidiaries providing for benefits upon termination of their role as manager of the Company.  

 Pension and other obligations to management 
The companies in the Group have different defined contribution pension schemes. The pension schemes are 
financed by payments to insurance companies.  

 Remuneration to management 
In 2017, the Company paid the following remuneration to members of its management: 
In NOK 1,000        

Name Position  
Basic 
salary 

Accrued 
bonus 

Other 
remuneration 

Pension 
expense 

 

Share option 
expense 

Agreed 
severance 

pay 

Øivind Horpestad ..... CEO 2,300  805 208 162 221 18 months 
Dag Fladby .............. CFO 1,920  672 202 162 132 12 months 
Daniel Petterson ....... Managing 

director 
Sweden 

1,680 588 97 305 132 12 months 
 

Geir Nilsen (from 
01.06.17) ...............

Managing 
director 
Norway 

1,004 164 41 51 104 6 months 
 

9.3 Employee option and incentive programs 

 Share program for employees  
In December 2015, the Company implemented a share program for employees of the Group's subsidiaries in 
Norway and Sweden where the employees are offered the opportunity to purchase Shares of the Company at a 
20% discount. The program was repeated in 2016 and 2017 and was extended to employees of the subsidiaries 
acquired by the Group during these years.  
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 Share option program for senior management  
On 12 May 2016, the Company's annual general meeting approved implementation of an option program for 
senior management comprising an aggregate of 600,000 share options over two years (the "Senior 
Management Option Program"). The Company's annual general meeting on 3 May 2017 increased the share 
option program to comprise an aggregate of 900,000 share options over two years.  
 
The strike price for the options is set to 105% of the weighted average of the share price of the Company 
during the last 30 days prior to the general meeting in which the option program was approved. The strike price 
will be adjusted for any dividends paid from the time of the establishment of the program until options are 
exercised. The options have a two year term so that the last possible award of options pursuant to the option 
program will be in connection with the Company's annual general meeting in 2019. 
 
Options are awarded based on the Group's achievements of certain quantitative and qualitative goals 
determined by the Board of Directors and are awarded following the Company's annual general meeting each 
year. The options normally vest over a period of three years, with 1/3 of the aggregate amount of options 
vesting each year. Options that are not exercised during, or on the date of expiry of, the vesting period, lapse 
without compensation to its holder.  
 
As at the date of this Prospectus, a total of 431,407 options have been granted in connection with the Senior 
Management Option Program. The weighted average exercise price of the options is NOK 55.85. The expiry 
date of 31,407 of the options is 6 April 2019.  400 000 of the options expire in May 2021. These options can be 
vested by 1/3 each year from May 2019 until expiry.   

 Share option program for key employees  
On 19 April 2018, the Company's annual general meeting approved implementation of an option program for 
key employees comprising an aggregate of 400,000 Shares over two years (the "Key Employee Option 
Program").  
 
As at the date of this Prospectus, a total of 291,000 options have been granted in connection with the Key 
Employee Option Program. The options can be vested over a period of 12 months from 12 September 2021 at a 
strike price of NOK 85.78. The strike price will be adjusted for any dividends paid from the time of the 
establishment of the program until the options are exercised. The Company's employees paid NOK 1 or SEK 1 
for each option.   

9.4 Conflict of interest 
Harald Arnet, board member of the Company, is the general manager of Datum AS, one of the Company’s 
largest shareholders. It cannot be ruled out that Mr. Arnet's interests as a board member of the Company and 
as the general manager of Datum AS may differ from time to time. 
 
Other than the foregoing, there are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties to the Company and 
private interests or other duties of the members of the Board of Directors or management of the Company. 
There are no family relationships amongst the members of the Board of Directors, management or key 
employees of the Company.  
 
None of the current members of the Board of Directors or management of the Company have during the last 
five years been subject to convictions in relation to fraudulent offences or been involved in any bankruptcies, 
receiverships or liquidations in his or her capacity as a member of a board of directors or management of a 
company. None of the members of the Board of Directors or management of the Company has been involved in 
any official public incrimination and/or sanctions by statutory or regulatory authorities (including designated 
professional bodies), or has been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of the administrative, 
management or supervisory bodies of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of 
any company for at least the previous five years. 

9.5 Corporate governance  

Pursuant to the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, last updated 30 October 2014 (the 
"Norwegian Corporate Governance Code"), (i) the majority of the shareholder-elected members of the 
Board of Directors should be independent of the Company's executive management and material business 
contacts, (ii) at least two of the shareholder-elected members of the Board of Directors should be independent 
of the Company's main shareholders (shareholders holding more than 10% of the Shares in the Company), and 
(iii) no members of the Company's executive management should be on the Board of Directors.  
 
The Company adopted a corporate governance code dated 29 March 2017 which is based on, and complies 
with, the Norwegian Corporate Governance Code.  
 
The management and Board of Directors strive to treat the Company’s shareholders equal and just. The Board 
of Directors and other leading bodies holds integrity and legal qualification. The financial statements are audited 
by qualified and independent auditors such that the provided financial statements give a correct picture of the 
Company’s operational and financial position. The Board of Directors are responsible for the implementation of 
appropriate principles for corporate governance and management of the Company. The Board of Directors 
reviews the Company’s corporate governance on an annual basis. 

9.6 Employees 
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The table below sets out the geographical distribution of employees in 2016, 2017 and 2018. The number of 
employees as at 30 September 2018 includes the employees of the acquired businesses of NSS Holding AS and 
Gunnar Knutsen AS. 
 

 
30 September 

2018 2017 2016 

Norway ................................................................................. 509 284 231 
Sweden ................................................................................ 365 335  187 
Total .................................................................................... 874 619 418 
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10. FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

10.1 Historical financial accounts  

 Overview  
The selected historical consolidated financial information set forth in this section has been derived from the 
Group’s audited Financial Statements for the financial years 2015, 2016 and 2017, restated financial 
statements for 2015 as presented in the 2016 Financial Statements, as well as the unaudited Interim Financial 
Statements for the three and nine-month periods ended 30 September 2017 and 2018 (together referred to as 
the "Financial Information").  
 
For further information on the accounting principles for the Financial Information, see Section 4.1.1 "Financial 
information".  
 
The Financial Statements for the financial years 2015, 2016 and 2017 have been audited. The audit reports for 
the Financial Statements are incorporated by reference to the Prospectus, see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by 
reference". Refer to Section 10.10 "The Company's auditor" for further information on the Company's current 
auditor. The Interim Financial Statements are not audited.  
 
The selected historical consolidated financial information for the Group set forth in this Section should be read 
in conjunction with the Financial Information and the notes thereto, which is incorporated by reference in the 
Prospectus, see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference".  

 Re-presented and restated figures  
Historical figures for the financial year 2015 
The purchase price allocation for acquisitions that were completed in 2015 were corrected in the 2016 Annual 
Financial Statements in accordance with IAS 8. The restated 2015 annual accounts included, as at the relevant 
acquisition date, an increase in intangible assets other than goodwill of NOK 15 million, an increased deferred 
tax liability of NOK 3 million and a reduced goodwill of NOK 12 million. The change caused an increased 
amortization of intangible assets of NOK 3 million for 2015 and a reduced tax expense of NOK 1 million.  
 
The restated annual accounts for 2015 have not been audited.  
 
During 2016, the Group entered into agreements for the divestment of its former Geo business. The Group 
therefore reported the Geo business segment as discontinued operations in a separate line in the statement of 
comprehensive income for the financial year 2016. In accordance with IFRS 5, comparable numbers for 2015 in 
the 2016 Financial Statements were re-presented accordingly. For the purposes of the Prospectus, related 
numbers for 2015 are those being restated and re-presented in the 2016 Financial Statements. These include 
operating revenues being reduced by NOK 233 million and operating expenses being reduced by NOK 239 
million. For further information, refer to note 23 to the 2016 Financial Statements incorporated in the 
Prospectus (Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference").  

 Income statement  
 

 
 
 
Note on 2015 (restated) column: Figures are re-presented according to IFRS 5 and restated in accordance with IAS 8, see Section 10.2.6 "Financial 
year ended 31 December 2015" 
 
 

 

2018 2017 2018 2017 2017 2016 2015 2015

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (audited) (audited) (restated) (audited)

Operating revenues 851 776 2 206 1 699 2 373 1 975 678 911

Cost of materials 539 458 1 415 1 048 1 407 1 343 453 558
Salaries and personell costs 155 148 429 338 493 349 126 222
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 28 22 65 56 79 53 18 26
Other operating and administrative expenses 99 60 238 153 244 130 67 94
Operating expenses 821 688 2 146 1 596 2 223 1 876 664 900

Operating profit / loss 30 89 60 103 150 99 14 12

Net financial items -4 -1 -5 -5 -6 -10 -5 -6
Pre-tax profit/loss 26 88 54 98 144 89 9 6

Taxes 6 -21 -2 -23 19 -22 43 42
Net profit/loss from continuing operations 32 67 53 75 163 68 52 48

Net profit/loss from discontinued operations 0 0 0 -7 -7 -10 -6 0
Net profit/loss for the year 32 67 53 68 156 57 46 48

Profit/loss attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent 32 67 52 68 156 57 46 48
Non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net profit/loss for the year 32 67 53 68 156 57 46 48

In NOK millions

Three months ended 
30 September 2017

Nine months ended 
30 September 2017

Year ended 
31 December
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 Financial position  

 

 Condensed cash flow statement 

 

 
 

2018 2017 2017 2016 2015 2015
 (unaudited)  (unaudited)  (audited)  (audited)  (restated)  (audited)

ASSETS

Deferred tax assets 85 31 70 31 43 43
Goodwill 1 131 893 950 577 521 534
Customer contracts and other intangible assets 46 31 28 24 52 38
Total intangible assets 1 262 955 1 048 632 616 615

Tangible assets 414 257 278 144 121 120
Other non-current assets 23 9 9 7 8 8
Total non-current assets 1 700 1 221 1 335 783 745 744

Work in progress 0 0 0 0 0 114

Trade receivables 727 558 649 310 318 203
Other current assets 332 63 91 103 41 41
Total receivables 1 059 621 741 413 359 245

Cash and cash equivalents 189 308 408 418 258 258
Assets classified as held for sale 0 0 0 9 0 0
Total current assets 189 929 1 149 841 617 618

Total assets 2 948 2 150 2 484 1 623 1 362 1 361

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital 43 42 42 39 35 35
Treasury shares 0 0 0 0 -1 -2
Share premium 1 010 918 927 889 641 650
Currency translation differences -40 -2 14 -18 4 5
Retained earnings 428 275 374 105 48 41
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 1 440 1 232 1 357 1 014 727 729
Non-controlling interests 2
Total equity 1 443 1 232 1 357 1 014 727 729

 
Pension obligations 0 0 0 0 5 5
Interest-bearing non-current liabilities 467 319 317 111 162 162
Deferred taxes 41 20 27 11 31 28
Other non-current liabilities 0 0 0 5 0 0
Total other non-current liabilities 509 338 344 127 198 195

 
Overdraft facilitates 0 0 0 0 9 9
Interest-bearing current liabilities 168 114 121 82 79 78
Interest bearing current liabilities 168 114 121 82 88 88

Trade paybles 331 202 275 153 134 134
Public fees payable 74 53 62 65 39 39
Tax payable 28 31 22 33 4 4
Other current liabilities 396 178 303 141 172 172
Total current liabilities 829 465 662 392 349 349

Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 0 0 0 8 0 0

Total current liabilities 997 580 783 482 437 437

Total equity and liabilities 2 948 2 150 2 484 1 623 1 362 1 361

In NOK millions

As of
30 September

As of 
31 December

2018 2017 2017 2016 2015 2015
Condensed Condensed Condensed Condensed Condensed Condensed
 (unaudited)  (unaudited)  (audited)  (audited)  (restated)  (audited)

Profit/loss before tax 54 98 144 89 9 7
Net cash flow from operating activities - continuing operations -44 -28 133 129 26 34

Net cash flow from operating activities - discontinued operations 0 0 0 18 8 0

Net cash flow from operating activities -44 -28 133 147 34 34

Net cash flow from investing activities - continuing operations -145 -218 -247 -89 -241 249

Net cash flow from investing activities - discontinued operations 5 4 4 21 -8 0

Net cash flow from investing activities -140 -214 -243 -68 -249 249

Net cash flow from financing activities - continuing operations -21 128 92 93 420 414

Net cash flow from financing activities - discontinued operations 0 0 0 0 -6 0

Net cash flow from financing activities -21 128 92 93 414 414

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -206 -114 -18 172 199 199
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 408 418 418 258 52 52
Currency translation differences -14 4 9 -12 7 7
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 189 308 409 418 258 258

In NOK millions

Nine months ended
30 September

Year ended
31 December
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 Statement of changes in equity 

 

10.2 Operating and financial review  

 Overview and introduction  
Several acquisitions were completed by the Group during 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 which significantly 
affected the Group's accounts. Further information on these acquisitions is provided below.  
 
Discontinued operations in 2015, 2016 and 2017 are related to the sale of the former Geo business. Refer to 
comments to financial year ended 31 December 2016 below.  
 
Section 10.1 "Historical financial accounts" presents historical numbers for the Group. Pro forma financial 
information in Section 11 "Pro Forma Financial Information" has been compiled based on historical financial 
information for 2017 by combining the operations of the Group and the Acquired Entities as if the Acquisition 
was completed on 1 January 2017. The pro forma operating profit for 2017 for the NRC Group would therefore 
amount to NOK 207 million. Estimated Acquisition expenses comprising transaction expenses and stamp duty, 
of NOK 57 million, are accounted for in the pro forma operating profit. Operating profit prior to the Acquisition 
expenses would have been NOK 264 million.  Total depreciation and amortization expenses amounted to NOK 
209 million.  Pro forma EBITDA would have amounted to NOK 416 million and EBITDA before Acquisition 
expenses would have been NOK 473 million. For further information on the pro forma accounts, including any 
assumptions and adjustments, see Section 11 "Pro Forma Financial Information". 

 Recent trends  
Revenue for the first three quarters of 2018 increased by 30% from the same period in 2017. This reflects both  
organic growth and growth through acquisitions. The own order back log increased from NOK 1,968 million at 
30 September 2017 to NOK 2,802 million at 30 September 2018. In addition, the relative part of the order back 
log (without any intercompany eliminations) in joint ventures/ associated companies increased from NOK 449 

In NOK millions
Share capital

Treasury 
shares

Other paid in 
capital

Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings Total

Non- Controlling 
interests Total equity

Equity at 1 January 2015 10 -2 98 -24 -7 75 75

Profit/loss for the period 46 46 46

Other comprehensive income for the period 28 0 28 28

Increase share capital 25 543 568 568

Sale of  treasury shares 1 9 10 10

Total changes in equity 25 1 543 28 55 652 652

Equity at 31 December 2015 (restated) 35 -1 641 4 48 727 727

Equity at 1 January 2016 35 -1 641 4 48 727 727

Profit/loss for the period  57 57 57

Other comprehensive income for the period  -23 -5 -28 -28

Increase share capital 4 247 251 251

Sale of  treasury shares 1 7 7 7

Total changes in equity 4 1 247 -23 58 287 287

Equity at 31 December 2016 (audited) 39 0 888 -19 106 1 014 1 014

Equity at 1 January 2017 39 0 888 -19 106 1 014 1 014

Profit/loss for the period 156 156 156

Other comprehensive income for the period 33 33 32

Reallocation -112 112 0 0

Increase share capital 3  206   209 209

Costs related to capital increase -1 -1 -1

Share-based payments 1 1 1

Dividend paid -32 -32 -31

Acquisition and sale of treasury shares 0 -23 0 -23 -23

Total changes in equity 3 0 39 33 268 343 343

Equity at 31 December 2017 (audited) 42 0 927 14 374 1 357 1 357

Equity at 1 January 2017 39 0 888 -19 106 1 014 1 014

Profit/loss for the period 68 68 68

Other comprehensive income for the period 16 16 16

Reallocation -113 113 0 0

Increase share capital 3  174   177 177

Dividend paid -31 -31 -31

Acquisition and sale of treasury shares 0  -11 -11 -11

Total changes in equity 3 0 30 16 170 218 218

Equity at 30 September 2017 (unaudited) 42 0 918 -3 275 1 232 1 232

Equity at 1 January 2018 42 0 927 14 374 1 357 1 357

Profit/loss for the period 52 52 0 53

Other comprehensive income for the period -54 -54 -54

IFRS 15 implementation effect 1 1 1

Increase share capital 1 126 127 127

Costs related to capital increase 0 0 0

Dividend paid -73 -73 -73

Share-based payments 1 1 1

Non-controlling interests 0 2 2

Aquisition and sale of treasury shares 0 29 30 30

Total changes in equity 1 0 82 -54 53 83 2 85

Equity at 30 September 2018 (unaudited) 43 0 1 010 -40 428 1 440 2 1 443
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million at 30 September 2017 to NOK 551 million at 30 September 2018. The positive investment outlook for 
the Nordic railway and other transport infrastructure is supported by strong macro trends and political 
commitment. The approved NTP in both Norway and Sweden provides better visibility and confirms the 
commitment to increased railway spending and a shift towards larger projects. 
 
The Company acknowledges that its success going forward partly rests on utilizing inherent synergies through 
operational integration and alignment of acquired businesses while simultaneously ensuring that its business is 
focused on project execution. The Group continues to be uniquely positioned to benefit from the strong macro 
outlook and is committed to its strategy of consolidating the market and delivering solid organic growth in the 
coming years. 
 
The size and focus of the Company has enabled access to capital, facilitating for its acquisitions. It is the 
Company’s belief that it needs to maintain this trust in the capital markets going forward. Delivering results 
through solid project execution has been vital to this success. 
 
To strengthen the Group's Norwegian operations and broaden the Group's overall capabilities as a turnkey 
contractor, the Group acquired Gunnar Knutsen AS and NSS Holding AS during September 2018, including 
100% ownership of Norsk Saneringsservice AS and 70% ownership of Miljøvakta AS. Construction and 
infrastructure development is associated with major climate and environmental responsibility. There is a clear 
trend of increased regulations and expectations from the authorities related to sustainability and environmental 
impact. The same trend is reflected among customers and other stakeholders, which has led to a greater 
importance of environmental and safety considerations in tendering processes. Having in-house competence 
and capacity to provide a full range of services, from planning and project management to the actual physical 
work of decommissioning, remediation and waste logistics, strengthens the Group’s competitive position.  
 
On 11 October 2018, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire VR Track, a Finnish company in the VR 
Group engaged in railway construction, maintenance services and design, with operations in Finland and 
Sweden. Completion of the Acquisition is expected in early January 2019.  Combining the Group and VR Track 
will create the largest specialized rail infrastructure group in the Nordic region, with strong capabilities across 
the entire railway value chain and leading positions in the attractive Norwegian, Swedish and Finnish markets.  
 
The Norwegian national budget proposal confirmed political support for strengthening the railway sector with a 
record NOK 26.4 billion spending allocated to this sector for 2019, an increase of 12.4% from 2018. However, 
proposed spending on investment, maintenance and renewal is lower than the average levels outlined in the 
2018-2029 National Transport Plan for a second consecutive year. The maintenance backlog has also been 
adjusted upwards. These are factors that indicate continued growth in railway infrastructure investments and 
activity in the coming years. The overall tendering activity in Norway is high. 
 
Bane NOR announced that it will create a 100% owned railway operation and maintenance unit with 
approximately 1,000 employees, operative from the first half of 2019. The move is a preparation for the 
upcoming privatization of long-term operations and maintenance contracts in Norway. Additional details on the 
process is expected in December. NRC Group is uniquely positioned for this expansion of the Norwegian market 
with its full-service capabilities and ability to leverage a leading maintenance position in Sweden and Finland 
following completion of the Acquisition. 
 
The Swedish Government approved the National Transport Plan in June, confirming a 20% increase in 
investments to develop new railway infrastructure and a 47% growth in maintenance and renewal spending for 
the new planned period compared to the previous NTP. The 2019 Swedish budget proposal has not yet been 
made public following the general elections in September. Overall tendering activity in Sweden is high. 

 Three-month and nine-month financial period ended 30 September 2018 
 
During September 2018, the Group acquired Gunnar Knutsen AS and NSS Holding AS including 100% 
ownership in Norsk Saneringsservice AS ("NSS") and 70% ownership of Miljøvakta AS. 
 
Income statement 
Third-quarter revenue in 2018 was NOK 851 million, compared to NOK 776 million in the same period in 2017, 
a 10% increase. Revenues for the nine-month financial period ended 30 September 2018 amounted to NOK 
2,206 million, compared to NOK 1,699 million for the same period in 2017, an increase of 30%. The growth is 
both organic and through acquisitions.  
 
EBITDA excluding M&A expenses was NOK 72 million, compared to NOK 113 million in the third quarter of 
2017. The Group's M&A activities in the last quarter were high, including the Acquisition. Incurred M&A 
expenses in the last quarter amounted to NOK 14 million. EBITDA excluding M&A costs for the nine months 
amounted to NOK 139 million compared to 164 million in the same period of 2017.   
 
Performance of SBB in Sweden in 2018 impacted the Group's profitability negatively. SBB, which was acquired 
in July 2017, has performed poorly over a period of time. To improve financial performance, new projects were 
assigned to NRC Sweden from the first quarter of 2018. At the end of August 2018, SBB's managing director 
was replaced. Management subsequently took several actions, including a close review of the cost estimates 
and the remaining production of the project portfolio. Based on the review, several cost estimates were 
amended, leading to an EBITDA of NOK -18 million for SBB in the third quarter of 2018. The accumulated 
EBITDA for SBB as per the third quarter is NOK -30 million. The remaining part of the intangible assets relating 
to customer relations in SBB were impaired and written down by NOK 6 million to zero in the third quarter, 
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leading to a negative EBIT for SBB for the quarter of NOK 27 million. The negative development of SBB has 
significantly impacted the Group's net income for 2018.  
 
The remaining operations in Sweden have performed satisfactorily even though the revenues and profit were 
substantially lower than the same quarter last year. Last year, the Swedish operation had a track removal 
project with very high production (approximately NOK 200 million) in the third quarter. There are no such 
projects in the 2018 portfolio as there has only been one such project in the market. The Group expects 
tenders in the market for five track removal projects in 2019.  
 
Furthermore, the weakening of the SEK versus the NOK, of about 6% for the quarter, has negatively affected 
the consolidated profit in the Norwegian kroner compared with the consolidated profit in 2017. 
 
The Norwegian operation has continued strong growth with a 65% revenue increase versus the same quarter 
last year. At the same time, the EBITDA margin has increased from 7.3% in the third quarter of 2017 to 10.7% 
in the third quarter of 2018. Production performance was strong and several new experienced employees have 
been recruited. 
 
Based on the positive performance in Norway and the acquisition made during the third quarter, the Group has 
capitalised the remaining part of the previously non-capitalised deferred tax assets of NOK 15 million, leaving a 
net tax income of NOK 6 million for the quarter. 
 
Financial position  
 
Total assets amounted to NOK 2,948 million at the end of September 2018 compared to 2,150 million in the 
same period of 2017. The increase is related to the acquisition of Fibertech AS in the fourth quarter of 2017 in 
addition to NSS Holding AS and Gunnar Knutsen AS in the third quarter of 2018 as well as the effect of organic 
growth. Total interest-bearing debt increased in the same period from NOK 433 million to NOK 635 million.  The 
increase is due to new acquisition financing, net of instalments and the net effect of the new financial lease 
agreement including financial lease agreements in the acquired businesses.  
 
Total increase in shareholder equity for 2018 mainly consists of net income for the period of NOK 53 million and 
a capital increase based on consideration shares (including treasury shares) of NOK 157 million, reduced by a 
dividend of NOK 73 million and a currency exchange translation loss (as part of other comprehensive income) 
due to the weakening SEK compared to NOK which is NOK 54 million.   
 
Cash flow  
 
Net cash flow from operating activities for the third quarter of 2018 was NOK 3 million (NOK 33 million) which 
includes an increase in net working capital due to seasonal variations and a cut off between quarter three and 
quarter four, as the end of the month and due date for significant contractual payments from customers were 
on a Sunday. Payments from customers for the first days of October amounted to approximately NOK 60 
million. Year to date the operating cash flow for 2018 was -44 million compared to -28 million in 2017. Due to 
seasonal variations the operating cash flows increase towards the end of the year.  The operating cash flow for 
the 4th quarter of 2017 amounted to NOK 160 million. 
 
Net cash flow from investing activities for the third quarter of 2018 was NOK -138 million (NOK -138 million) 
including the net of cash amount of the acquisitions of NSS Holding AS and Gunnar Knudsen AS of NOK 156 
million and a net repayment from the sellers of SBB of NOK 17 million.  
 
Net cash flow from financing activities for the third quarter of 2018 was NOK 102 million (NOK 151 million), 
which includes proceeds from borrowings related to the acquisitions of NOK 145 million, repayment of 
borrowings and payment of lease liabilities. 
 
The cash position at 30 September 2018 was NOK 189 million.   

 Financial year ended 31 December 2017 

 
In 2017 the Group acquired HAG Anlegg AS in the second quarter, SBB AB and ALTi Bygg og Anlegg AS in te 
third quarter and Fibertech AS in the fourth quarter. 
 
Income statement  
Group revenue amounted to NOK 2,373 million, an increase of 20% from 2016. Consolidated revenues from the 
acquired businesses amounted to NOK 370 million from the respective date of the acquisitions. Total order 
backlog increased from NOK 1,402 million at the end of 2016 to NOK 2,408 million at the end of 2017.   
 
EBITDA for 2017 amounted to NOK 229 million (9.7%) compared to NOK 152 million (7.7%) in 2016.  
 
Discontinued operations amounted to NOK -7 million in 2017 and -10 million in 2016. Discontinued operations 
are related to the divestment of the Geo segment.   
 
Profit before tax increased from NOK 89 million in 2016 to NOK 144 million in 2017.  NOK 29 million of the 
increase is derived from acquired operations.   
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The Group had a net tax income of NOK 19 million due to capitalization of benefits related to deferred tax 
assets, increasing the capitalized deferred tax assets from NOK 31 million at the end of 2016 to NOK 70 million 
in 2017.      
 
Net profit for the year amounted to NOK 156 million compared to NOK 57 million for 2016, an increase of NOK 
99 million. Approximately 23 million of the increase is from acquired businesses.  Earnings per share for 
continuing operations in 2017 amounted to NOK 4.04 compared to NOK 1.91 in 2016. 
 
Financial position 
Total assets at year end amounted to NOK 2,484 million compared to 1,623 million in 2016.  A significant part 
of the increase was related to the acquisitions referred to above.  
 
Intangible assets increased by NOK 416 million during 2017. NOK 351 million relates to goodwill from the 
purchase price allocation of the acquired business. In addition, other intangible assets related to customer 
relationships and order backlog amounted to NOK 36 million. Deferred tax assets increased by NOK 39 million 
based on increased capitalization in Norway.   
 
Fixed assets increased by NOK 134 million during 2017. Fixed assets in acquired businesses amounted to NOK 
51 million. The remaining increase is related to capital expenditures net of depreciations. The largest individual 
investment was a new tamping machine received and ready for operation in March 2017. Its total purchase 
price was NOK 56 million (EUR 6.2 million). 
 
The Company issued 3,574,498 shares in 2017 as part of the consideration for the acquisitions completed in 
2017, amounting to total increased equity of NOK 209 million.  Total comprehensive net income for 2017 
amounted to NOK 189 million. The paid dividend for 2016 amounted to NOK 32 million (NOK 0.80 per share).  
In addition, the net purchase of treasury shares amounted to NOK 23 million, resulting in a total net equity 
increase of NOK 343 million.   
 
Net interest-bearing debt increased by NOK 245 million from NOK 193 million in 2016 to NOK 438 million in 
2017.  Net proceeds from new borrowings due to acquisitions amounted to NOK 180 million.  The remaining 
items mainly related to the net effect of new financial lease agreements.    
  
Cash flow  
Cash from operating activities was NOK 133 million in 2017 compared to NOK 129 million in 2016 from 
continuing operations.  The increase is less than the increase in income before taxes mainly due to increased 
capital tie-up to business growth. Net cash flow from discontinuing operations in 2016 amounted to NOK 18 
million. 
 
Net cash from investing activities amounted to NOK 243 million in 2017.  Total cash proceeds for the four 
acquisitions completed in 2017 amounted to NOK 262 million.  Net cash in targets amounted to NOK 45 million. 
Payment for acquisitions net of cash amounted to NOK 217 million. Net cash payment for fixed asset 
investments amounted to NOK 35 million. 
 
Net cash from financing activities amounted to NOK 92 million in 2017 compared to NOK 93 million in 2016. 
Proceeds from new borrowings amounted to NOK 231 million in 2017.  Repayment of borrowings and payment 
of financial leases amounted to a total of NOK 84 million and payment for dividend and treasury shares 
amounted to NOK 57 million. 
 
Cash at 2017 yearend amounted to NOK 409 million compared to NOK 418 million in 2016. 

 Financial year ended 31 December 2016 

 
During 2016, the Group made a decision to divest most of its former Geo businesses and acquire Gravco AS 
and NRC RailCap AS.   
 
Income statement  
Revenues for 2016 amounted to NOK 1,975 million compared to NOK 678 million in 2015. 2016 was the first 
full year of operations after the 2015-acquisitions in Sweden of the rail construction specialists Järnvëgsteknik 
AB, Elektrobygnad AB and Litz Entreprenad AB and the civil contractor Segermo AB. The growth was partly due 
to the acquired business but the Group also achieved an organic growth of 59%.   
 
Operating profit increased from NOK 14 million in 2015 to 99 million in 2016 due to increased activity and 
successful combination of the acquired businesses.  
 
Net financial expense increased from NOK 5 million in 2015 to NOK 10 million in 2016, mainly due to the 
acquisition financing in 2015 that had full effect in 2016.   
 
During 2016 the Group divested most of its former Geo businesses and the remaining Geo business was 
reported as discontinued operations from 2016. Comparable numbers for 2015 were re-presented in 
accordance with IFRS, see section 10.1.2 "Historical figures for the financial year 201" above. Net loss related 
to the discontinued operations amounted to NOK 10 million in 2016 and NOK 6 million in 2015.  
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Financial position  
Intangible assets amounted to NOK 632 million at yearend 2016, an increase of NOK 16 million from the 
preceding year. Goodwill increased with NOK 56 million, deriving mainly from the acquisitions of Gravco and 
NRC RailCap. Deferred tax assets reduced with NOK 12 million. Other intangible assets reduced with NOK 27 
million, mainly due to amortisations.  
 
Total additions and acquisitions of tangible assets amounted to NOK 98 million. Net of depreciations and 
disposals, tangible assets increased from NOK 121 yearend 2015 to NOK 144 million yearend 2016. Most 
additions relate to machinery and cars.  
 
Total receivables increased from NOK 359 million at the end of 2015 to NOK 413 million at the end of 2016, 
mainly due to increased activity levels. 
 
Cash increased by NOK 172 million to NOK 418 million in 2016.  
 
Cash flow  
Net cash increased by NOK 172 million to NOK 418 million in 2016.  
The Group had a cash flow from operating activities of NOK 147 million, including 18 million from discontinued 
operations. Despite the significant increase in activity, the Group achieved only smaller changes to the working 
capital. Consequently, the net cash flow mainly consists of the pre-tax income of NOK 89 million adjusted for 
depreciation and amortisation of NOK 53 million.   
 
The net cash flow from investing activities amounted to NOK 68 million. Payments for fixed assets amounted to 
NOK 52 million. As most of the fixed assets are purchased by financial lease with no cash flow effect, the 
payments mainly relate to two instalments for the new tamping machine delivered in 2017, aggregating 2/3 of 
the purchase price of EUR 6.2 million. The net cash settlement (net of cash in target) for the acquisition of 
RailCap and Gravco amounted to NOK 42 million.  Net proceeds from discontinued operations amounted to NOK 
21 million.    
  
Net cash from financing activities amounted to NOK 93 million, consisting of a private placement that generated 
net cash of NOK 202 million, sale of treasury shares of NOK 4 million and net repayment of loans amounting to 
NOK 113 million.  
 
At 31 December 2016, NOK 12 million of the cash was restricted in connection with payroll withholding taxes.  

 Financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
Overview  
During 2016 the Group divested most of its former Geo businesses and consequently the remaining Geo 
business was reported as discontinued operations from 2016 as a separate line in the statement of 
comprehensive income. In accordance with IFRS, comparable numbers for 2015 were re-presented accordingly. 
The re-presented amounts are the basis for comments in the Prospectus.  
 
The purchase price allocation for acquisitions completed in 2015 were corrected in the 2016 annual accounts in 
accordance with IAS 8. The restated 2015 annual accounts include an increased amortisation of intangible 
assets of NOK 3 million. For the purpose of the Prospectus, historical numbers for 2015 are those being 
restated in the 2016 annual accounts. See Section 10.1.2 Re-presented and restated figures.  
 
Income statement 
Following the merger with NRC Rail Norge in April and the acquisitions of Svensk Järnvägsteknik AB in May and 
Litz Entreprenad AB, Elektrobyggnad AB and Segermo Entreprenad AB in November, 2015 was the first year 
with activities in the rail segment. Given that Geo was considered discontinued, total revenue of NOK 678 
relates only to rail.  
 
Net operating profit amounted to NOK 14 million in respect of the continuing business only. Net financial 
expenses amounted to NOK 5 million related to acquisition financing.   
 
The historical Geo business had incurred significant deferred tax assets related to tax losses carried forward, 
not being capitalised.  The basis for utilising those losses changed significantly as the acquired business was 
profitmaking and taxable.  Based on this, a new assessment of the deferred tax asset was made, resulting in a 
net tax income for 2015 of NOK 43 million.   
 
Net loss from discontinued operations amounted to NOK 6 million.  
 
Financial position 
Total intangible assets increased from zero to NOK 616 million at the end of 2015. Goodwill amounted to NOK 
521 million and related to the different business combinations taking place.   
 
Tangible assets increased from NOK 20 million by the end of 2014 to NOK 121 million at the end of 2015.  The 
increase of NOK 101 million relates predominately to the acquisitions.   
 
Total receivables increased from NOK 67 million in 2014 to NOK 359 million in 2015, mainly due to the business 
combinations.   
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Cash increased from NOK 51 million at the end of 2014 to NOK 258 million at the end of 2015. The currency 
split of the cash (translated to NOK at the translation rate per 31.12) was NOK 121 million in SEK, NOK 119 
million in GBP, NOK 5 million in EUR, NOK 8 million and NOK 5 million in other currencies. See further 
comments in relation to cash flow below.   
 
Total equity increased from NOK 75 million in 2014 to NOK 727 million in 2015. The main change is a total 
capital increase of NOK 568.  The net cash proceeds amounted to NOK 279 million. The remaining amount was 
issuing shares for acquisitions.    
 
New long-term interest-bearing debt of NOK 162 million and short term of NOK 79 million at the end of 2015 
relates to acquisition financing.   
 
Total current liabilities increased from NOK 64 million at the end of 2014 to NOK 349 million at the end of 2015. 
The change relates to the business combinations.   
 
Cash flow 
Cash increased from NOK 51 million at the end of 2014 to NOK 258 million at the end of 2015.   
 
Cash flows from operating activities were NOK 34 million from which NOK 8 million relate to discontinued 
operations.  Cash from continuing operations mainly consists of the pre-tax income of NOK 9 million adjusted 
for depreciation and amortisation of NOK 18 million.  
 
Net cash outflow for investing activities amounts to NOK 249 million.  NOK 240 million relates to the net cash 
(net of cash in target) consideration for the acquired businesses of SJT, Litz, Elektrobygnad and Segermo. 
Investments in fixed assets amounted to NOK 12 million and proceeds from the sale of investments amounted 
to NOK 11 million.  Net cash outflow from discontinued operations amounted to NOK 8 million.    
 
Net cash inflow from financing activities amounted to NOK 414 million. Proceeds from borrowings for the 
acquisitions amounted to NOK 179 million.  Repayment of loans amounted to NOK 48 million.  Cash from 
capital increases amounted to NOK 279 million. Proceeds from the sale of treasury shares amounted to NOK 10 
million and the net outflow of cash related to discontinued operations amounted to NOK 6 million.   
 
At 31 December 2015, NOK 12 million of the cash was restricted in connection with payroll withholding taxes. 

 Segment information  
During 2016 the Group divested its former geo division and any remaining geo activities were presented as 
discontinued operations. The rail division was therefore considered the only remaining segment of the Group 
and separate segment information was not presented in the annual accounts.  
 
During 2017 the Group was organized in business units based on geographical areas. The Group is a contractor 
within infrastructure related to public transportation in Norway and Sweden.  
 
The Group is a supplier of all rail, harbour and road related infrastructure services, including groundwork, 
specialized track work, safety, electro, telecom and signalling systems. As all these products are related to 
infrastructure services, none are considered as separate reportable segments. Segments are reported in the 
same manner as internal financial reporting, to the Group’s highest decision-maker. Executive management, 
being those persons that are responsible for the allocation of resources, and the assessment of earnings, in the 
operating segments, is defined as the CEO and the Board of Directors.  
 
The Group has two geographical operating segments, Norway and Sweden. Comparable numbers for 2016 have 
been restated.  
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10.3 Investments 

 Planned future investments  
In Norway and Sweden the Group expects to invest in similar types of assets as it has done historically (see 
below), both in respect of fixed assets and additional acquisitions. These investments are expected to be 
geographically distributed amongst both Sweden and Norway. The Group has agreed to invest in a new tamping 
machine in Norway. Time of delivery is 2020.  The purchase price is approximately NOK 71 million. The 
purchase is 100% financed through a financial lease with payment terms over 10 years from delivery. A 
prepayment of NOK 15 million is paid and financed by the finance lease agreement.    
 
Based on the acquisition of VR Track Group there will be opportunities to utilize some of the machinery across 
borders to reduce future capital expenditures in Sweden and Norway.   
 
Other than the above, the Company has not made any firm commitments to investments considered to be 
significant as of the date of this Prospectus.  

 Ongoing investments 
On 11 October 2018, the Company entered into an agreement for the acquisition of VR Track, a Finnish 
company in the VR Group engaged in the business of railway construction, maintenance services and design, 
with operations in Finland and Sweden. The purchase price is based on an Enterprise Value of VR Track of EUR 
225 million on a cash and debt free basis with a normalized working capital. 65% of the purchase price is to be 
paid in cash while the remaining 35% of the purchase price is to be satisfied through the issue of 9,877,953 
consideration shares of the Company based on an agreed price per share of NOK 75.31. The share price 
represents the volume weighted average price of each Share on Oslo Børs during the last thirty trading days 
prior to signing of the Acquisition Agreement. The cash portion of the purchase price will be fully financed by a 
new bank debt facility and available cash. From completion of the Acquisition, VR Group will obtain an 
ownership in the NRC Group representing approximately 18% of the total number of issued shares of the NRC 
Group following completion of the Acquisition. 
 
Completion of the Acquisition is conditional upon certain regulatory approvals in Finland and certain other 
customary closing conditions. Closing of the Acquisition is expected to take place in early January 2019, subject 
to satisfaction of the closing conditions. 
 
Other than the ongoing investments described above, the Group has no other ongoing investments other than 
those investments in the ordinary course of business, of which none are deemed to be material investments. 

2018 2017 2018 2017 2017 2016
(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (audited) (audited)

Total revenue

Norway 421 255 968 552 771 604
Sweden 433 525 1 247 1 153 1 613 1 371
Parent, holding companies and eliminations -3 -3 -9 -6 -11 0

Operating profit/loss before depr. and amort. (EBITDA)

Norway 45 19 69 23 40 13
Sweden 32 96 86 157 219 174
Parent, holding companies and eliminations -19 -4 -30 -20 -30 -35

Operating profit/loss before amort. (EBITA)

Norway 36 13 47 8 18 3
Sweden 23 89 63 141 196 160
Parent, holding companies and eliminations -19 -4 -30 -20 -30 -35

Operating profit/loss (EBIT)

Norway 32 8 35 -2 2 -2
Sweden 17 84 55 125 177 136
Parent, holding companies and eliminations -19 -4 -30 -20 -30 -35

Total assets

Norway 1 679 827 1 679 827 927 474
Sweden 1 028 1 160 1 028 1 160 1 100 880
Parent, holding companies and eliminations 241 164 241 164 457 269

Total liabilities

Norway 691 321 691 321 418 211
Sweden 467 541 467 541 470 363
Parent, holding companies and eliminations 346 58 346 58 239 36

Three months ended 
30 September

Nine months ended 
30 September

Year ended 
31 December

In NOK millions
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 Historical investments 
Overview investments 
The table below sets out investments made in 2015, 2016, 2017 and in the nine-month period ended 30 
September 2018  
 

 
 
Investments in tangible fixed assets include financial lease assets. For further information on the Group's 
machinery and equipment, see Section 6.6.3 "Machinery and equipment".  
 
Investments in intangible fixed assets mainly relate to the acquired businesses. For further information on the 
Group's subsidiaries, legal structure and the Group's historical acquisitions, see Section 6.3 "Legal structure" 
and Section 6.4 "Historical background and company development".  
 
Material investments made year to date 2018 
 
The acquisition of NSS Holding AS 
On 14 August 2018, the Group agreed to acquire NSS Holding AS, the sole shareholder of the demolition and 
environmental remediation company Norsk Saneringsservice AS and the owner of 70% of the shares of 
Miljøvakta AS. On 11 September 2018, the Group completed the transaction for an estimated net settlement of 
NOK 118 million based on an Enterprise Value of NOK 103 million on a cash and debt free basis with a 
normalized working capital.  
 
The acquisition of NSS Holding was financed 50% by cash and 50% by issuance of 850,745 new shares in the 
Group at a fixed price of NOK 66.10 per share (NOK 56 million). The fair value for each Share on the 
transaction day was NOK 75.47, leaving a fair value adjustment of the consideration of NOK 8 million.  
 
The shares are subject to a lock-up, such that 1/3 of the shares are subject to a lock-up period of 24 months 
and the remaining for 36 months.  
 
The acquisition of NSS Holding AS resulted in an estimated preliminary goodwill of NOK 77 million. Goodwill is 
related to the fair value of expected synergies arising from the organisation’s competence within project - and 
site management as well as decommissioning, remediation and waste logistics. The acquisition will strengthen 
the Group’s overall capabilities, enabling the Group to undertake larger, more complex and simultaneous 
projects. 
 
Intangible assets related to the acquisition of NSS Holding AS include customer contracts and customer 
relations acquired through the business combination, estimated to be NOK 18 million. They are recognized at 
their fair value on the date of acquisition and are subsequently amortised according to the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful life. The preliminary allocation of the purchase price resulted in a change in the fair 
value provision of NOK 2 million related to contract guarantees, included as other current liabilities. 
 
The Enterprise Value is based on a consolidated estimated average EBIT for 2018 and 2019 of NOK 20 million. 
The seller has guaranteed an average EBIT at this level and any deviation will result in a subsequent 
adjustment to the final purchase price. 
 
The preliminary purchase price allocation (PPA) prepared in connection with the acquisition of NSS Holding AS 
is included in the Group’s Interim Financial Statements for the three and nine-months ending 30 September 
2018, incorporated by reference in the Prospectus (see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference").  
 
 
 

2018 2017 2016 2015
 (unaudited)  (audited)  (audited)  (restated)

Investments in tangible fixed assets
Buildings 0 10 7 38
Property, plant and equipment 167 171 91 91
Total investments in tangible fixed assets 167 181 98 129

Investments in intangible fixed assets
Investments in goodwill 220 351 97 482
Other intangible assets 37 36 6 56
Total investments in intangible fixes 
assets 257 387 103 538

Total investments in fixed assets 424 568 201 667

Year ended
31 December

In NOK millions

Nine months 
ended

30 September
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The acquisition of Gunnar Knutsen AS 
On 30 August 2018, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire Gunnar Knutsen AS. The acquisition was 
completed on 28 September 2018 for an estimated net settlement of NOK 208 million based on an Enterprise 
Value of NOK 199 million on a cash and debt free basis with a normalized working capital.    
 
The acquisition of Gunnar Knutsen AS was financed by 60% cash and 40% consideration shares by using 
405,000 own Company shares and issuing 847,677 new shares in the Group at a fixed price of NOK 68.92 per 
share (NOK 86 million). Fair value per Share on the transaction date was NOK 73.67, resulting in a fair value 
adjustment of the consideration of NOK 6 million. 
 
The shares are subject to a lock-up period, whereby 1/2 of the shares are subject to a lock-up period of 24 
months and the remaining for 36 months.  
 
The acquisition of Gunnar Knutsen AS resulted in an estimated goodwill of NOK 143 million. Goodwill is related 
to the fair value of expected synergies arising from the organisation’s competence within project - and site 
management as well as decommissioning, remediation and waste logistics. The acquisition will strengthen the 
Group’s overall capabilities, enabling the Group to undertake larger, more complex and simultaneous projects. 
 
Intangible assets related to the acquisition of Gunnar Knutsen AS include customer contracts and customer 
relations acquired through the business combination of NOK 19 million. They are recognized at their fair value 
at the date of acquisition and are subsequently amortised according to the straight-line method over their 
estimated useful life. The allocation of the purchase price resulted in a change in fair value of fixed assets of 
NOK 3 million and a provision of NOK 2 million related to contract guarantees, included as other current 
liabilities. 
 
The Enterprise Value is based on an aggregate EBIT for the second half of 2018 and the full year of 2019 of 
NOK 45 million. The seller has guaranteed an aggregate EBIT at this level and any deviation will result in a 
subsequent adjustment to the final purchase price. 
 
The preliminary PPA prepared in connection with the acquisition of GK is included in the Group’s Interim 
Financial Statements for the three and nine-months ending 30 September 2018, incorporated by reference in 
the Prospectus (see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference").  
 
Material investments made in 2017 
 
New Tamping Machine 
A new tamping machine was received and ready for operation in March 2017. Its total purchase price was NOK 
56 million (EUR 6.2 million). 
 
The acquisition of HAG Anlegg AS 
On 28 March 2017, the Company entered into an agreement for the acquisition of all of the shares of HAG 
Anlegg AS ("HAG") for a total consideration of NOK 108 million. HAG is a Norwegian company that carries out 
construction work and project-and site management within transport and infrastructure, specializing in surface 
work and concrete constructions.  
 
HAG was acquired by the Company’s subsidiary NRC Norge AS and the acquisition was completed on 7 April 
2017. The purchase price was settled by payment of NOK 63 million in cash on completion and the remaining 
NOK 45 million was settled by the issuance of 775,862 shares in the Company at a subscription price of NOK 58 
per Share. The Shares in the Company issued as consideration to the sellers of HAG are subject to a lock-up 
period, see Section 12.8 "Lock-up agreements".  
 
In connection with the transaction, the sellers of HAG guaranteed a minimum EBIT of NOK 15 million in 2017. 
No adjustments were made according to the guarantee.   
 
The PPA prepared in connection with the acquisition of HAG is included in the Group’s Annual Report for 2017, 
incorporated by reference to the Prospectus (see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference"). The PPA prepared 
in connection with the acquisition of HAG included goodwill of NOK 92 million. 
 
The acquisition of ALTi  
On 29 June 2017, the Company entered into agreement for the acquisition of all of the shares of ALTi. ALTi is a 
Norwegian company carrying out ground and construction work as well project- and site management within 
both the private and public sector. The transaction was completed on 6 July 2017.  
 
The total purchase price for ALTi was NOK 200 million which was settled by payment of NOK 100 million in cash 
on closing and the remaining NOK 100 million was settled by issuance of 1,724,137 shares in the Company at a 
price of NOK 58 per Share. The Shares in the Company issued as consideration to the sellers of ALTi are subject 
to a lock-up period, see Section 12.8 "Lock-up agreements".  
 
The PPA prepared in connection with the acquisition of ALTi is included in the Group’s Annual Report for 2017, 
incorporated by reference in the Prospectus (see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference"). The PPA resulted 
in goodwill of NOK 162 million.  
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The acquisition of SBB 
On 31 March 2017, the Company entered into a binding term sheet with shareholders of railway infrastructure 
and signal company, SBB, to acquire all outstanding shares in the company. The transaction was completed on 
10 July 2017.  
 
The Enterprise Value of SBB was set to SEK 115 million. Following pre-closing adjustments of actual level of 
cash, debt and deviation from normalized working capital on closing, the net settlement of the preliminary 
purchase price was NOK 122 million. The purchase price for SBB was settled by NOK 61 million in cash, NOK 33 
million by the issuance of 561,604 new shares in the Company at a subscription price of NOK 58 per share as 
well as settlement of loans and credits of approximately NOK 29 million. The consideration was subsequently 
adjusted by NOK 17 million and the difference has been repaid. The Shares of the Company issued as 
consideration to the sellers of SBB are subject to a lock-up period, see Section 12.8 "Lock-up agreements". 
 
The PPA prepared in connection with the acquisition of SBB is included in the Group’s Annual Report for 2017, 
incorporated by reference to the Prospectus (see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference"). The acquisition of 
SBB resulted in goodwill of NOK 48 million.  
 
The acquisition of Fibertech  
On 10 October 2017, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire all shares in the Norwegian 
infrastructure company Fibertech AS, for an Enterprise Value of NOK 62 million. The transaction was completed 
on 24 October 2017.  
 
Following pre-closing adjustments for cash, debt and working capital on closing, the total purchase price 
amounted to NOK 70 million. NOK 39 million was settled in cash, of which NOK 6 million was placed in escrow 
and the remaining NOK 31 million was settled by the issuance of 512,895 new Shares of the Company at a 
subscription price of NOK 61.50 per Share. The Shares of the Company issued as consideration to the sellers of 
Fibertech are subject to a lock-up period, see Section 12.8 "Lock-up agreements". 
 
The sellers of Fibertech have guaranteed a minimum EBIT for 2018 of NOK 12 million. This means that if the 
actual EBIT for 2018 is lower than NOK 12 million, the sellers of Fibertech will be liable to pay an amount equal 
to the shortfall. 
 
The preliminary PPA prepared in connection with the acquisition of Fibertech is included in the Group’s Annual 
Report for 2017, incorporated by reference in the Prospectus (see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference"). 
The acquisition of Fibertech resulted in an estimated goodwill of NOK 49 million.  
 
Material investments made in 2016 
 
The acquisition of NRC Railcap AS  
On 20 May 2016, the Company entered into an agreement for the acquisition of all outstanding shares of NRC 
RailCap AS (then named RailCap AS), a rail signalling specialist contractor in Norway, which carries out railway 
installations, test and commissioning, construction and design. The transaction was completed simultaneously 
to the signing of the acquisition agreement.  
 
All the issued shares of NRC RailCap AS were acquired by NRC Norge AS for a consideration of NOK 48 million 
as at 31 December 2015 and was financed by payment in cash of approximately NOK 29 million and by the 
issuance of 366,879 Shares of the Company at a subscription price of NOK 52.33. The Shares issued as 
consideration were subject to a lock-up period of 18 months starting from closing of the transaction.  
 
The sellers of NRC RailCap AS guaranteed a minimum EBT (earnings before tax) of NOK 6.1 million in 2016. A 
reduction of the purchase price of NOK 1.4 million was made due to this.  
 
The purchase price allocation for the acquisition of NRC Railcap AS resulted in goodwill in 2016 of NOK 46 
million.  
 
The acquisition of Gravco AS and Septik Tank Co AS 
On 7 November 2016, the Company entered into an agreement for the acquisition of all issued shares of the 
Norwegian companies Gravco AS and Septik Tank Co AS (together referred to as "Gravco"), water and 
wastewater entrepreneur in the Oslo area, and stated that it believed that the acquisition of Gravco would 
strengthen the Company’s position for projects related to the tram and metro systems in Oslo in connection 
with the upgrade starting from 2017. The transaction was completed on 1 December 2016.  
 
Gravco (both companies) were acquired for a total consideration of NOK 75 million. The acquisition was 
financed by payment of NOK 30 million in cash at closing, by issuance of 441,988 new Shares of the Company 
at a subscription price of NOK 67,875 per Share as well as NOK 15 million in seller’s credit.  
 
The seller of Gravco has guaranteed a minimum EBITDA in each of 2016 and 2017 of NOK 15 million. As at the 
date of the Prospectus, no adjustments have been made pursuant to this guarantee. 
 
The purchase price allocation in connection with the acquisition of Gravco resulted in goodwill in 2016 of NOK 
51 million.  
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Material investments made in 2015 
 
 
The acquisition of NRC Rail Norge  
On 23 April 2015, the Company (at that time named Blom ASA) entered into an agreement to combine its 
business with the rail business of NRC Rail (at that time named Team Bane AS) through the acquisition of all 
issued shares of NRC Rail's holding company, NRC Norge AS (at that time named Nordic Railway Construction 
Holding AS).  
 
The transaction was completed on 29 May 2015 as a share transaction with an exchange ratio of 50-50, where 
the Company as the acquiring entity issued 9,674,197 new Shares to the shareholders of NRC Rail. 
 
The purchase price allocation in connection with the acquisition of NRC Rail Norge resulted in goodwill in 2015 
of NOK 70 million.  
 
The acquisition of SJT 
On 7 May 2015, the combined Company, through NRC Norge AS, entered into an agreement to acquire all 
issued shares of SJT. SJT is a rail infrastructure contractor in Sweden. The acquisition set out to further build 
the Company’s railway infrastructure and geospatial business in Northern Europa.  
 
Total consideration for the acquisition of SJT amounted to approximately SEK 261 million and was settled on 
2 June 2015 through a combination of 2,891,139 new Shares of the Company with a share price of 
NOK 20.7530665 per Share, SEK 180 million in cash and a vendor note of approximately SEK 16 million. 
 
The purchase price allocation for the acquisition of SJT resulted in goodwill in 2015 of NOK 200 million.  
 
The acquisition of Litz 
On 22 June 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire all issued shares in the Swedish company 
Litz Entreprenad AB and its subsidiary Litz Installation AB ("Litz"), a rail certified specialist in all railway-related 
electric services such as signal and contact line – catenary and holds a strong position on the eastern region of 
Sweden. The Company believed that the acquisition of Litz, together with the acquisition of Elektrobyggnad 
(see below), would strengthen its Swedish Rail business by creating a full-service product offering in the 
Swedish market.  
 
The transaction was completed on 9 November 2015 for a purchase price of SEK 40 million. The consideration 
to the sellers of Litz was settled by a cash payment of SEK 16 million and by the issuance of 878,222 Shares of 
the Company with a share price of NOK 27. The new shares issued were subject to a lock-up provision of 18 
months.  
 
The purchase price allocation in connection with the acquisition resulted in goodwill in 2015 of NOK 24 million. 
 
In 2016, Litz was merged with NRC Sverige AB. 
 
The acquisition of Elektrobyggnad  
On 22 June 2015, the Group entered into an agreement to acquire all issued shares of Elektrobyggnad Sverige 
AB ("Elektrobyggnad"), a company specializing in the business of rail contact line. The Company believed that 
Elektrobyggnad, together with the acquisition of Litz (see above), would strengthen its Swedish Rail business by 
creating a full-service product offering in the Swedish market. The Company believes that such object has been 
achieved.  
 
The transaction was completed on 9 November 2015. The total purchase price for the acquisition was SEK 35 
million. The consideration to the seller was settled with SEK 11 million in cash and by the issuance of 718,545 
Shares in the Company with a share price of NOK 33.67. The new Shares issued to the seller of Elektrobyggnad 
were subject to a lock-up provision of 18 months.  
 
The purchase price allocation in connection with the acquisition resulted in goodwill in 2015 of NOK 27 million. 
 
Elektrobyggnad was merged with NRC Sverige AB in December 2017. 
 
The acquisition of Segermo 
On 9 November 2015, the Company entered into a binding agreement with Segermo Holding Aktiebolag to 
acquire all issued shares of Segermo Entreprenad Aktiebolag ("Segermo") for a total consideration of SEK 225 
million. At that time, Segermo was a rail groundwork contractor in Sweden, which carried out railway related 
groundwork, mainly working with passing tracks, channelling and platforms. The Company believed that 
Segermo would complement the Group’s Swedish business and establish the Group as a fully integrated full-
service rail road construction company in Sweden, also further strengthening the Group’s competitive position 
within the Swedish railway sector together with Elektrobyggnad and Litz.  
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The settlement for the acquisition was SEK 125 million in cash and the issuance of 2,480,250 Consideration 
Shares. The Consideration Shares were subject to a lock-up provision of 18 months from the closing date. 
 
The seller of Segermo guaranteed a minimum EBITDA of SEK 40 million in 2015 and 2016, however, no 
adjustments were made as the EBITDA requirement was satisfied. 
 
The purchase price allocation in connection with the acquisition resulted in goodwill in 2015 of NOK 161 million. 
 
Segermo was merged with NRC Sverige AB in December 2017.  

10.4 Capital resources  

 Overview  
The capital resources of the Group consist of equity from its shareholders, a debt facility agreement with 
Danske Bank, Norwegian Branch, financial leasing and bank overdraft facilities. As at 30 September 2018, the 
Group had an equity ratio of 49% and interest-bearing debt of NOK 635 million. As at 30 September 2018, the 
Group had overdraft facilities of NOK 200 million, which was not utilized. The overdraft facility was increased to 
NOK 300 million on 10 October 2018.  
 
As at 30 September 2018, the Group’s working capital assets consisted of trade receivables of NOK 727 million 
and other receivables of NOK 332 million, including, amongst others, contract assets. The Group’s working 
capital liabilities as at 30 September 2018 were NOK 829 million and consisted of payables to suppliers, unpaid 
government taxes and other current liabilities. The Group’s net working capital excluding cash and interest-
bearing debt as at 30 September 2018 was NOK 231 million. As at 30 September 2018, the Group had cash 
and cash equivalents of NOK 189 million and short-term interest-bearing debt of NOK 168 million.  
 
As at 30 September 2018, the maturity structure of the Group’s current and non-current interest-bearing debt 
is as follows: 
 

NOK millions 

30.09-31.12 

2018 

 

2019 

 

2020 

 

2021 

 

2022- 

Bank loans ...................................................... 21 85 85 197 0 
Financial leasing  .............................................. 18 68 72 52 37 
Total ............................................................. 39 153 157 249 37 

 Loan facility with Danske Bank  
As at September 2018, the Group has 6 term loans of a total of NOK 270 million and SEK 126 million. Two new 
loan agreements were entered into during September 2018 as part of the acquisition of Gunnar Knutsen AS and 
NSS Holding AS.  All loans include quarterly instalments with full payment on termination date. They have a 
three years termination date from the point of utilisation. The Group has an option to apply for extension of the 
termination date for each loan for another 1 + 1 year. Facility A, B, C and D are extended for one year at the 
date of the prospectus.  
 
Facility A, SEK 85 million (SEK 70 million per September 2018), was utilised on 27 March 2017 and has 
quarterly instalments of SEK 2.5 million. Facility B, NOK 60 million (NOK 45 million per September 2018), was 
utilised on 29 June 2017 and has quarterly instalments of NOK 3 million. Facility C, SEK 75 million (SEK 56 
million per September 2018), was utilised on 10 July 2017 and has quarterly instalments of SEK 3.75 million. 
Facility D, NOK 100 million (NOK 80 million per September 2018), was utilised on 29 September 2017 and has 
quarterly instalments of NOK 5 million. Facility E, NOK 58 million, was utilised on 14 September 2018 and has 
quarterly instalments of NOK 3 million. Facility F, NOK 87 million, was utilised on 28 September 2018 and has 
quarterly instalments of NOK 4 million. 
 
On 10 October 2018, two additional facilities were added to the agreement for financing the Acquisition. Facility 
G of EUR 89 million is expected to be utilised in early January 2019 and has quarterly instalments of EUR 3.18 
million. Its maturity date is 5 years from utilisation. The agreement includes an option to apply for 1 + 1 year 
extension. Facility H of NOK 550 million is expected to be utilised in early January 2019 and has no instalments. 
Its maturity date is 13 months from utilisation. The agreement includes an option to apply for a 5 month 
extension. A currency forward contract is signed with Danske Bank so that the net loan after expenses can be 
exchanged to EUR for a fixed amount of EUR 57 million.       
 
The term facility may be repaid, subject to certain conditions, prior to financial maturity at par value. The loans 
are also subject to certain mandatory prepayment conditions, including upon a change of control or disposal of 
material assets. 
 
The loans have been granted on market terms. Facility A to F are subject to an interest rate consisting of the 
standard interest rate benchmark for the relevant currency (3-months STIBOR or NIBOR) and a margin 
between 1.45 and 1.80%, depending on the level on the leverage ratio (net interest-bearing debt to adjusted 
EBITDA).  Following the acquisition of VR Track, the margin will become 1.80%. Facility G is subject to an 
interest rate of EURIBOR (minimum zero) and a margin between 1.70 and 2.05% depending on the leverage 
ratio. The margin will start at 2.05% when the leverage ratio is above 2.5. Facility H is subject to an interest 
rate of NIBOR and a margin between 1.50 and 2.50% depending on the length of the loan. The margin will 
start at 1.5% in the first 3 months, increase to 2.0% for the rest of the period. 
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The loans include covenant restrictions on interest cover ratio ≥3.0 (the ratio of EBITDA to net financial items 
of any relevant 12 month period), leverage ratio ≤3.0 except for 3.5 in two consecutive quarters at the choice 
of the Group (ratio of total net debt on the last day of that relevant period to adjusted EBITDA in respect of that 
relevant period), equity ratio > 30% (the ratio of the book value of the equity of the Group to book value of 
total assets of the Group, and book value of equity of minimum NOK 700 million before closing and NOK 1,650 
million after the closing of the Acquisition. The covenants are based on the loan agreement and not directly 
related to the IFRS reported numbers. 
 
As security for the loan agreement including the Group overdraft facility, trade receivables, inventory and fixed 
assets in each subsidiary are pledged with NOK 500 million each.  In addition, all shares in subsidiaries and 
intercompany loans are pledged with NOK 2,000 million. 
 
The new financing following the Acquisition will result in the following payment structure of instalments and 
interest amounts for all loans from Danske Bank:   
 

NOK 
millions  

30.09-31.12. 
2018 

01.01-31.03. 
2019 

01.04-30.06. 
2019 

01.07-30.09. 
2019 

01.10-31.12. 
2019 

01.01-30.06. 
2020 

01.07-31.12. 
2020 2021 2022 2023 

 
Instalments  

    
21  

    
51  

    
51  

    
51  

    
51  

    
652  

    
102  

    
317  

    
120  

    
361  

 Interests  
    

5  
    

18  
    

10  
    

11  
    

10  
    

13  
    

10  
    

14  
    

9  
    

6  

 
The payment structure assumes full payment at termination.  

 Financial leases  
In addition to the loan facility, the Group has several financial lease agreements. Most of these agreements 
follow frame agreements with a limited number of financial institutions. The Group has, as at the date of this 
Prospectus, three different frame-agreements related to new financial leases; 
(i) Nordea: Agreement signed on 20 March 2017. Total credit limit is NOK 30 million plus a separate 

agreement for the subsidiary Gravco with a credit limit of NOK 15 million. Interest based on 3-months 
NIBOR + 1.45%. Maximum lease period is 60 months. 

(ii) SG Finans: Agreement signed on 4 February 2018 and valid for 12 months. Total credit limit is NOK 15 
million. Interest based on 3-months NIBOR + 1.65%. Main lease period is 84 months.  

(iii) Danske Bank: Agreement signed on 3 July 2017. Total credit limit is NOK 15 million. Interest based on 
3-months NIBOR + 1.45%. Main lease period is 36-60 and maximum 84 months. 

 
Any new lease agreements exceeding the limits or with other counterparts are negotiated separately case by 
case.  
 
In addition to the above leases, the Company's management has identified leases in VR Track that for financial 
year 2017 were accounted for as operational leases, in accordance with FAS. These leases – car pool and lease 
of IT equipment – have been reclassified to financial leases in accordance with IAS 17, with about NOK 155 
million in assets held under the finance leases and with a corresponding amount as a financial lease liability. 
Short term liability is NOK 43 million and long liability part is NOK 113 million. 

 Operational leases  
As at 30 September 2018, the Group has the following undiscounted operating lease payments and total 
commitments:  
 

NOK millions 

30.09.18-
31.12.18 2019 2020 2021 2022-> Total 

Operating lease agreements, real estate 4 13 10 8 32 66 
Operating lease agreements, other 2 8 5 2 1 19 
Total lease commitment ......................... 6 21 15 10 33 85 

 Other off-balance sheet arrangements 
In connection with the sale of a property in Tønsberg in 2007, the Group (previously Blom ASA), guaranteed 
that Blom’s former subsidiary ScanRope AS (now Parker Norway AS) would pay its rent up to 21 August 2025. 
The lease agreement contains an option for an extension to 21 August 2030. The gross rent was NOK 12 million 
in 2016. The guarantee was given on a joint-and-several basis together with ScanRope Holding AS (now Parker 
Hannifin (Norway) Holdings AS). The assets of Parker Norway AS, including the lease agreement, was 
transferred to Bridon-Beakaert Scanrope AS in 2015. Following this transfer, Parker Norway AS is no longer a 
tenant under the lease agreement for the property in Tønsberg, and it is the opinion of the Group and its legal 
advisors, that the guarantee is no longer valid. This assessment has been disputed by the property owner. 
During 2016, Bridon-Bekaert Scanrope AS advertised that they would close its operations in Tønsberg. The 
Group has not received any request for payment under the guarantee. No accrual has been made for the 
guarantee in the consolidated financial accounts as at 30 September 2018 as it is the Groups' assessment that 
it is unlikely that the guarantee will result in outflow of resources from the Group.  
 
The Group has framework agreements with Tryg Garanti/ Tryg Forsikring A/S (utilised NOK 210 million out NOK 
250 million), Nordic Guarantee (utilised NOK 135 million out of NOK 200 million) and House of Guarantees AS 
(utilised 0 out of NOK 200 million). Guarantees are issued as collateral for the fulfilment of the Group’s 
contractual obligations. These could be based on contract performance, prepayments, warranty obligations, 
withholding taxes and similar. 
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10.5 Capitalisation and indebtedness 

The information presented below should be read in conjunction with the other parts of this Prospectus, in 
particular, the other sections in Section 10 "Financial Information" such as Section 10.3.2 "Ongoing 
investments", Section 11 "Pro Forma Financial Information", the Audited Annual Financial Statements for 2017 
of the Company and the Interim Financial Statements of the Company (see Section 16.3 "Incorporation by 
reference"). 
 
This Section provides information about the Group’s unaudited consolidated capitalisation and unaudited net 
financial indebtedness on an actual basis as at 30 September 2018 and, in the "As adjusted as of 30 September 
2018" column, the Group’s unaudited consolidated capitalisation and net financial indebtedness on an adjusted 
basis, to give effect to the Acquisition and the financing of this Acquisition as if the Acquisition had happened on 
30 September 2018. The acquisition of all issued shares of VR Track for a total consideration of EUR 225 million 
will be financed with EUR 89 million and NOK 550 million (exchanged to a fixed amount of EUR 57 million by a 
forward contract) settled by loan financing and from the Company’s cash, and EUR 79 million by a fixed number 
of 9,877,953 Consideration Shares. 
 
For the purpose of this chapter, the Acquisition and the issuance of the Consideration Shares are jointly 
referred to as the "Acquisition".  
 
As a result of the Acquisition, the Company’s share capital will be 53,904,223 Shares*, each with a par value of 
NOK 1.00 each. Other than as set forth as above, there has been no material change to the Group’s unaudited 
consolidated capitalisation and unaudited net financial indebtedness since 30 September 2018. 
 
*) Including 847,677 shares issued in relation to the acquisition of Gunnar Knudsen AS closed in Q3 2018, but 
where shares were registered first on 2 October 2018. 

a) Capitalisation of NRC Group ASA 
 

 
 

Notes to the Capitalisation table 

1 Secured debt NRC 

Bank loans of the Company (current part NOK 84 million and long term part NOK 304 million) amounting to 
NOK 388 million and an unused credit facility of NOK 200 million (increased to NOK 300 million in October 
2018) are secured by a pledge over shares in all of the Company's subsidiaries, other than Miljøvakta AS, 
amounting to NOK 500 million, receivables, inventory and operating equipment amounting, in each 
subsidiary, to NOK 500 million and material intra-group loans amounting to SEK 100 million. Financial lease 
liability amounting to NOK 247 million (of which NOK 84 million is current and NOK 163 million is non-current) 
is secured by way of the underlying assets for which the legal ownership is kept by the financial lease. Total 
book value of financial lease assets amounts to NOK 246 million. Following the Acquisition, the pledge over 
shares in subsidiaries of the Company, other than Miljøvakta AS, and intercompany loans will increase to NOK 
2,000 million.   

2 Non-controlling interests 
 
Non-controlling interests related to Miljøvakta AS of NOK 2 million in NRC is included as "other reserves".  
 
3 VR Track Group 

Adjustments related to the Acquisition are figures derived from the unaudited figures for VR Track's 
consolidated financial position, as of 30 September 2018.  In addition some adjustments have been made, see 
note 4 below. 

As of Adjustments Eliminations Adjustments Adjusted as of
30 September 2018 related to Acquisition related to Acquisition related to Acquisition financing 30 September 2018

Figures in NOK million (unaudited) (unaudited) 3 (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)

TOTAL CAPITALISATION

Total current debt 997 572 0 121 1 690

- Guaranteed 0 0 0 0 0
- Secured 168 1 19 4 0 121 6 309
- Unguaranteed/unsecured 829 553 0 0 1 382

Total non-current debt 509 127 0 1 279 1 915

- Guaranteed 0 0 0 0 0
- Secured 467 1 104 4 0 1 279                      6 1 849
- Unguaranteed/unsecured 42 23 0 0 65

Total shareholders' equity 1 443 579 5 -579 5 723 2 166

a. Share capital 43 159 5 -159 5 10 7 53
b. Legal reserve 0 0 0 0 0
c. Other reserves 1 400 2 420 5 -420 5 713 7 2 113

Total 2 949 1 278 -579 2 123 6 350
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4 Financial leasing VR Track Group 

VR Track Group follows Finnish Accounting Standards, however, with effect for the Capitalisation table and Pro 
Forma Financial Information. See Section 11.4.2 "Overview of the adjustments to the comprehensive 
information for the year ended 31 December 2017" and Section 11.4.4 "Adjustments to unaudited pro forma 
statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December 2017" which show that some operational leases 
have been reclassified to be financial leases in line with IAS 17 Leases. Financial leases in VR Track Group 
(current part NOK 19 million and non-current NOK 104 million) is secured by way of the underlying assets for 
which the legal ownership is kept by the financial lessor.  

5 Eliminations related to the Acquisition 

Share capital and Other-reserves in VR Track Group are equity components that will be eliminated upon 
consolidation of VR Track Group into NRC’s financial figures, upon closing of the Acquisition. Hence, these items 
are irrelevant for the NRC’s consolidated Capitalisation. 

6 Acquisition financing – Danske Bank 

10 October 2018 two loan facilities were added to the group loan agreement with Danske Bank for financing the 
acquisition of VR Track Oy. Facility G, EUR 89 million expected to be utilised in early January 2019 have 
quarterly instalments of EUR 3.18 million. Maturity date is 5 years from utilisation. The agreement includes an 
option to apply for two years of extension.  

Facility H, NOK 550 million expected to be utilised in early January 2019 have no instalments. Maturity date is 
13 months from utilization. The agreement includes an option to apply for 5 months of extension. This loan is 
reflected as long term in line with IFRS. A currency forward contract is signed with Danske Bank so that the net 
loan after expenses can be exchanged to EUR at a fixed amount of EUR 57 million. The loan agreements are 
based on a total loan frame of NOK 1.4 billion related to the acquisition of VR Track.  

As security for the loan agreement including the group overdraft facility, trade receivables, inventory and fixed 
assets in each subsidiary are pledged with NOK 500 million each.  In addition, all shares in subsidiaries and 
intercompany loans are pledges with NOK 2,000 million. For further information, see Section 10.4.2 "Loan 
facility with Danske Bank".   
 
7 Share issue 

The Acquisition will be partly financed with loans (see Section 10.4.2 "Loan facility with Danske Bank") and with 
the issue of 9,877,953 shares. With each share having a nominal value of NOK 1.00 per share and a fixed price 
of NOK 73.67 (weighted share price as of 30 September 2018), additional paid in capital of NOK 72.67 per 
share (net of nominal value of NOK 1.00 per share) for 9,877,953 shares amounting to NOK 728 million will be 
classified as other paid in capital of NOK 713 million. Paid in capital has been reduced with estimated share 
issue costs of NOK 5 million. 

As the Acquisition will not close before January 2019, the fair value of the Consideration Shares to be issued 
may change. The table below sets forth what will be the effect on additional paid in capital, given different 
market value of NRC’s share price: 

 

 
b) Net financial indebtedness of NRC Group ASA 

Shares to be issued: 9 877 953       share

Share price, NOK/share: 70 90

Nominal value, NOK/share: 1 1

Net paid in, per share: 69 89

Additional paid in: 681 578 757  879 137 817    NOK

Share issue costs: 5 000 000       5 000 000       NOK

Net paid in, NOK: 676 578 757  874 137 817  NOK
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Notes to the Net indebtedness table 
 
 
1 Current financial receivables 

Current financial receivables is made up of trade receivables of NOK 727 million, and other short term 
receivables of NOK 65 million. 

2 Current bank debt and current portion long term debt 

See note 1 to the Capitalisation table. 
 
3 Other current financial debt 

Other current financial debt is made up of NOK 331 million in trade payables.  
 
4 VR Track Group 

Adjustments related to the Acquisition are figures derived from the unaudited figures for VR Track's 
consolidated financial position, as of 30 September 2018.  In addition financial leasing has been included, see 
note 6 below. 

5 Current financial receivables 

Current financial receivables is made up of NOK 395 million in account receivables and other short term 
receivables of NOK 19 million. 

6 Financial leasing 

Financial leases in VR Track Group are secured by way of the underlying assets for which the legal ownership is 
kept by the financial lease.  VR Track Group follows Finnish Accounting Standards, however with effect for the 
Contingent and indirect indebtedness and Pro Forma Financial Information (see section 11.3.4 "Description of 
the IFRS adjustments" some operational leases have been reclassified to be financial leases, in line with IAS 17 
Leases. The current portion is NOK 19 million, the non-current portion is NOK 104 million. The NOK 19 million 
current part of financial leasing is included with other current financial liabilities (mainly trade receivables) of 
NOK 116 million in VR Group.  

7 Other current financial debt 

Other current financial debt is made up of NOK 115 million in short term accounts receivable, and NOK 1 million 
in other short term receivables.  

8 Acquisition financing – Danske Bank 

See note 6 above, to the Capitalization table. 

c) Contingent and indirect indebtedness 
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Contingent and indirect indebtedness in NRC Group ASA 
 

In connection with the sale of a property in Tønsberg in 2007, NRC Group ASA (previously Blom ASA), 
guaranteed that Blom’s former subsidiary ScanRope AS (now Parker Norway AS) would pay its rent up to 21 
August 2025. The lease agreement contains an option for an extension to 21 August 2030. The gross rent was 
NOK 12 million in 2016. The guarantee was given on a joint-and-several basis together with ScanRope Holding 
AS (now Parker Hannifin (Norway) Holdings AS). The assets of Parker Norway AS, including the lease 
agreement, was transferred to Bridon-Beakaert Scanrope AS in 2015. Following this transfer, Parker Norway AS 
is no longer a tenant under the lease agreement for the property in Tønsberg, and it is the opinion of NRC 
Group ASA and its legal advisors, that the guarantee is no longer valid. This assessment has been disputed by 
the property owner. During 2016, Bridon-Bekaert Scanrope AS advertised that they would close its operations 
in Tønsberg. NRC Group ASA has not received any request for payment under the guarantee. No accrual has 
been made for the guarantee in the consolidated financial accounts as at 30 September 2018 as it is the 
Groups' assessment that it is unlikely that the guarantee will result in outflow of resources from the Group.  

Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognised when the project is delivered to the customer. Initial 
recognition is based on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs is revised annually. 
Historically the group has not had any material guarantee work.  

Contingent and indirect indebtedness in VR Track Group  
 
VR Track Oy has provided an intra-group contract guarantee of 150 MSEK on behalf of VR Track Sweden related 
to project Mälarbanan, with Peab Sverige AB as beneficiary. In addition a Collateral loan guarantee has been 
provided with Vossloh as beneficiary, amounting to EUR 0.4 million. 

In addition VR Track Oy has various project guarantees provided by Garantia, Tryg Garanti and VR Group, 
amounting to EUR 21 million, of which some relate to 2% project guarantees and some to 5-10 year 
guarantees after the completion of various projects. Garantia, Trygg Garanti and VR Group will - as guarantors 
- pay the beneficiary if VR Track fails to deliver the guaranteed projects. Garantia, Trygg Garanti and VR Group 
will in such a case have recourse to VR Track. The Finnish Transport Agency is the beneficiary in most of these 
guarantees.  

As at 30 September 2018 and as at the date of the Prospectus, the Group did not have any other contingent or 
indirect indebtedness, except for the off-balance sheet arrangements described in Section 10.4.5 "Other off-
balance sheet arrangements". 

10.6 Working capital  
The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the working capital of the Company is sufficient for the Group’s 
present requirements in a twelve month perspective from the date of the Prospectus.  

10.7 Foreign currency  
The functional currency of the Norwegian group companies is NOK and the functional currency of the Swedish 
group companies is SEK. VR Track's functional currency for the operations in Finland is the EUR while the 
functional currency for the operations in Sweden is the SEK.  

Transactions in foreign currency are booked in the unit’s functional currency according to the exchange rates at 
the time of each transaction. Receivables and liabilities held in foreign currency are translated into the 
functional currency at the observed exchange rate at the day of the financial position. Exchange rate 
differences from period to period are accounted for in the Income Statement. Non-monetary assets held in 
foreign currency are accounted for using the exchange rates at the time of purchase. Assets accounted for at 
fair market value held in foreign currency are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate 
observed at the time of the real value assessment. 

The financial positions of the foreign subsidiaries are translated to NOK using the observed exchange rate at the 
day of the financial position. The elements of the income statement are translated using the average exchange 
rate during the year. Translation differences are accounted for in other comprehensive income.  

10.8 Financial risk management  

The Group is exposed to both operational and financial risks. Operational risks include risk assessment and 
contingency appraisal in project tendering, change management in project execution and resource optimization 
following fluctuations in seasonal demand in the business of the Group.  

The Group aims to undertake operational risk that the business units can influence and control. The Group has 
developed risk management processes that are well adapted to the business. This includes analysis of project 
risk in the tendering phase through to completion to ensure appropriate pricing and risk management. The 
Group also seeks to minimize the exposure to risk that cannot be managed.  
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Financial risks include market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Market risk includes currency risk and interest 
rate risk. The exposure to currency risk is limited, however by having operational units in different functional 
currencies, the Group is to some extent exposed to currency risks, mainly SEK. The Group has used hedging 
instruments to limit the risks associated with foreign exchange to a limited extent. See section 10.4.2 "Loan 
facility with Danske Bank" regarding hedging of the planned acquisition of VR Track. Significant investments in 
Sweden are financed with SEK loans, limiting the net investment exposure. 

Work in progress and trade receivables are set out contractually, which means that the amount of capital 
committed is determined by the credit terms of the contracts. A major part of the business is with state owned 
companies such as Bane NOR in Norway and Trafikverket in Sweden. The Group’s liquidity reserves will 
normally be at its lowest in the spring and summer due to seasonality in the business. Liquidity risk is overall 
considered low. 

The Group’s customers are to a large degree municipalities or government agencies, or companies or 
institutions where municipalities or government agencies have a dominant influence. The Group considers the 
risk of potential future losses from these types of customers to be low. 

10.9 Significant changes after 30 September 2018 

On 2 October 2018, 847,677 new Shares of the Company were issued as partial consideration to the seller of 
Gunnar Knutsen AS to the Company. The Company's registered share capital following the acquisition of 
Gunnar Knutsen AS is 44,026,270 divided amongst 44,026,270 shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 1. In 
the financial position statement as at 30 September 2018, the capital increase is considered as other paid in 
capital.  
 
On 11 October 2018, the Group entered into an agreement for the acquisition of VR Track, a Finnish company 
in the VR Group engaged in the business of railway construction, maintenance services and design, with 
operations in Finland and Sweden. The purchase price is based on an Enterprise Value of VR Track of EUR 225 
million on a cash and debt free basis with a normalized working capital. 65% of the purchase price shall be paid 
in cash while the remaining 35% of the purchase price will be satisfied through the issue of 9,877,953 
consideration shares in the Group to VR Group, based on an agreed price per share of NOK 75.31. The share 
price represents the volume weighted average price of the Shares on Oslo Børs during the last thirty trading 
days prior to signing of the Acquisition Agreement. The cash portion of the purchase price will be fully financed 
by a new bank debt facility and available cash. Following the Acquisition, VR Group will obtain an ownership in 
the NRC Group representing approximately 18% of the total number of issued shares of NRC Group following 
completion of the Acquisition. 
 
Completion of the Acquisition is conditional upon certain regulatory approvals in Finland and certain other 
customary closing conditions. Completion of the Acquisition is expected to take place in early January 2019, 
subject to satisfaction of the closing conditions. 
 
On 5 November, the Extraordinary General Meeting approved an increase of the share capital in connection 
with the Acquisition. Additionally, Rolf Jansson and Eva Nygren were elected as new board members with effect 
from early January 2019 and contingent on completion of the Acquisition.  
 
On 5 October 2018, the Group entered into an agreement with Oslo Kommune Bymiljøetaten for the 
rehabilitation of Storgata in Oslo with a contract value of approximately NOK 360 million. The contract involves 
rail services such as track, electro and groundwork which commenced in November 2018 and has an estimated 
completion in July 2021.   
 
On 13 November 2018, ALTi Byggog Anlegg AS, the Group's wholly owned subsidiary, entered into a contract 
with Yara Norge AS with an estimated contract value of NOK 92 million for ground, foundation and construction 
work in Herøya. The completion date is estimated to be November 2019.  
 
There have been no other significant changes in relation to the Group's financial or trading position which have 
occurred after 30 September 2018 and before the date of the Prospectus.  

10.10 The Company's auditor  

The Company’s auditor is Ernst & Young AS with registration number 976 389 387 and business address at 
Dronning Eufemias gate 6, N-0191 Oslo, Norway. Ernst & Young AS is a member of Den Norske 
Revisorforening.  

Ernst & Young AS has been the Group's auditor since 2016 and has audited the Group's financial statements for 
the financial years 2016 and 2017. For the financial year 2015, PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, business address 
Dronning Eufemias gate 8, N0191 Oslo, Norway, acted as the Group's auditor and audited the Company's 
annual financial statements. PricewaterhouseCoopers AS is a member of Den Norske Revisorforening. The 
auditors' report on the audited Financial Statements for 2015, 2016 and 2017 are incorporated by reference in 
the Prospectus as set out in Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference". 

Ernst & Young AS has prepared a report on compilation of the unaudited pro forma financial information 
included in this prospectus. Ernst & Young AS has not audited, reviewed or produced any report on any other 
information provided in this Prospectus.  
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10.11 Related party transactions  

During 2016, Middelborg AS, a company owned by the former board member, Kristian Lundkvist, received a 
payment of NOK 362,000 and Visento AS, a company owned by the chairman of the Board, Helge Midttun, a 
payment of NOK 198,000, both for administrative services.  
 
In 2018, the Group signed agreements with Visento AS and Hermia AS to provide consultancy services on an 
hourly basis related to the acquisition of VR Track. Board member, Harald Arnet, is the majority owner of 
Hermia AS. All related party transactions are carried out on arm’s length terms. 
 
For further information on the Board of Directors and the executive management, including their compensations 
and any conflict of interest, refer to Section 9.1.8 "Remuneration to the Board of Directors", 9.2.6 
"Remuneration to management" and 9.4 "Conflict of interest". 
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11. PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

11.1 Introduction  
On 11 October 2018, the Company entered into the Acquisition Agreement for the acquisition of VR Track, a 
Finnish company in the VR Group engaged in the business of railway construction, maintenance services and 
design with operations in Finland and Sweden. VR Track and its three subsidiaries together constitute VR 
Group’s business segment "VR Track Group". The Acquisition is expected to be completed in early January 
2019, subject to the satisfaction of various closing conditions and will impact the financial statements of NRC 
Group from the date of completion of the Acquisition.  
 
The Acquisition resulted in a significant gross change to the NRC Group. Pursuant to Commission Regulation 
(EC) No. 809/2044 of 29 April 2004, the Company has included this unaudited pro forma financial information 
to describe how the Acquisition may have affected NRC Group's income statement had the Acquisition been 
completed on 1 January 2017 and how the Acquisition may have affected the Company's financial position had 
the Acquisition been completed on 31 December 2017. For further information on the Acquisition, see Section 
5.1 "The acquisition of the VR track business segment". 
 
The agreed purchase price for the Acquisition is based on an Enterprise Value of VR Track of EUR 225 million 
on a cash and debt free basis with normalised working capital. 65% of the purchase price is to be paid in EUR 
while the remaining 35% of the purchase price is to be settled through the issue of 9,877,953 Consideration 
Shares. The cash amount of the purchase price will be adjusted for any cash, debt and deviation from 
normalised working capital. The estimated cash consideration is EUR 151 million, of which EUR 146 million will 
be financed with a new bank facility. The bank facility is made up of a loan denominated in euro of EUR 89 
million and an additional loan denominated in NOK, of NOK 550 million. A currency forward contract has been 
entered into with Danske Bank so that the NOK 550 million loan after expenses can be exchanged to EUR for a 
fixed amount of EUR 57 million (a forward with fixed exchange rate of NOK 9.5535). Therefore, the entire EUR 
89 million plus EUR 57 million equal to EUR 146 million of the acquisition payment is locked in with EUR 
financing. See section 10.4.2 "Loan facility with Danske Bank" for further details. 
 
VR Track's and its three subsidiaries' (VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro) 
audited annual financial statements are included in this Prospectus as Appendix 2. While VR Track has not 
prepared publicly available consolidated figures for the VR Track Group, all four companies have prepared 
publicly available audited financial statements in either Swedish GAAP ("SGAAP") or Finnish Accounting 
Standards ("FAS") based on their domicile. The VR Track Group’s consolidation of the VR Track segment is 
included under Sections 11.4.5 "Segment consolidation of income for the VR Track Group" and 11.4.6 
"Segment consolidation of financial position of VR Track Group". AS VR-Track – a fourth subsidiary of VR Track 
– has not been included in the consolidation or in the pro forma information as this entity is being liquidated. 
 
The Group’s management has performed a review of the financial statements of the Acquired Entities in order 
to identify differences between Swedish GAAP, Finnish Accounting Standards and IFRS, respectively. GAAP 
differences are presented in the pro forma income statement or in the pro forma statement of financial position 
below.  
 
A preliminary Purchase Price Allocation ("PPA") has been prepared based on available information. The 
preliminary Purchase Price Allocation is included below. The Acquisition will be accounted for in line with IFRS 3 
"Business Combinations". It should be noted that the completion of the Acquisition is conditional on several 
regulatory approvals in Finland and Sweden as well as other customary closing conditions. Prior to the Swedish 
and Finnish authorities having granted such approvals for the Acquisition, the seller of the Acquired Entities 
cannot provide full access to the Group. Hence, preliminary purchase allocation and identification of GAAP 
differences are based on publicly available information and certain selected information made available during 
the purchase process as well as the assumptions of the Company's management.  
 
The Company has performed an evaluation of the significance of the Company's other acquisitions in 2018 as 
further described in Section 10.3.3 "Historical investments" and has concluded that none of these transactions 
triggers pro forma financial information. Accordingly, apart from the Acquisition identified above, no other 
transactions or circumstances are covered by the pro forma financial information set out in this Section 11.   

11.2 General information and purpose of the Pro Forma Financial Information  

The unaudited pro forma financial information set out below has been prepared by the Company to show how 
the Acquisition may have affected the Group's income statement for the year ended 31 December 2017 if the 
Acquisition was completed on 1 January 2017 and how the Acquisition may have affected the Group's 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017 if the Acquisition had been completed on 31 December 
2017 (hereinafter referred to as the "Pro Forma Financial Information").  
 
The Pro Forma Financial Information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only. The pro forma 
adjustments, as described in more detail below, are based on available information and certain assumptions. 
Because of its nature, the Pro Forma Financial Information addresses a hypothetical situation and therefore 
does not represent what the Group's actual results of operations had been if the Acquisition was completed on 1 
January 2017 or on 31 December 2017. It also does not represent the financial position or results for any future 
period. Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on this Pro Forma Financial Information. 
 
The Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled based on accounting principles consistent with those of 
the Company (IFRS as adopted by EU). Furthermore, the Pro Forma Financial information has been prepared 
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based on the going concern assumption, as the activities in VR Track will be continued under the control of 
NRC. 
 
The Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled in connection with listing of the 9,877,953 
Consideration Shares on Oslo Børs to comply with the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and the applicable EU-
regulations including EU Regulation No 809/2004 pursuant to section 7-7 of the Norwegian Securities Trading 
Act. This information is not in compliance with SEC Regulation S-X and, if the securities had been registered 
under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, the Pro Forma Financial Information, including the report by the auditor, 
would have been amended and/or removed from the Prospectus. 
 
The Pro Forma Financial Information does not include all of the information required for financial statements 
under IFRS and should be read in conjunction with the historical financial information of the Group and the 
Acquired Entities. The Group’s annual financial statements for 2017 are incorporated by reference, see Section 
16.3 "Incorporation by reference". The financial statements for the Acquired Entities are included as Appendix 
2. VR Group’s consolidation of the VR Track segment is included under sections 11.4.5 and 11.4.6. 
 
The Pro Forma Financial Information does not represent the actual combination of the financial statements of 
the NRC Group and the Acquired Entities in accordance with IFRS since certain simplifications and assumptions 
have been made as discussed in Section 11.4 "Unaudited pro forma financial information". Furthermore, the Pro 
Forma Financial Information is based on certain assumptions that would not necessarily have been applicable if 
the Company had ownership of these assets from the beginning of the period presented in the Pro Forma 
Financial Information. 

11.3 Basis for preparation  

 General 
With respect to this Pro Forma Financial Information, Ernst & Young AS has applied assurance procedures in 
accordance with International Standards on Assurance Engagements 3420, Assurance Engagements to Report 
on the Compilation of Pro Forma Financial Information Included in a Prospectus, in order to express an opinion 
as to whether the Pro Forma Financial Information has been properly compiled on the basis stated and that 
such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of the NRC Group. Ernst & Young AS's report is included as 
Appendix 1 to this Prospectus. 

 Basis and source for the unaudited pro forma financial information  
The Pro Forma Financial Information has been compiled based on the audited 2017 Financial Statement of the 
NRC Group prepared in accordance with IFRS, together with audited 2017 annual financial statements of the 
entities to be acquired which are VR Track Oy, VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro 
AB. These four companies have up and until the Acquisition constituted the “VR Track” segment of VR-Group 
Ltd, a Finnish Company that prepares its financial reports in accordance with Finnish GAAP (“FAS”). VR Track 
Oy is the parent of these three companies, as it owns 100% of the shares in VR Track Sweden AB, 
Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro AB (in all the “VR Track Group”). 
 
While two of the Acquired Entities included in the Pro Forma Financial Information have prepared their financial 
statements in accordance with FAS (VR Track Oy and Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy), the other two entities (VR 
Track Sweden AB and VR Infrapro AB) have prepared their financial statements in accordance with Swedish 
GAAP ("SGAAP"). The Group’s management has performed a limited and preliminary review of the financial 
statements of the Acquired Entities in order to identify major differences between SGAAP, FAS and IFRS 
respectively. Major GAAP differences that are identified have been presented in the pro forma set up below, 
either in the pro forma income statement or in the pro forma statement of financial position.  
  
The Acquired Entities' audited annual accounts have been prepared in local currency, SEK or EUR. The Acquired 
Entities' annual accounts have in the consolidation (Sections 11.4.5 "Segment consolidation of income for the 
VR Track Group" and 11.4.6 "Segment consolidation of financial position of VR Track Group") been converted 
via EUR (VR Track’s functional and reporting currency) to NOK using average exchange rates for 2017 (for the 
income statement) and translated to NOK using yearend exchange rates (for the statement of financial 
position) as at 31 December 2017. Average exchange rate of NOK/EUR was 9.3271 for 2017 and average 
exchange rate of SEK/EUR was 9.6354 for 2017, while the exchange rate of NOK/EUR as at yearend 2017 was 
9.8403. NOK is NRC Group’s presentation currency. 

 Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation  
In connection with the acquisition of VR Track Oy, including VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy 
and VR Infrapro AB, the NRC Group is required to prepare a PPA in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business 
Combinations” based on available information. The Acquisition will be accounted for in line with IFRS 3 
“Business Combinations”. The Acquisition is expected to be completed in early January 2019.  
 
The Acquisition will be structured as an acquisition of all shares of VR Track by a newly established and wholly 
owned Finnish subsidiary (Parallel Bidco Oy) of NRC Group from VR Group. The purchase price assumes an 
acquisition on a cash and debt free basis with normalised working capital. EUR 146 million of the purchase price 
has been hedged at a fixed exchange rate of NOK 9.5535. Considering a yearend exchange rate of 9.8403 
NOK/EUR and a quoted share price of the NRC Group of NOK 76.30 per share, the fair value of the 
consideration for the shares is estimated to be NOK 2.2 billion. It should be noted that changes to VR Track 
Group’s working capital can result in changes to the purchase price. Likewise will the Company's share price 
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development (through the value of the Consideration Shares provided by the Company to VR Group) until the 
Acquisition date impact the purchase price of VR Track Oy and hence the goodwill from the Acquisition. 
 
Approximately 65% of the purchase price shall be paid in cash by the Group and the remaining approximately 
35% of the purchase price is to be settled through the issue of a fixed number of 9,877,953 Consideration 
Shares. The cash portion of the purchase price will be financed by available cash and a new bank debt facility 
(see Section 10.4.2 "Loan facility with Danske Bank", third subsection and Section 10.5 "Capitalisation and 
indebtedness", note 6 to the Capitalisation table for a description of the acquisition financing). The bank facility 
will be in the amount of a maximum of NOK 1.4 billion translated, net of expenses, to EUR at a fixed rate of 
9.5535. It should be noted that for the purpose of the pro forma statement of financial position, the price of 
NOK 73.60 per share has been applied (closing share price as at 20 November 2018), as this is the most recent 
fair value of the share price available for the Company. Further, IFRS 3 Business Combinations requires that the 
consideration transferred in a business combination should be measured at fair value. Hence, the purchase 
price as at the closing date in January 2019 will likely reflect a share price different from the one applied in the 
pro forma financial information. The estimated fair value of the consideration, being the basis for the 
preliminary PPA, has been estimated to NOK 2.2 billion, taking into account the effects of normalized working 
capital.  
 
The PPA is preliminary, the cash consideration in EUR will change up to the date of closing of the Acquisition 
based on the working capital (as at closing) and the fair value of the shares issued as consideration will be 
based on the share price on the date of closing of the Acquisition. 
 
The preliminary Purchase Price Allocation is included below. 
 

 
 
The Group has performed a preliminary PPA that resulted in an adjustment of the carrying value of certain 
intangible assets that will be acquired. Customer contracts have been increased with NOK 111 million. These 
items have resulted in a deferred tax liability of about NOK 22 million. 
 
The IFRS adjustments of approximately NOK 21 million relates to the following IFRS adjustments:  
 

 

11.4 Unaudited pro forma financial information  

 Unaudited pro forma statement of comprehensive information for the year ended 31 December 2017 
The table below sets out the unaudited pro forma statement of income for the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2017, as if the Acquisitions had taken place on 1 January 2017: 

Breakdown of IFRS adjustments
Figures in NOK million

IFRS difference pensions: 14           See note 5 to section 11.4.4
IFRS difference loss on contracts: 13           See note 1 to section 11.4.4
Sum: 27           
Corporate tax, Finland: 20 % -6            See note 4 to section 11.4.4
Net: 21           
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The consolidated income figures for the VR Track Group are pro forma consolidated in Section 11.4.5 "Segment 
consolidation of income for the VR Track Group". 

 Overview of the adjustments to the comprehensive information for the year ended 31 December 2017 
The following information summarizes the adjustments related to the unaudited pro forma statement of income 
for 2017:  
 
Notes to the Pro Forma Income Statement – IFRS adjustments 

1. Leasing 
The IFRS review as performed by management identified that car pool and IT-system leases that 
were accounted for as operational leases in the VR Track Group, were to be considered as financial 
leases. These two operational leases have been reclassified and recognized as financial leases of NOK 
43 million, in accordance with IFRS. The operating lease charge has been reclassified to 
“Depreciation, amortization and impairment” as an approximation of financial lease. These leases are 
best estimates based on available information, and management does not expect that there are 
additional leasing commitments that have not been addressed. These leases are best estimates based 
on available information, and management does not expect that there are additional leasing 
commitments that have not been addressed. 

2. Exchange gain/loss 
Exchange gain and loss are items presented gross in VR Tracks consolidated figures, but in accordance 
with IFRS exchange gain/losses are presented net. Hence NOK 17 million has been booked as a 
reduction of finance income and finance expenses. 

3. Group contribution 
VR Track Oy has provided group contribution to its parent company VR Group Ltd. This has been 
booked as a liability in VR Track Group in line with FAS. In accordance with IFRS a group contribution 
is, however, not deemed as a liability and is hence added back. This adjustment results in a tax 
reduction of NOK 34 million. 

Pro forma income statement                       1/1 
to 31/12 2017

NRC Group ASA 
IFRS 

VR Track Group 
consolidated FAS 

IFRS adjust-
ments Notes to IFRS

Pro forma 
adjustments 

Notes to Pro 
Forma

NRC Pro 
Forma 

in NOK million Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

Operating revenue 2 373                    2 879                     -18                 8 5 233              

Cost of materials and subcontractors.................... -1 407                   -1 204                   -2 611             
Salaries and personnel costs................................. -493                      -984                      -2                    6 -1 479             
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment............ -79                        -59                        -43                  1 -28                 9 -209                
Other operating and administrative expenses........ -244                      -474                      49                   1, 4 -57                 10 -726                
Operating expenses............................................. -2 223                   -2 723                   4                     -85                 -5 026             

Operating profit.................................................... 150                       156                        4                     -103               207                 

Finance income....................................................... 5                           17                          -17                  2 5                     
Finance expense..................................................... -11                        -31                        30                   2, 5 -36                 11 -47                  
Net financial items................................................ -6                          -14                        14                   -36                 -42                  

Profit before tax.................................................... 144                       142                        18                   -139               165                 

Group contributions................................................. -                        -171                      171                 3 0                     
Tax expense / income............................................. 19                         -3                          -35                  7 17                  12 -2                    
Profit from continuing operations...................... 163                       -32                        154                 -122               163                 

Loss from discontinued operations................... -7                          -                        -7                    

Net profit of the year............................................ 156                       -32                        154                 -122               156                 

Other comprehensive income..................... 32 -14                  5 18                   
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4. Loss making contracts 
According to IAS 11 Construction Contracts VR Track Group should allocate both direct and indirect 
costs to any contracts that as of yearend were deemed to be loss making. According to FAS only 
direct costs have been allocated. Hence, an IFRS adjustment of NOK 6.2 million has been made. This 
is reflected as a cost reduction, as the provisions for loss making contracts as of yearend 2016 were 
larger than the provisions as of yearend 2017, resulting in release of such provisions for 2017 of NOK 
6.2 million. The tax effect is NOK 1.2 million. 
 
The below table sets out a reconciliation of direct and indirect costs for the loss making contracts in 
the VR Track Group.  
 

 
 
*) As set out in the reconciliation NOK 6 million is indirect costs accrued as of January 1, 2017, and 
which is released in 2017. While NOK 13 million is the adjustment (indirect costs) to the closing 
balance for the loss making contracts, as of yearend 31 December 2017. 

5. Investment loan 
VR Track Oy has provided a 412 MSEK loan to VR Track AB. In VR Track AB no currency gain/loss is 
recorded, as the loan is denominated in SEK. No interest is recognised. VR Track Oy has recorded an 
exchange loss for the SEK loan which is reflected in the stand-alone FS of NOK 14 million, a loss which 
is added back and reclassified to Other Comprehensive Income in the consolidated figures as this loan 
is considered as a net investment in the subsidiary for which repayment is not planned in the 
foreseeable future. This is an IFRS adjustment (refer to IAS 21, section 15 and 32). 

6. Pension costs 
Prior to the Acquisition the VR Track Group did not – under FAS – recognize defined benefit liabilities. 
According to IFRS a defined benefit pension liability has been recognized. This effect is reflected with a 
NOK 2 million extra cost in the pro forma income statement, and with a 20% reduction in tax expense.  

7. Taxes 
The table below sets forth the taxes from the adjustments above, figures in million NOK (from note 3, 
4 and 6). 
 

 

Notes to the Pro Forma Income Statement – pro forma adjustments 

8. Results and gains from associated companies  
VR Track Oy has recorded results from associated companies of NOK 11 million and a gain from the 
sale of associated companies of NOK 7 million. As all investments in associated companies are to be 
divested prior to the closing of the Acquisition, these items are eliminated.  The tax effect of the gain 
from the sale of associated companies is NOK 1.5 million. (Note that there is no tax effect of the 
elimination of results from associated companies, as these results have been taxed already). This pro 
forma adjustment will not have continuing impact. 

9. Customer contracts 
Intangible assets acquired in the business combination include customer contracts. These are 
recognized at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Based on NRC management’s assessment the 
customer contracts have a fair value which is about NOK 111 million which is not reflected in the 
financial position of the entities to be acquired. This fair value adjustment is depreciated according to 

Reconciliation of direct and Total VR Group IFRS‐

indirect cost for loss making Finnish GAAP adjustment IFRS

contracts in VR Track Group Direct cost only Indirect cost Full cost

NOK Mill NOK Mill NOK Mill

Opening balance 1.1.17 47                            18                          64               

Change during the year ‐37                          ‐6                           * ‐44             

Translation difference 4                              1                             5                 

Closing balance 31.12.17 13                            13                          * 26               

Loss making contracts 6,2                    1,2                           
Pension costs: -2,1                   -0,4                          
Group contribution 171,2                34                            
Sum: 175,3                35,1                         
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the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 4 year. This is reflected as an increase to 
amortization over the useful life of customer contracts with the full amount, as if the Acquisition had 
taken place with effect from January 1, 2017, amounting to NOK 28 million per year. The effect on 
taxes is a reduced tax expense of NOK 6 million. This pro forma adjustment will have continuing 
impact.  

10. Acquisition expenses 

As part of the Acquisition, transaction expenses estimated to NOK 20 million will be incurred. 
Assuming the acquisition took place 1 January 2017, the total amount of NOK 20 million would be 
considered as other operating expenses.  It should be noted that an estimated NOK 5 million in share 
issue costs will be recognised as a reduction to the share issue. The NOK 5 million amount impacts 
the tax with NOK 1 million. This pro forma adjustment will not have continuing impact.  

NRC will have to pay 1.6 % stamp duty of the acquired shares of VR Track Oy. Assuming a total 
purchase price of 233.5 MEUR, the stamp duty will be 3.7 MEUR, which corresponds to NOK 37 million 
with an exchange rate of 9.8403 NOK/EUR as of yearend 2017. This pro forma adjustment will not 
have continuing impact. 

11. Acquisition financing  
 
In connection with the Acquisition the NRC Group has secured additional bank loan agreements of 
NOK 1.4 billion. Had this agreement been in place 1 January 2017, the interest expense for the period 
would increase by approximately NOK 36 million. Please see further details in Section 10.4.2 "Loan 
facility with Danske Bank" for the Acquisition financing. The effect on taxes would have been NOK 8.6 
million in reduced tax expense, using Norwegian corporate tax rate of 24% for 2017. This pro forma 
adjustment will have continuing impact. 

12. Tax expense 
Due to the various adjustments to the result, the tax cost will be adjusted as follows: 
 

 

A tax rate of 24% has been applied for interest costs and share issue costs, as 24% is the Norwegian corporate 
tax rate (in place for financial year 2017) for NRC Group ASA which will draw up the acquisition financing. Tax 
rate of 20% has been applied for the other items, as these relate to the VR Track Group that will be included in 
the specially set up Finnish holding company, and 20% is the corporate tax rate in Finland. 

 Unaudited pro forma statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December 2017 
The table below sets out the unaudited pro forma statement of financial position for the year ended 31 
December 2017, as if the Acquisition had taken place on 31 December 2017. Figures in NOK million. 
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Please note that the consolidated financial position for the VR Track Group are segment consolidated in section 
11.4.6 below. 

 Adjustments to unaudited pro forma statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December 
2017 

The preliminary Purchase Price Allocation was prepared using the acquisition method as regulated by IFRS 3 
“Business combinations”. Please refer to section 11.3.3 "Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation" for an overview 
of the preliminary PPA. The financial positions for the four acquired entities (VR Track Oy, VR Track Sweden AB, 
Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro AB) are converted from SEK and EUR to NOK using the yearend 
currency rates as of yearend 2017. 

Notes to IFRS adjustments to the Pro Forma statement of financial position  

1. Loss-making contracts 
According to IAS 11 Construction Contracts VR Track Oy should allocate both direct and indirect costs 
to any contracts that as of yearend were deemed to be loss making. According to FAS only direct costs 
have been allocated. Hence, an IFRS adjustment of NOK 13 million has been made. Tax effect is NOK 
2.6 million. 
 
Please refer to note 4 to the pro forma income statement for further details.  

2. Financial leases 
NRC management has identified leases in VR Track that for FY 2017 were accounted for as operational 
leases, in accordance with FAS. These leases – car pool and lease of IT equipment – have been 
reclassified to financial leases in accordance with IAS 17, with about NOK 155 million in Assets held 
under finance leases, and with a corresponding amount as a financial lease liability. Short term liability 
is NOK 43 million, and long liability part is NOK 113 million. Furthermore, it should be noted that 
neither NRC nor VR Track has early-adopted the new leasing standard; IFRS 16.  These leases are best 
estimates based on available information, and management does not expect that there are additional 
leasing commitments that have not been addressed. 

3. Group contribution 
According to IFRS group contributions cannot be recognized as liability before the AGM has approved 
the contribution. Hence, this is an IFRS adjustment and the group contribution is reclassified as equity 
in VR Track Oy in line with IFRS. With no such group contribution the payable tax will increase with 
20% of the NOK 171 million amount, hence NOK 34 million is added back as a tax payable. 

Financial position, as                              
of 31 December 2017 NRC Group ASA 

VR Track Group 
Consolidated IFRS adjustments Notes IFRS

 Pro forma 
adjustments 

Notes Pro 
Forma NRC Pro Forma

IFRS FAS/SGAAP
Figures in mill NOK Uaudited Unaudited  Unaudited Unaudited
Assets
Deferred tax assets 70                         -                           70                                   
Goodwill 950                       -                           1 605               6 2 555                              
Customer contracts and other intangible assets 28                         -                           111                  6 139                                 
Other capitalized long-term expenses -                        50                            50                                   
Property, plant and equipment 278                       206                          484                                 

Assets held under finance leases -                           155                                 2                     155                                 
Financial assets 9                           -                           9                                     
Investments -                        23                            -23                   7 -0                                   
Inventories -                        156                          156                                 
Trade receivables 649                       80                            729                                 
Other current receivables 91                         686                          23                    7 800                                 
Short term receivables/cash pool 298                          -76                   8 222                                 
Total short-term receivables 3                              3                                     
Cash and cash equivalents 409                       12                            -77                   6, 11, 13 344                                 
TOTAL ASSETS 2 484                    1 513                       155                                 1 563               5 716                              

Equity and liabilities
Share capital 42                         165                          -156                 9 52                                   
Own shares -                        -                           -                                 
Share premium 927                       308                          404                  9 1 639                              
Translation reserves 14                         -                           14                                   
Retained earnings 374                       60                            116                                 4                     -93                   10 458                                 
Total equity 1 357                    534                          116                                 156                  2 163                              

Interest bearing non-current liabilities 317                       -                           113                                 2                     1 279               11 1 708                              
Deferred tax liability 27                         18                            -5                                    1, 5 22                    6 62                                   
Other non-current liabilities -                        19                            27                                   1, 5 46                                   
Interest-bearing current liabilities 121                       -                           43                                   2                     121                  11 285                                 
Current intercompany liabilities -                        256                          -171                                3                     -85                   8 -0                                   
Trade payables 275                       621                          896                                 
Public fees payable 62                         -                           62                                   
Tax payable 22                         -                           34                                   3                     -1                     55                                   
Other current liabilities 303                       65                            71                    8, 12 439                                 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2 484                    1 513                       155                                 1 563               5 716                              
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4. Retained earnings 
Changes to retained earnings reflect the following IFRS adjustments, figures in NOK million: 
 

 

5. Pension liability 
Prior to the Acquisition, the VR Track Group did not – under FAS – recognize defined benefit liabilities. 
According to IFRS a defined benefit pension liability has been recognized. Thus, a pension liability of 
NOK 14 million has been reflected as an IFRS adjustment. Impact on taxes is NOK 3 million.  

Notes to Pro Forma adjustments to the Pro Forma statement of financial position  

6. Goodwill adjustment and Customer contracts 
The acquisition of the VR Track business segment resulted in a preliminary estimated value of goodwill 
of NOK 1.605 million. For the purpose of the pro forma statement of financial position, the estimated 
purchase price is NOK 2.2 billion, also taking into account normalized working capital changes. 
Goodwill is related to the fair value of expected synergies arising from the acquired entities’ 
competence within project - and site management as well as construction technique within the 
groundworks segment. The acquisition will strengthen the NRC Group’s overall capabilities, enabling 
the NRC Group to undertake larger, more complex and simultaneous projects. The acquisition will also 
improve the competitiveness of the Group’s Finnish and Swedish operations.  
 
It should be noted that IFRS 3 Business Combinations require that the consideration transferred in a 
business combination should be measured at fair value. Hence, the fair value of the Consideration 
Shares to be part of the purchase price has been set to NOK 73.6 per share (closing share price as of 
20 November), as this represents the most recent fair value (as set out by IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations) of the Consideration Shares. An increase or decrease of the share price of NRC Group 
will thus increase or decrease the recognized goodwill upon closing in January 2019. The below table 
illustrates the effect of changes to the share price of the Company on the goodwill.  

 

Customer contracts 
Intangible assets acquired in the business combination include customer contracts. These are 
recognized at their fair value at the date of acquisition. Based on NRC management’s assessment the 
customer contracts have a fair value which is about NOK 111 million higher than the book value in the 
entities to be acquired. This fair value adjustment is amortized over a remaining useful lifetime of 4 
years.  
 
The tax effect of this adjustment is NOK 22 million in deferred tax liability. 

7. Investments 
As at year-end 2017, the VR Track Group recognised an investment in associated companies of NOK 
23 million. The investments in associated companies will - according to the share purchase agreement 
- be divested prior to the closing of the Acquisition. Hence, these investments are recorded as divested 
in the pro forma set up without any taxable gain/loss recorded nor any tax effects, and the adjustment 
is recognised as part of current receivables. (This is recognised as part of current receivables as the 
sale of the investments will be a receivable towards VR Group Ltd). 

8. Cash pool 
VR Track Oy, VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro AB have been part of 
the cash pool at VR Group Ltd. The different companies in the VR Track Group have recorded their part 
of the cash pool as either receivable or liability. After the completion of the Acquisition the VR Track 
companies will no longer be part of VR Group’s cash pool arrangement, and the various positions of 
the cash pool is netted. After netting of cash pool, an additional adjustment of NOK 9 million (other 
current payables towards VR Group) has been reclassified to “Other current payables” as it is no longer 
an intercompany amount with a related company.   

Group contribution: 171                
Tax on group contribtion -34                
Pension liability: -14                
Tax on pension liability: 3                    
Provisons overhead loss making contrac -13                
Tax on provisoins loss making contracts 3                    
Sum: 116                

Share price NRC (NOK pr share) 60 73,6 90
Adjusted Goodwill, in MNOK: 1 471                              1 605              1 767               
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9. Share issue 
The number of Consideration Shares issued will be 9,877,953, with the total nominal value of NOK 10 
million. In addition, the share capital of the VR Track Group of NOK 165 million is eliminated. 
 
Hence, the NOK 10 million in increased nominal share capital minus the elimination of share capital of 
NOK 165 million equals a net elimination adjustment of NOK 155 million. 
 
The proceeds from the share issue of 9,877,953 Consideration Shares at NOK 73.60 per share (closing 
share price as of 20 November 2018) amounts to NOK 727 million. Net of the nominal share capital of 
NOK 10 million and share issue costs estimated to be NOK 5 million amounts to an increase in share 
premium of NOK 712 million. 

After the elimination of share premium of VR Track of NOK 308 million, the net pro forma adjustment 
of share premium amounts to NOK 404 million. 

10. Retained earnings 
Changes to retained earnings reflect the following pro forma adjustments, in million NOK: 
 

 
 
Consolidated equity of VR Track (as set out in the table above) amounts to NOK 510 million, which is 
the consolidated equity of the VR Track segment as of 30 June, 2018. As this consolidated equity is as 
of 30 June 2018 and not the consolidated equity as of 31 December 2017, the NOK 510 million amount 
cannot be reconciled directly to the pro forma balance sheet.  

11. Acquisition financing 
The total acquisition financing is NOK 1.4 billion, made up of a euro loan of EUR 89 million and an 
additional loan denominated in NOK, of NOK 550 million. See sections 10.4.2 and 11.1, third 
subsection and 11.4.2, note 11 for further details. Short term portion of the new loans is NOK 121 
million. The long term portion is NOK 1,279 million (made up of NOK 729 million of loan denominated 
in EUR and long-term additional financing of NOK 550 million). 
 
The acquisition of all outstanding shares in VR Track Oy will be financed with EUR 89 million and NOK 
550 million  settled by loan financing and from the Company’s cash (in the PPA estimated to be NOK 
77 million), and the issuance of 9,877,953 Consideration Shares. 
 
The cash amount of the purchase price will be adjusted for any cash, debt and deviation from 
normalised working capital. This cash amount will change based on final PPA, changes in the euro 
currency and working capital adjustments. 

12. Acquisition costs  
Acquisition costs of NOK 20 million is the estimated cost for the transaction. In addition, NOK 5 million 
in share issue costs is included in "Other current liabilities". 

The Company will have to pay 1.6% stamp duty for the acquired shares of VR Track. With an 
acquisition price of EUR 233.5 million, the stamp duty will be EUR 3.7 million, which corresponds to 
NOK 37 million with an exchange rate of 9.8403 NOK/EUR as at yearend 2017.  

13. Cash 
Part of the Acquisition price will be paid with the Company’s own cash. Also see note 6 and 11. 

 Segment consolidation of income for the VR Track Group 
VR Track Oy is the parent of the three wholly owned subsidiaries VR Track Oy, VR Track Sweden AB, 
Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro AB. The below table sets forth the segment consolidation of income 
for these companies. 

Retained earnings are made up of the following adjustments:
Figures in million NOK:
Transaction costs: -20       
Stamp duty -37       
Tax share issue costs: 1          

Consolidated equity VR Track -510     
Share capital VR Track: 165      
Share premium: 308      
Sum: -93       
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Further information about each company (see A, B, C, D and E in the table) is presented below.  
 
A) Consolidation        
VR Track Oy is the 100% owner of VR Track Sweden AB, VR Track Infrapro AB and Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy. 
VR Track Oy and its subsidiaries constitute the VR Track segment, which has been acquired from VR Group Ltd. 
While all the four companies prepare stand-alone financial statements which are publicly available, there are no 
publicly consolidated profit and loss statement for the VR Track Group. The above set-up replicates the 
consolidation as it appears in VR Group Ltd’s own internal consolidation.     
        
B) Exchange translation        
VR Track Sweden AB and VR Track Infrapro AB report their financial figures in SEK. In the set-up above the 
balance sheets for these two companies are first presented in SEK in line with the publicly reported statutory 
financial statements. In the following columns these two balance statements have been translated from SEK to 
EUR, which is VR Group Ltd's reporting currency. The average currency rate for 2017 SEK/EUR of 9.6354  
has been applied. The two Finnish companies VR Track Oy and Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy report their financial 
statements in euro, hence no exchange translation has been necessary.     
           
C) Consolidation adjustments        
These consolidation adjustments replicate the internal consolidation adjustments in VR Group Ltd.  
             
D) Finnish vs Swedish GAAP        
VR Group Ltd reports its financial figures in line with FAS - Finnish Accounting Standards. There are no material 
differences between SGAAP and FAS identified for the two Swedish entities included above. No material 
differences were identified in the conversion of SGAAP to FAS.     
         
E) Translation of VR Track Group’s consolidated figures from EUR to NOK     
For the benefit of the pro financial position the VR Track Group’s consolidated financial position has been 
translated from EUR to NOK, as NOK is the presentational currency of NRC. Note that group contribution has 
been translated using yearend exchange rate of NOK/EUR of 9.8403, as the contribution was allocated as of 
yearend. (This results in the fact that the net profit of the year in NOK is not the net profit of the year in MEUR 
converted to MNOK using average exchange rate for the year of 9.3271 NOK/EUR, as the effect of the group 
contribution being converted using yearend exchange rate of NOK/EUR 9.8403 has to be taken into account). 
 
Notes to the segment consolidation of the income of VR Track Group 
 

1. Adjustment to operating revenues 
This adjustment of EUR 1 million represents an elimination of intercompany sales.  

2. Adjustment to cost of materials and subcontractors 
This adjustment of EUR 2 million represents mainly a reclassification of results from associated 
companies.  

3. Adjustment to finance income 
This adjustment of EUR 1million represents a reclassification of finance income. 

 Segment consolidation of financial position of VR Track Group 
VR Track is the parent of the three wholly owned subsidiaries, VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy 
and VR Infrapro AB. The below table sets forth the segment consolidation of the financial position of these 
companies. 
  
 

Segment consolidation of income for 
VR Track and subsidiaries,                  
for 1/1 to 31/12 2017

VR Track 
Sweden AB VR Infrapro AB

VR Track 
Sweden AB VR Infrapro AB VR Track Oy   

Insinöörito-
imisto Arcus Oy

Segment 
consolidation 
adjustments Notes

VR Track 
segment 

consolidated  

VR Track 
segment 

consolidated  

GAAP/currency MSEK/SGAAP MSEK/SGAAP MEUR/SGAAP MEUR/SGAAP MEUR/FAS MEUR/FAS MEUR MEUR/FAS MNOK/FAS

Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

Notes B B B, D B, D A C A E

Operating revenue 617                     36                      64                      4                         241                 2                           -1                         1 309                        2 879                     

Cost of materials and subcontractors................. -292                   -20                     -30                     -2                       -99                  -0                          2                           2 -129                       -1 204                   
Salaries and personnel costs.............................. -240                   -19                     -25                     -2                       -78                  -1                          -                       -106                       -984                      
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment......... -17                     -                     -2                       -                     -4                    -0                          -0                         -6                           -59                        
Other operating and administrative expenses..... -105                   -6                       -11                     -1                       -39                  -0                          0                           -51                         -474                      
Operating expenses......................................... -654                   -45                     -68                     -5                       -220                -1                          2                           -292                       -2 723                   

Operating profit................................................. -37                     -9                       -4                       -1                       20                   0                           1                           17                          156                        

Finance income................................................... 0                         -                     0                        -                     3                     0                           -1                         3 2                            17                          
Finance expense.................................................. -1                       -                     -0                       -                     -3                    -0                          -3                           -31                        
Net financial items............................................. -1                       -                     -0                       -                     -0                    -0                          -1                           -14                        

Profit before tax................................................. -38                     -9                       -4                       -1                       20                   0                           15                          142                        

Group contributions.............................................. -                     -                     -                     -                     -17                  -                        -                       -17                         -171                      
Tax expense / income.......................................... -                     -1                       -                     -0                       0                     -0                          -0                         -0                           -3                          
Profit from continuing operations................... -38                     -10                     -4                       -1                       3                     0                           -                       -2                           -32                        

Loss from discontinued operations................ -               -               -                     -                     -                  -                  -                 -                         -                        

Net profit of the year......................................... -38                     -10                     -4                       -1                       3                     0                           -0                         -2                           -32                        
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Further information on each company (see A, B, C or D in the table) is presented below.  
 
A) Consolidation           
   
VR Track Oy is the 100% owner of VR Track Sweden AB, VR Track Infrapro AB and Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy. 
VR Track Oy and its subsidiaries constitute the VR Track segment, which has been acquired from VR Group Ltd. 
While all the four companies prepare stand-alone financial statements which are publicly available, there are no 
publicly available consolidated balance sheet for the VR Track Group. The above set-up replicates the 
consolidation as it appears in VR Group Ltd’s own internal accounting.     
             
B) Exchange translation          
    
VR Track Sweden AB and VR Track Infrapro AB report their financial figures in SEK. In the set-up above the 
balance sheets for these two companies are first presented in SEK in line with the publicly reported statutory 
financial statements. In the following columns these two balance statements have been translated from SEK to 
EUR 9.8442, which is VR Group Ltds reporting currency. The two Finnish companies VR Track Oy and 
Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy report their financial statements in euro, hence no exchange translation has been 
necessary.            
             
C) Consolidation adjustments         
     
These consolidation adjustments replicate the historical, internal consolidation adjustments in VR Group Ltd.  
 
D) Finnish vs Swedish GAAP         
     
VR Group Ltd reports its financial figures in line with FAS - Finnish Accounting Standards. There are no material 
differences between SGAAP and FAS identified for the two Swedish entities included above.  No material GAAP 
differences were identified when SGAAP statements were converted to FAS.  
            
E) Translation of VR Track Group’s consolidated figures from EUR to NOK    
          
For the benefit of the pro forma statement of financial position the VR Track Group’s consolidated balance sheet 
has been translated from EUR to NOK, as NOK is the presentation currency of NRC.  
 
Notes to the segment consolidation of the financial position of VR Track Group 

1. Adjustment to property, plant and equipment 
This adjustment of EUR 1 million represents a reduction of book value of property, plant and 
equipment on group level in the VR Track Group. 
 
2. Adjustment to investments   

Segment consolidation of financial 
Position VR Track and subsidiaries, 
as of 31 December 2017

VR Track 
Sweden AB VR Infrapro AB

VR Track 
Sweden AB VR Infrapro AB VR Track Oy

Insinööritoimisto 
Arcus Oy

Segment 
consolidation 
adjustments Notes 

VR Track 
segment 

consolidated

VR Track 
segment 

consolidated

GAAP/currency MSEK/SGAAP MSEK/SGAAP MEUR/SGAAP MEUR/SGAAPs MEUR/FAS MEUR/FAS MEUR MEUR MNOK

Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

Notes B B B, D B, D A C A D

Assets
Deferred tax assets -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                   -                     -                     
Goodwill -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                   -                     -                     
Customer contracts and other intangible assets -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                   -                     -                     
Other capitalized long-term expenses -                      -                      -                       -                       5                        -                          -                   5                        50                       
Property, plant and equipment 73                       -                      7                          -                       14                      -                          -1                     1 21                      206                     
Assets held under finance leases -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                   -                     -                     
Financial assets -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                   -                     -                     
Investments -                      -                      -                       -                       51                      -                          -48                   2 2                        23                       
Inventories 5                         -                      1                          -                       15                      -                          16                      156                     
Trade receivables 69                       10                       7                          1                          8                        80                       
Other current receivables 27                       -                      3                          -                       67                      0                             70                      686                     
Short term interco receivables -                      -                       -                       31                      -1                     3 30                      298                     

Other short term assets -                      3                         -                       0                          0                        3                         
Cash and cash equivalents 0                         3                         0                          0                          -                    1                             1                        12                       

-                       -                       -                     -                     
TOTAL ASSETS 175                     16                       18                        2                          183                    1                             -50                   154                    1 513                  

Equity and liabilities
Paid-in capital:
Share capital 10                       2                         1                          0                          17                      -                          -1                     4 17                      165                     
Own shares -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          0 -                     -                     
Share premium -                      -                      -                       -                       31                      -                          0 31                      308                     
Translation reserves -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          0 -                     
Retained earnings 12                       -0                        1                          -0                         45                      1                             4                      5 51                      508                     
Investment loan - recognised as equity -45                   6 -45                     -447                   
Total equity 22                       1                         2                          0                          93                      1                             -42                   54                      534                     

Interest bearing non-current liabilities -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                     -                     
Financial leases -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                     -                     
Deferred tax -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          2                      7 2                        18                       
Other non-current liabilities 19                       -                      2                          -                       9                        -9                     8 2                        19                       
Interest-bearing current liabilities -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                     -                     
Current intercompany liabilities 76                       7                         8                          1                          18                      -1                     9 26                      256                     
Trade payables 16                       1                         2                          0                          61                      -                          63                      621                     
Public fees payable -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                     -                     
Tax payable -                      -                      -                       -                       -                    -                          -                     -                     
Other current liabilities 41                       7                         4                          1                          2                        -                          7                        65                       

-                       -                     -                     
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 175                     16                       18                        2                          184                    1                             -50                   154                    1 513                  
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This adjustment of EUR 48 million represents elimination of the ownership in the various subsidiaries 
(primarily an investment loan of EUR 45 million, see also note 6 below). 

 
3. Adjustment to intercompany receivables 

  This adjustment of EUR 1 million represents elimination of short term intercompany debt. 
      

4. Adjustment of share capital 
This adjustment of EUR 1 million represents elimination of share capital in the subsidiaries. 
 
5. Specification of retained earnings 
This adjustment of million 5 EUR represents elimination of retained earnings in the subsidiaries, 
including the equity portion of tax depreciation in excess of plan amounting to EUR 7 million, due to 
the reversing of the Finnish tax accounting (similar to the previous Norwegian tax method; 
koblingsmodellen).  
 

   
Specification Amounts in 

million EUR 
Reference 

Elimination 1 -1 See note 1 above (adjustment to property, plant and equipment) 
Elimination 2 -48 See note 2 above (elimination of ownership) 
Elimination 7 -2 See note 7 below (recognition of deferred tax) 
Elimination 8 +9 See note 8 below (depreciation in excess of plan) 
Elimination 4 +1 See note 4 above (elimination of share capital) 
Elimination 6 +45 See note 6 below (elimination of investment loan) 
Net retained earnings: 4  

 
 
 6. Adjustment of investment loan 

This adjustment of EUR 45 million represents elimination of said amount recognised as loan in VR 
Track Oy, and equity in two subsidiaries (see also note 2 above). 

 
7. Deferred tax 
VR Track Oy is following the Finnish tax code, upon which assets are depreciated tax-wise differently 
than regular, accounting depreciation. This gives rise to a different tax base compared to accounting 
base of fixed assets. Hence, the difference between the tax base of assets and its carrying value gives 
rise to a deferred tax.  
 
VR Track Oy has booked EUR 9.2 million as untaxed equity, see note 8 below. Out of the EUR 9.2 
million amount 20 % is deferred tax, which is accounted for as a EUR 1.8 million deferred tax liability 
(rounded to EUR 2 million in the segment consolidation). Deferred tax of EUR 1.8 million is reflected as 
a tax liability. 

 
8. Other non-current liabilities 
In VR Track, the “Depreciation in excess of plan” amounts to EUR 9 million in additional tax 
depreciations, which is reflected in the statement of financial position. VR Track Oy has booked EUR 9 
million as a liability in its stand alone financial statement. This figure reflects tax depreciations ahead 
of plan, i.e tax depreciations beyond what would have been ordinary, regular depreciation. In the 
consolidated figures of the VR Track Group this EUR 9.2 million "tax depreciation ahead of plan" has 
been reversed by debiting this amount with EUR 9.2 million (in effect eliminating the debt) and 
crediting equity of the same amount (in effect increasing the consolidated equity). 
  
See also note 7 above. 
 
9. Adjustment to intercompany payables 
This adjustment of EUR 1million represents elimination of short term intercompany debt. 
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12. SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL  

12.1 Share capital and Shares  
The issued share capital of the Company at the date of this Prospectus is NOK 44,026,270 divided amongst 
44,026,270 Shares each with a par value of NOK 1. The Shares are fully paid and issued in accordance with 
Norwegian law. 
 
The Shares are registered in the VPS register with ISIN NO 0003679102. The Shares are equal in all respects 
and each share carries one vote at the Company’s general meeting. 

12.2 Historical development in share capital and number of Shares  
The development of the Company’s share capital since 1 January 2015 is set forth in the table below. 
 

 
Date of registration 

 
Type of change 

Change in share 
capital (NOK) 

Nominal 
value 
(NOK) Share price  

New 
number of 

shares 
New share 

capital (NOK) 

31 December 2014/ 
1 January 2015 ............. - - 1 - - 10,070,649.00 

29 May 2015 ................ Share capital increase2 

(contribution in kind) 
9,674,197.00 1 9.60 19,744,846 19,744,846.00 

3 June 2015 ................. Share capital increase2  

(contribution in kind) 
2,891,139.00 1 20.7530665 22,635,985 22,635,985.00 

14 August 2015 ............ Share capital increase 3,111,111.00 1 27 25,747,096 25,747,096.00 
26 August 2015 ............ Share capital increase 370,370.00 1 27 26,117,466 26,117,466.00 
9 November 2015 .......... Share capital increase3  

(contribution in kind) 
1,596,767.00 1 27/33 27,714,233 27,714,233.00 

13 November 2015 ........ Share capital increase4 2,770,000.00 1 40 30,484,233 30,484,233.00 
3 December 2015 .......... Share capital increase5 

(contribution in kind) 
2,480,250.00 1 40 32,964,483 32,964,483.00 

4 December 2015 .......... Share capital increase4 1,605,000.00 1 40 34,569,483 34,569,483.00 
29 December 2015 Share capital increase  375,000 1 40 34,944,483 34,944,483.00 
31 December 2015/ 
1 January 2016 .............

 - 1 - - 34,944,483.00 

23 May 2016 Share capital increase6 
(contribution in kind) 

366,879 1 52.33 35,311,362 35,311,362.00 

22 November 2016 Share capital increase7  3,000,000 1 70 38,311362 38,311,362.00 
1 December 2016 Share capital increase8 

(contribution in kind) 
441,988 1 67,875 38,753,350 38,753,350.00 

31 December 2016/ 
1 January 2017 .............

 - 1 - - 38,753,350.00 

7 April 2017 Share capital increase9 
(contribution in kind) 

775,862 1 58 39,529,212 39,529,212.00 

6 July 2017 .................. Share capital increase10 
(contribution in kind) 

1,724,137 1 58 41,253,349 41,253,349.00 

10 July 2017 ................. Share capital increase11 
(contribution in kind) 

228,604 1 58 41,811,953 41,814,953.00 

24 October 2017 ........... Share capital increase12 
(contribution in kind) 

512,895  1  61.5  42,327,848  42,327,848.00 

31 December 2017/ 
1 January 2018 .............

 - 1 - - 42,327,848.00 

11 September 2018 ....... Share capital increase13 
(contribution in kind) 

850,745 1 66.1 43,178,593 43,178,593.00 
 

2 October 2018 ............. Share capital increase14 
(contribution in kind) 

847,677 1 68.92 44,026,270 44,026,270.00 
 

 
1 The reduction of share capital in January 2014 was to ensure greater flexibility in the company’s evaluation and selection of various future 

strategic development options. 
2 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of NRC Norge AS and SJT as consideration to the sellers. 
3 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Elektrobyggnad and Litz, with a share price of NOK 27 and NOK 33, respectively, to the 

sellers.  
4 Shares issued in connection with a private placement in November 2015, divided in two tranches.  
5 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Segermo as consideration to the sellers.  
6 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of NRC Railcap AS as consideration to the sellers.  
7 Shares issued in a private placement conducted by the Company after market close on 16 November 2016.  
8 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Gravco AS and Septik Tank Co AS as consideration to the seller.  
9 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of HAG as consideration to the sellers.  
10 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of ALTi as consideration to the sellers.  
11 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of SBB as consideration to the sellers.  
12 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Fibertech as consideration to the sellers.  
13 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of NSS as consideration to the sellers. 
14 Shares issued in connection with the acquisition of Gunnar Knutsen AS as consideration to the sellers. 
 
Since 1 January 2014 more than 10% of the Company’s share capital has been paid for with assets other than 
cash.  

12.3 Authorisation to issue Shares  
On 19 April 2018, the annual general meeting granted the Board of Directors the following authorisation to 
increase the share capital in order to facilitate the fulfilment of the Company's obligations pursuant to the 
option program described above in Section 9.3.3 "Share option program for key employees".  
 
a) The Board of Directors is granted the authorization to increase the share capital by up to NOK 400,000. 

The subscription price and other subscription terms are to be determined by the Board of Directors.  

b) The authorisation only applies to issuances of shares against payment in cash.  
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c) The authorisation may only be used for issuance of shares in order to fulfil the company's obligations 
pursuant to the share option program for key employees.  

d) The shareholders' preferential rights pursuant to section 10-4 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act 
may be waived by the Board of Directors cf. section 10-5 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act.  

e) The authorisation is valid until 19 April 2020.  

As at the date of this Prospectus, the authorisation has not been used to issue Shares.  
 
Further, at the same general meeting, it was resolved to grant the Board of Directors the following 
authorisation:  
 
a) The Board of Directors shall be granted the authorisation to increase the share capital by a maximum of 

NOK 8,465,568. The subscription price and other subscription terms will be determined by the Board of 
Directors.  

b) The capital increase may be paid in cash, by set-off or by contributions in assets other than cash. The 
authorisation includes the right to incur special obligations on behalf of the company, cf. Section 10-2 of 
the Public Limited Liability Companies Act.  

c) The shareholders' pre-emptive rights pursuant to Section 10-4 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act 
may be waived by the Board of Directors cf. Section 10-5 of the Public Limited Liability Companies Act.  

d) The authorization shall include merger decisions cf. Section 13-5 of the Public Limited Liability Companies 
Act.  

e) The authorisation is valid from registration with the Register of Business Enterprises until the Annual 
General Meeting in the spring of 2019, but no later than 30 June 2019, and includes the right to change 
the company's Articles of Association in connection with the share capital increase.  

As at the date of this Prospectus, a total of 1,698,422 Shares have been issued pursuant to the authorisation.  
 
At a general meeting of the Company on 6 November 2018, it was resolved to grant the Board of Directors an 
authorisation to increase the share capital of the Company in connection with the issue of Consideration Shares 
pursuant to the Acquisition. This authorisation is set out in Section 5.2 "Authorisation to issue the Consideration 
Shares". 

12.4 Authorisation to repurchase Shares 

On 19 April 2018, the Company's ordinary general meeting granted the following authorisation to the Board of 
Directors to acquire treasury shares: 
 
"The General Meeting grants the Board of Directors an authorisation to acquire shares in NRC Group ASA for up 
to a maximum nominal value of NOK 4,232,784.00. The Board of Directors' acquisition of shares pursuant to 
the authorisation can only take place between a minimum price of NOK 1 and a highest price of NOK 100 per 
share. The authorisation applies from registration in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises and up 
until the Annual General Meeting in the spring of 2019, but not later than 30 June 2019. Acquisitions and 
disposals of treasury shares can take place in the manner found appropriate by the Board of Directors.” 

12.5 Own Shares 
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company holds 372 treasury shares. Voting rights cannot be exercised for 
the Company’s treasury shares and the voting rights are not to be counted when a resolution requires approval 
by a certain percentage of the share capital, cf. section 5-4 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. 

12.6 Options and warrants 
Other than the options granted in connection with the Key Employee Option Program and Senior Management 
Option Program as further described in Sections 9.3.2 "Share option program for senior management" and 
9.3.3 "Share option program for key employees", the Company has not issued any warrants, options and/or 
other subscription rights.  

12.7 Shareholder structure 
As at 21 November 2018, the Company's VPS register shows that the Company has a total of 2,260 registered 
shareholders. The Company’s largest shareholder is Datum AS, holding 5,100,000 of the issued Shares. All 
Shares of the Company, including Shares held by the Company's major shareholders, have equal voting rights. 
 



Prospectus – NRC Group ASA 
 

76 

The top 20 registered shareholders with the largest shareholdings as registered in the VPS as at 21 November 
2018 are listed below: 
 
# Name of shareholder1  Number of Shares % 

1 DATUM AS   5,100,000 11.58 
2 MIDDELBORG INVEST AS   4,401,454 10.00 
3 ARCTIC FUNDS PLC  BNY MELLON SA/NV 2,329,034 5.29 
4 Carnegie Investment   2,241,414 5.09 
5 NORDEA NORDIC SMALL   1,929,117 4.38 
6 Nordnet Bank AB   1,329,905 3.02 
7 CHARLOTTE HOLDING AS   1,328,008 3.02 
8 VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALF  SEB Investor World G 1,322,156 3.00 
9 GUNNAR KNUTSEN HOLDI   1,252,677 2.85 
10 LGA HOLDING AS   1,168,102 2.65 
11 Norron Sicav - Targe  SKANDINAVISKA ENSKIL 1,137,455 2.58 
12 SOGN INVEST AS  GJERMUND SOGN 1,018,807 2.31 
13 HANDELSBANK NORDISKA  BO 109075 LD 950,771 2.16 
14 HAUGO RIVING AS   850,745 1.93 
15 DnB NOR MARKETS, AKS  DNB Bank ASA 738,658 1.68 
16 CATELLA SMÅBOLAGSFON  Skandinaviska Enskil 719,805 1.63 
17 DANSKE BANK A/S  3887 OPERATIONS SEC. 684,243 1.55 
18 E.K HOLDING AS   668,102 1.52 
19 Skandinaviska Enskil  SEB AB, UCITS V - Sw 665,350 1.51 
20 Avanza Bank AB   568,534 1.29 
 Total top 20 shareholders ........................................................................... 30,404,337 69.04 
 Other .......................................................................................................... 13,621,933 31.96 
 Total shareholders ...................................................................................... 44,026,270 100.00 

 
Shareholders holding 5% or more of the Shares of the Company have an interest in the Company’s share 
capital which is notifiable pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act. See further information on 
disclosure obligations in Section 13.7 "Disclosure obligations" below. As at 21 November 2018, the following 
shareholders are registered in the VPS as owning more than 5% of the Shares in the Company: Datum AS, 
Middelborg Invest AS, Arctic Funds PLC BNY Mellon SA/NV and Carnegie Investment. Except for these 
mentioned shareholders, the Company is not aware of any other shareholders or consolidated groups of 
shareholders owning more than 5% of the Shares.  
 
As at the date of the Prospectus, the Company is not aware of any arrangements or agreements that may 
result in, prevent, or restrict, a change of control of the Company.  

12.8 Lock-up agreements  
The Company has entered into lock-up arrangements with the sellers of Gravco, HAG, ALTi, SBB and Fibertech. 
The consideration shares issued in the respective transactions are subject to the following lock-up periods:  
 
• HAG: 775,862 Shares, whereby 1/3 of the Shares are subject to a lock-up undertaking of 24 months, 1/3 

for 30 months and the last 1/3 for 36 months after the closing date of 7 April 2017. 

• ALTi: 1,724,137 Shares, whereby 1/3 of the Shares are subject to a lock-up undertaking of 24 months, 
1/3 for 30 months and the last 1/3 for 36 months after the closing date of 6 July 2017.  

• SBB: 561,604 Shares, whereby 1/3 of the Shares are subject to a lock-up period of 18 months, 1/3 for 24 
months and the last 1/3 for 36 months after the closing date of 10 July 2017;  

• Fibertech: 512,895 Shares, whereby 1/3 of the Shares are subject to a lock-up undertaking of 24 months, 
1/3 for 30 months and the last 1/3 for 36 months after the closing date of 24 October 2017 

• NSS: 850,745 Shares, whereby 1/3 of the Shares are subject to a lock-up undertaking of 24 months and 
the remaining 2/3 for 36 months after the closing date of 11 September 2018. 

• GK: 1,252,677 Shares, whereby 1/2 of the shares are subject to a lock-up undertaking of 24 months and 
the remaining 1/2 for 36 months after the closing date of 28 September 2018. 

12.9 Listing, share registrar and securities number 

The Shares are registered in the VPS. The Shares' current securities number is ISIN NO 0003679102. The 
Registrar for the Shares is DNB Bank ASA, Registrars Department, Dronning Eufemias gate 30, 0191 Oslo, 
Norway. 
 
The Shares are listed on Oslo Børs under ticker code "NRC". No Shares or any interests in the Shares of the 
Company are listed and no application has been filed for listing, on any other stock exchange or regulated 
market than Oslo Børs. 
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12.10 Dividend policy 

The Company expects to create value for its shareholders by combining increased share value in a long-term 
perspective and a solid distribution of dividends. The Company aims to have a dividend policy comparable with 
other groups in the industry and to give its shareholders a competitive return on invested capital relative to the 
underlying risks.  

The Board of Directors has introduced a dividend policy whereby, subject to satisfactory underlying financial 
performance, it is the Company's ambition over time to distribute a minimum of 30% of the profit for the year 
in dividends. The target level will be subject to adjustment based on other possible uses of funds. 

At the Company’s annual general meeting held on 19 April 2018, it was resolved to distribute a dividend of NOK 
1.75 per Share for the financial year 2017, with dividend payments made on 3 May 2018 to registered 
shareholders of the Company as at 23 April 2018.  

A dividend of NOK 0.80 per Share was distributed for the financial year 2016 and no dividend was paid for the 
2015 financial year.  

The table below presents the dividends per share and earnings per share for financial years 2015, 2016 and 
2017. 

NOK  2017 2016 2015 

 Earnings per share  
   

3,87  
   

1,62  
   

2,36  

 Dividend per share  
   

1,75  
   

0,80  
   

-   
 

12.11 Shareholder agreements 

The Company is not aware of any shareholder agreements in respect of the Shares. 
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13. SHAREHOLDERS MATTERS AND NORWEGIAN COMPANY AND SECURITIES LAW 

13.1 General meeting  
According to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, a company’s shareholders exercise their voting 
rights in the company at the general meeting. 

A shareholder may attend the general meeting either in person or by proxy. According to the Norwegian 
Securities Trading Act section 5-9 (3) a company listed on Oslo Børs shall send proxy forms to its shareholders 
prior to its general meetings, unless such form is made available to the shareholders on the internet site of the 
company and the notice of the general meeting includes all information needed by the shareholders to gain 
access to the documents, including the internet address. 

In accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, the annual general meeting of the 
company shall be held each year no later than 30 June. The following matters must be on the agenda for 
the annual general meeting: 

• approval of the annual accounts and annual report, including the distribution of any dividends 
• the statement of the board of directors with regard to remuneration and benefits to the company’s 

managing director and other senior management; 
• a statement of principles and practice for corporate governance; and 
• any other business required to be discussed at the general meeting by law or in accordance with the 

company’s Articles of Association. 

The Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act requires that publicly listed companies send written notice of 
general meetings to all shareholders at least 21 days prior to the date of the general meeting. 
Shareholders who want to participate at the Company’s general meeting shall give notice to the Company 
by the deadline stated in the notice for the general meeting. The deadline for giving notice of participation 
at the general meeting is normally the day before the meeting.  

Any shareholder of the Company is entitled to demand that a matter is added to the agenda of a general 
meeting provided that such shareholder provides the Board of Directors with a written notice of the matter 
at least seven days prior to the deadline for submitting the notice of the general meeting. 
 
In addition to the annual general meeting, extraordinary general meetings of shareholders may be held if 
deemed necessary by the Company’s Board of Directors. An extraordinary general meeting shall also be 
convened for the consideration of specific matters at the written request of the Company’s auditor or 
shareholders representing in total at least 5% of the share capital of the Company. 

13.2 Voting Rights  

The Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act sets forth that each share in a company shall represent a right 
to one vote at the general meeting. No voting rights can be exercised with respect to treasury shares (own 
shares) held by a company. 
 
In general, decisions that shareholders are entitled to make under the Norwegian Public Limited 
Companies Act or the Company’s Articles of Association may be made by a simple majority of the votes cast. 
In the case of elections, the persons who obtain the most votes cast are elected. However, certain 
decisions, including but not limited to resolutions to: 

• authorise an increase or reduction of the Company’s share capital, 
• authorise an issuance of convertible loans or warrants, 
• authorise the Board of Directors to purchase the Company’s own shares and hold them as treasury shares, 
• waive preferential rights in connection with a share issue, 
• approve a merger or demerger, and 
• amend the Company’s Articles of Associations, 

must receive the approval of at least two-thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast at the general meeting, 
as well as at least two-thirds of the share capital represented at the general meeting. The Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act further requires that certain decisions, which have the effect of substantially 
altering the rights and preferences of any shares or class of shares, receive the approval of the holders of such 
shares or class of shares as well as the majority required for amendments to the Articles of Association.  

Decisions that (i) would reduce the rights of some or all of the Company’s shareholders in respect of dividend 
payments or other rights to assets or (ii) restrict the transferability of the Shares, require that at least 90% of 
the share capital represented at the Company’s general meeting vote in favour of the resolution, as well as the 
majority required for amending the Articles of Association. Decisions which (i) increases the shareholders’ 
obligations towards the Company, (ii) restricts the shareholders’ right to transfer their shares other than 
requiring consent, (iii) make shares subject to forced redemption, (iv) changes the legal relationship between 
previously equal shares and (v) reduces the shareholders’ right to dividends or the Company’s capital, require 
the approval of all shareholders in the Company. In general, only a shareholder registered in the VPS is entitled 
to vote for such Shares. Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in the name of a nominee are 
generally not entitled to vote under Norwegian law, nor are any person who is designated in the VPS register as 
the holder of such Shares as nominees. Investors should note that there are varying opinions as to the 
interpretation of the right to vote on nominee registered shares. 
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There are no quorum requirements for the general meeting of the Company. 

13.3 Additional issuance and preferential rights 
If a public limited company issues any new shares, including bonus share issues (involving the issuance of new 
shares by a transfer from the company’s share premium reserve or distributable equity to the share capital), 
such decision requires a two-thirds majority of the votes cast and the share capital represented at a general 
meeting of shareholders. In connection with an increase in the Company’s share capital by a subscription for 
Shares against cash contributions, Norwegian law provides the Company’s shareholders with a preferential right 
to subscribe for the new Shares on a pro rata basis based on their then-current shareholding in the Company. 
The preferential rights to subscribe for Shares in a Share issue may be waived by a resolution in the general 
meeting with the same voting requirements as for amendments to the Articles of Association. A waiver of the 
shareholders’ preferential rights in respect of bonus issues requires the approval of all outstanding Shares. 
 
The general meeting may, with two-thirds majority vote as described above, authorise the Board of Directors to 
issue new Shares. Such authorisation may be effective for a maximum of two years, and the par value of the 
Shares to be issued may not exceed 50% of the nominal share capital at the time the authorisation is 
registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. The Corporate Governance Code recommends 
that the authorisation is limited to specific purposes and not valid for longer than until the next annual general 
meeting. The preferential right to subscribe for Shares against consideration in cash may be set aside by the 
Board of Directors only if the authorisation includes such option for the Board of Directors. 
 
To issue Shares to shareholders who are citizens or residents of the United States upon the exercise of 
preferential rights, the Company may be required to file a registration statement in the United States under 
U.S. securities laws. If the Company decides not to file a registration statement, these holders may not be able 
to exercise their preferential rights. 
 
Under Norwegian law, bonus shares may be issued, subject to shareholder approval and provided, amongst 
other requirements, that the Company does not have an uncovered loss from a previous accounting year, by 
transfer from the Company’s distributable equity or from the Company’s share premium reserve. Any bonus 
issues may be accomplished either by issuing Shares or by increasing the par value of the outstanding Shares. 
If the increase in share capital is to take place by new Shares being issued, these new Shares must be allotted 
to the shareholders of the Company in proportion to their current shareholding in the Company. 

13.4 Minority rights  

The Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act contains a number of provisions protecting minority shareholders 
against oppression by the majority, including but not limited to those described in this and preceding sections. 
Any shareholder may petition the courts to have a decision of the Company’s Board of Directors or general 
meeting declared invalid on the grounds that it unreasonably favours certain shareholders or third parties to the 
detriment of other shareholders or the Company itself. In certain grave circumstances, shareholders may 
require the courts to dissolve the company as a result of such decisions. Shareholders holding in aggregate 5% 
or more of a public limited company’s share capital have a right to demand that the company holds an 
extraordinary general meeting to address specific matters. In addition, any shareholder may demand that the 
company places an item on the agenda for any general meeting if the company is notified in time for such item 
to be included in the notice of the meeting. 

13.5 Mandatory offer requirements  

The Norwegian Securities Trading Act requires any person, entity or consolidated group that becomes the 
owner of shares representing more than one-third of the voting rights of a Norwegian company listed on a 
Norwegian regulated market to, within four weeks, make an unconditional general offer for the purchase of the 
remaining shares in that company. A mandatory offer obligation may also be triggered where a party acquires 
the right to become the owner of shares that, together with the party’s own shareholding, represent more than 
one-third of the voting rights in the company and Oslo Børs decides that this is regarded as an effective 
acquisition of the shares in question. 
 
The mandatory offer obligation ceases to apply if the person, entity or consolidated group sells the portion of 
the shares that exceeds the relevant threshold within four weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer 
obligation was triggered. 
 
When a mandatory offer obligation is triggered, the person subject to the obligation is required to immediately 
notify Oslo Børs and the company in question accordingly. The notification is required to state whether an offer 
will be made to acquire the remaining shares in the company or whether a sale will take place. As a rule, a 
notification to the effect that an offer will be made cannot be retracted. The offer and the offer document 
required are subject to approval by Oslo Børs before the offer is submitted to the shareholders or made public. 
 
The offer price per share must be at least as high as the highest price paid or agreed by the offeror for the 
shares in the six-month period prior to the date the threshold was exceeded. However, if it is clear that that the 
market price was higher when the mandatory offer obligation was triggered, the Norwegian Securities Trading 
Act states that the offer price shall be at least as high as the market price. If the acquirer acquires or agrees to 
acquire additional shares at a higher price prior to the expiration of the mandatory offer period, the acquirer is 
obliged to restate its offer at such higher price. A mandatory offer must be in cash or contain a cash alternative 
at least equivalent to any other consideration offered. 
 
In case of failure to make a mandatory offer or to sell the portion of the shares that exceeds the relevant 
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threshold within four weeks, Oslo Børs may force the acquirer to sell the shares exceeding the threshold by 
public auction. Moreover, a shareholder who fails to make an offer may not, as long as the mandatory offer 
obligation remains in force, exercise rights in the company, such as voting in a general meeting of the 
Company’s shareholders, without the consent of a majority of the remaining shareholders. The shareholder 
may, however, exercise his/her/its rights to dividends and pre-emption rights in the event of a share capital 
increase. If the shareholder neglects his/her/its duty to make a mandatory offer, Oslo Børs may impose a 
cumulative daily fine that runs until the situation has been rectified. 
 
Any person, entity or consolidated group that owns shares representing more than one-third of the votes in a 
Norwegian company listed on a Norwegian regulated market is obliged to make an offer to purchase the 
remaining shares of the company (repeated offer obligation) if the person entity or consolidated group through 
acquisition becomes the owner of shares representing 40%, or more of the votes in the company. The same 
applies correspondingly if the person, entity or consolidated group through acquisition becomes the owner of 
shares representing 50% or more of the votes in the company. The mandatory offer obligation ceases to apply 
if the person, entity or consolidated group sells the portion of the shares which exceeds the relevant threshold 
within four weeks of the date on which the mandatory offer obligation was triggered. 
 
Any person, entity or consolidated Group that has passed any of the above mentioned thresholds in such a way 
as not to trigger the mandatory bid obligation, and has therefore not previously made an offer for the 
remaining shares in the company in accordance with the mandatory offer rules is, as a main rule, obliged to 
make a mandatory offer in the event of a subsequent acquisition of shares in the company. 
 
The Company has not received any takeover bids or bids to acquire controlling interest during the last 12 
months. 

13.6 Compulsory acquisition 

Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act and the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a 
shareholder who, directly or through subsidiaries, acquires shares representing more than 90% of the total 
number of issued shares in a Norwegian public limited liability company, as well as more than 90% of the total 
voting rights, has a right, and each remaining minority shareholder of the company has a right to require such 
majority shareholder, to effect a compulsory acquisition for cash of the shares not already owned by such 
majority shareholder. Through such compulsory acquisition, the majority shareholder becomes the owner of the 
remaining shares with immediate effect. 
 
If a shareholder acquires shares representing more than 90% of the total number of issued shares, as well as 
more than 90% of the total voting rights, through a voluntary offer in accordance with the Norwegian Securities 
Trading Act, a compulsory acquisition can, subject to the following conditions, be carried out without such 
shareholder being obliged to make a mandatory offer: (i) the compulsory acquisition is commenced no later 
than four weeks after the acquisition of shares through the voluntary offer, (ii) the price offered per share is 
equal to or higher than what the offer price would have been in a mandatory offer, and (iii) the settlement is 
guaranteed by a financial institution authorised to provide such guarantees in Norway. 
 
A majority shareholder who effects a compulsory acquisition is required to offer the minority shareholders a 
specific price per share, the determination of which is at the discretion of the majority shareholder. However, 
where the offeror, after making a mandatory or voluntary offer, has acquired more than 90% of the voting 
shares of a company and a corresponding proportion of the votes that can be cast at the general meeting, and 
the offeror pursuant to section 4-25 of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act completes a compulsory 
acquisition of the remaining shares within three months after the expiry of the offer period, it follows from the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act that the redemption price shall be determined on the basis of the offer price 
for the mandatory /voluntary offer unless specific reasons indicate another price. 
 
Should any minority shareholder not accept the offered price, such minority shareholder may, within a specified 
deadline of not less than two months, request that the price be set by a Norwegian court. The cost of such 
court procedure will, as a general rule, be the responsibility of the majority shareholder, and the relevant court 
will have full discretion in determining the consideration to be paid to the minority shareholder as a result of the 
compulsory acquisition. 
 
Absent a request for a Norwegian court of law to set the price or any other objection to the price being offered, 
the minority shareholders would be deemed to have accepted the offered price after the expiry of the specified 
deadline. 

13.7 Disclosure obligations 
Pursuant to the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, a person, entity or a group acting in concert acquires or 
disposes shares or rights to shares, i.e. convertible loans, subscription rights, options to purchase shares 
and similar rights to shares, which results in beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, 
reaching or exceeding or falling below the respective thresholds of 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 1/3, 50%, 2/3 
or 90% of the share capital, or a corresponding portion of the votes, is obligated to notify Oslo Børs and the 
issuer immediately. Certain voting rights are counted on equal basis as shares and rights to shares. A change 
in ownership level due to other circumstances (i.e. other than acquisition or disposal) can also trigger the 
notification obligations when the said thresholds are passed, e.g. changes in the company’s share capital. 

13.8 Rights of redemption and repurchase of share options 
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The share capital of the Company may be reduced by reducing the par value of the Shares or by redeeming 
Shares. Such a decision requires the approval of at least two thirds of the aggregate number of votes cast and 
at least two thirds of the share capital represented at a general meeting of the Company’s shareholders. 
Redemption of individual Shares requires the consent of the holders of the Shares to be redeemed.  
 
The Company may purchase its own Shares provided that the Board of Directors has been granted an 
authorisation to do so by the general meeting with the approval of at least two thirds of the aggregate number 
of votes cast and at least two thirds of the share capital represented at the meeting. The aggregate par value of 
treasury shares so acquired, and held by the Company, must not exceed 10% of the Company’s share capital, 
and treasury shares may only be acquired if the Company’s distributable equity, according to the latest adopted 
balance sheet, exceeds the consideration to be paid for the shares. 

13.9 Shareholders vote on certain reorganisations 
A decision to merge with another company or to demerge requires a resolution of the Company’s shareholders 
at a general meeting passed by two-thirds of the aggregate votes cast, as well as two-thirds of the aggregate 
share capital represented at the general meeting. A merger plan or de-merger plan signed by the 
Company’s Board of Directors along with certain other required documentation shall be sent to all 
shareholders and registered with the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises at least one month prior to the 
general meeting to decide upon the matter. 

13.10 Distribution of dividends 

Dividends may be paid in cash or in some instances in kind. Pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited 
Companies Act, a public company may only distribute dividends to the extent it after the distribution has 
net assets covering the company’s share capital and other restricted equity. The calculation shall be made 
on the basis of the balance sheet in the company’s last approved financial statements, however so that it is 
the registered share capital on the time of decision that applies. In the amount that may be distributed 
according to the first paragraph, a deduction shall be made for (i) the aggregate nominal value of treasury 
shares held by the company, (ii) credit and collateral pursuant to sections 8-7 and 8-10 of the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act, with the exception of credit and collateral repaid or settled prior to the time 
of decision or credit which is settled by a netting in the dividend and (iii) other dispositions after the 
balance day which pursuant to the law shall lie within the scope of the funds that the company may use to 
distribute dividend. Even if all other requirements are fulfilled, the company may only distribute dividend to 
the extent that it after the distribution has a sound equity and liquidity. Distribution of dividends is resolved 
by a majority vote at the general meeting of the shareholders of the Company, and on the basis of a proposal 
from the Board of Directors. The general meeting cannot distribute a larger amount than what is proposed or 
accepted by the Board of Directors. 

According to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, there is no time limit after which entitlement to 
dividends lapses. Further, there are no dividend restrictions or specific procedures for non-Norwegian 
resident shareholders in the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. Any potential future payments of 
dividends on the Shares will be denominated in NOK, and will be paid to the shareholders through the VPS. 
Payment to investors registered in the VPS whose address is outside Norway will be conducted by the 
Company’s registrar (DNB) based on information received from the VPS. Investors registered in the VPS with 
an address outside Norway who have not supplied VPS with their bank account details or who do not have a 
valid bank account number will receive a letter from the Company’s VPS registrar which needs to be returned 
before the dividend payment can take place. 

13.11 Distribution of assets on liquidation 
According to the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act, a company may be wound-up by a resolution of the 
company’s shareholders in a general meeting passed by the same vote as required with respect to amendments 
to the Articles of Association. The shares rank equally in the event of a return on capital by the Company upon 
a winding-up or otherwise. 

13.12 The VPS and transfer of shares  
The VPS is the Norwegian paperless centralised securities registry. It is a computerised bookkeeping system in 
which the ownership of, and all transactions relating to, Norwegian listed shares must be recorded. The 
Company’s share register is operated through the VPS. All transactions relating to securities registered with the 
VPS are made through computerised book entries. No physical share certificates are, or may be, issued. The 
VPS confirms each entry by sending a transcript to the registered shareholder irrespective of any beneficial 
ownership. To effect such entries, the individual shareholder must establish a share account with a Norwegian 
account agent. Norwegian banks, Norges Bank, authorised securities brokers in Norway and Norwegian 
branches of credit institutions established within the EEA are allowed to act as account agents. 

The entry of a transaction in the VPS is prima facie evidence in determining the legal rights of parties as against 
the issuing company or a third party claiming an interest in the given security. The VPS is liable for any loss 
suffered as a result of faulty registration or an amendment to, or deletion of, rights in respect of registered 
securities unless the error is caused by matters outside the VPS’s control and which the VPS could not 
reasonably be expected to avoid or overcome the consequences of. Damages payable by the VPS may, 
however, be reduced in the event of contributory negligence by the aggrieved party. 

A transferee or assignee of shares may not exercise the rights of a shareholder with respect to such shares 
unless such transferee or assignee has registered such shareholding or has reported and shown evidence of 
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such share acquisition, and the acquisition of shares is not prevented by law, the Articles of Association or 
otherwise 

13.13 Shareholders’ register 

Under Norwegian law, shares are registered in the name of the owner of the shares. As a general rule, there 
are no arrangements for nominee registration and Norwegian shareholders are not allowed to register their 
shares in VPS through a nominee. However, shares may be registered in the VPS by a fund manager (bank or 
other nominee) approved by the Norwegian Ministry of Finance, as the nominee of foreign shareholders. An 
approved and registered nominee has a duty to provide information on demand about beneficial shareholders to 
the company and to the Norwegian authorities. In the case of registration by nominees, registration with the 
VPS must show that the registered owner is a nominee. A registered nominee has the right to receive dividends 
and other distributions but cannot vote at general meetings on behalf of the beneficial owners. Beneficial 
owners must register with the VPS or provide other sufficient proof of their ownership to the shares in order to 
vote at general meetings. 

13.14 The Articles of Association  
The Articles of Association of the Company (last amended 24 October 2017) are incorporated by reference 
to this Prospectus (See Section 16.3 "Incorporation by reference"). The following is a summary of provisions 
of the Company’s Articles of Association as of the date of this Prospectus, some of which have not been 
addressed in the preceding discussion.  
 
Section 2  
The Company's business is investment in, and operational management of, companies that provides services within 
transportation and infrastructure related work. 

Section 3 
The Company’s registered office is in the municipality of Bærum, Norway.  

Section 4 
The Company’s share capital is NOK 42,327,848.00 divided into 42,327,848 shares, each with a nominal value of 
NOK 1. 

Section 5 
The Company’s Board of Directors shall consist of from three to nine shareholder elected board members. The 
Board of Directors is elected for two years at a time. It is possible to elect as many deputy members as there are 
members of the board. The deputy members are also elected for two years at a time. 

Section 6 
The right to sign for the company is held by the managing director and the board chairman jointly or the managing 
director and two board member jointly or the board chairman and two board members jointly. The managing 
director has the company’s power of procuration. The board may grant power of procuration to others as well. 
 
The Articles of Association of the company do not contain any provisions stricter than is required by the Norwegian 
Public Limited Companies Act in relation to changing the rights of holders of the Shares. The statutory requirements 
in this regard is set forth in Section 13.2 "Voting Rights" above. 

13.15 Insider trading  

According to Norwegian law, subscription for, purchase, sale or exchange of financial instruments that are 
listed, or subject to the application for listing, on a Norwegian regulated market, or incitement to such 
dispositions, must not be undertaken by anyone who has inside information, as defined in section 3-2 of the 
Norwegian Securities Trading Act. The same applies to the entry into, purchase, sale or exchange of options or 
futures/forward contracts or equivalent rights whose value is connected to such financial instruments or 
incitement to such dispositions. 
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14. NORWEGIAN TAXATION  

14.1 General  

Set out in this chapter 14 is a summary of certain Norwegian tax matters related to purchase, holding and 
disposal of shares. The statements herein are, unless otherwise stated, based on laws, rules and regulations in 
force in Norway as of the date of this Prospectus and are subject to any changes in law occurring after such 
date. Such changes could possibly be made on a retrospective basis. This summary does not address foreign 
tax laws.  
 
The following summary is of a general nature and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all 
Norwegian tax considerations that may be relevant for a decision to acquire, own or dispose of Shares. 
Shareholders who wish to clarify their own tax situation should consult with and rely upon their own tax 
advisors. Shareholders resident in jurisdictions other than Norway should consult with and rely upon local tax 
advisors with respect to the tax position in their country of residence.  
 
Please note that for the purpose of the summary below, a reference to a Norwegian or non-Norwegian 
shareholder refers to the tax residency rather than the nationality of the shareholder.  

14.2 Taxation of dividends  

 Norwegian Personal Shareholders  

Dividends distributed to shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Norwegian 
Personal Shareholders") are taxable in Norway for such shareholders at an effective tax rate of 30.59% to 
the extent the dividend exceeds a tax-free allowance. The dividend received, less the tax free allowance, shall 
be multiplied by 1.33, which are then included as ordinary income taxable at a flat rate of 23%, increasing the 
effective rate on dividends received by Norwegian Personal Shareholders to 30.59%.  
 
The tax free allowance is calculated on a share-by-share basis. The allowance for each share is equal to the 
cost price of the share multiplied by a risk free interest rate, based on the effective rate after tax of interest on 
treasury bills (Nw. statskasseveksler) with three months maturity and increased by 0.5%. The allowance is 
calculated for each calendar year, and is allocated solely to Norwegian Personal Shareholders holding shares at 
the expiration of the relevant calendar year.  
 
Norwegian Personal Shareholders who transfer shares will thus not be entitled to deduct any calculated 
allowance related to the year of transfer. Any part of the calculated allowance one year exceeding the dividend 
distributed on the shares (excess allowance), may be carried forward and set off against future dividends 
received on, or gains upon realization, of the same share. Any excess allowance will also be included in the 
basis for calculating the allowance on the same share in the following year.  

 Norwegian Corporate Shareholders  

Dividends distributed to shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other similar entities) 
resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Norwegian Corporate Shareholders"), are effectively taxed at a rate 
of 0.69% (3% of dividend income from such shares is included in the calculation of ordinary income for 
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders and ordinary income is subject to tax at a flat rate of 23%).  

 Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders  

Dividends distributed to shareholders who are individuals not resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Non-
Norwegian Personal Shareholders"), are as a general rule subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The 
withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax treaties between Norway and the country in which 
the shareholder is resident. The withholding obligation lies with the company distributing the dividends and the 
Company assumes this obligation.  
 
Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders resident within the EEA for tax purposes may apply individually to 
Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of an amount corresponding to the calculated tax-free allowance on each 
individual share (please see Section 14.2.1 "Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above). However, the deduction 
for the tax-free allowance does not apply in the event that the withholding tax rate, pursuant to an applicable 
tax treaty, leads to a lower taxation of dividends than the withholding tax rate of 25% less the tax-free 
allowance.  
 
If a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the shares are 
effectively connected with such activities, the shareholders will be subject to the same taxation dividends as 
Norwegian Personal Shareholders, as described in Section 14.2.1 "Norwegian Personal Shareholders" above.  
 
Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in an applicable 
tax treaty, may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of excess withholding tax deducted.  

 Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders 

Dividends distributed to shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other entities) not 
resident in Norway for tax purposes ("Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders"), are as a general rule 
subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25%. The withholding tax rate of 25% is normally reduced through tax 
treaties between Norway and the country in which the shareholder is resident.  
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Dividends distributed to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders resident within the EEA for tax purposes are 
exempt from Norwegian withholding tax; provided that the shareholder is the beneficial owner of the shares 
and that the shareholder is genuinely established and performs genuine economic business activities within the 
relevant EEA jurisdiction.  
If a Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholder is carrying on business activities in Norway and the shares are 
effectively connected with such activities, the shareholder will be subject to the same taxation of dividends as a 
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders, as described above in Section 14.2.2 "Norwegian Corporate Shareholders". 
 
Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders who have suffered a higher withholding tax than set out in the 
applicable tax treaty, may apply to the Norwegian tax authorities for a refund of the excess withholding tax 
deducted.  
 
Nominee registered shares will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 25% unless the nominee has obtained 
approval from the Norwegian Tax Directorate for the dividend to be subject to a lower withholding tax rate. To 
obtain such approval, the nominee is required to file a summary to the tax authorities, including all beneficial 
owners that are subject to withholding tax at a reduced rate.  
 
From 1 January 2019, new rules will apply with respect to the documentation of the applicability of reduced 
withholding tax rates. According to the new rules, all Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders must document 
their entitlement to a reduced withholding tax rate by either (i) presenting an approved withholding tax refund 
application or (ii) present an approval from the Norwegian tax authorities confirming that the recipient is 
entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate. Such documentation must be provided to either the nominee or the 
account operator (VPS). 
 
The withholding obligation in respect of dividend to Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders and on nominee 
registered shares lies with the company distributing the dividends and the Company assumes this obligation.  

14.3 Taxation of capital gains on realization of shares 

 Norwegian Personal Shareholders  

Sale, redemption or other disposal of shares are considered realization for Norwegian tax purposes. A capital 
gain or loss generated by a Norwegian Personal Shareholder through disposal of shares is included in, or 
deducted from, the basis for computation of ordinary income in the year of realization. Same as for taxation of 
dividends disbursed to Norwegian Personal Shareholders (described in Section 14.2.1 "Norwegian Personal 
Shareholders" above), the effective tax rate is currently 30.59% (capital gains, less the tax free allowance, and 
losses are multiplied by 1.33, and then included or deducted from the Norwegian Personal Shareholders 
ordinary income, which is taxable at a flat rate of 23%). Gains are taxable and losses are deductible 
irrespective of the duration of the ownership of the shares disposed of.  
 
The gain or loss is calculated per share as the difference between the consideration for the share and the cost 
price (including costs incurred in relation to the acquisition or realization of the share). From this capital gain, 
Norwegian Personal Shareholders are entitled to deduct a calculated allowance, provided that such allowance 
has not already been used to reduce taxable dividend income. Please refer Section 14.2.1 "Norwegian Personal 
Shareholders" for a description of the calculation of the allowance. The allowance may only be deducted in 
order to reduce a taxable gain calculated upon the realization of the share, and may not be deducted to 
produce or increase a loss for tax purposes, i.e. any unused allowance exceeding the capital gain upon the 
realization of a share will be annulled.  
 
If the Norwegian Personal Shareholder owns shares acquired at different points in time, the shares that were 
acquired first will be regarded as the first to be disposed of, on a first-in first-out basis.  
 
Special rules apply to Norwegian Personal Shareholders that cease to be tax-resident in Norway. 

 Norwegian Corporate Shareholders  

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are exempt from tax on capital gains generated through the realization of 
shares qualifying for participation exemption. Losses upon the realization and costs incurred in connection with 
the purchase and realization of such shares are not deductible for tax purposes. 
 
Special rules apply for Norwegian Corporate Shareholders that cease to be tax-resident in Norway.   

 Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders  

Capital gains from sale or other disposals made by a Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders are not subject to 
taxation in Norway, however, a tax liability in Norway may arise if the shares are held in connection with 
business activities carried out or managed from Norway.  

 Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders  

Capital gains generated through realization of shares by Non-Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are not subject 
to taxation in Norway.  

14.4 Net Wealth Tax  
Norwegian Personal Shareholders are subject to net wealth tax. The marginal net wealth tax is currently 0.85% 
of the value assessed. When calculating the net wealth tax base, shares in listed companies are valued to 80% 
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of the shares' quoted value as of 1 January in the year of the assessment, i.e. the year following the relevant 
income year.  
 
Norwegian Corporate Shareholders are not subject to net wealth tax.  
 
Shareholders not resident in Norway for tax purposes are, at the outset, not subject to Norwegian net wealth 
tax. Non-Norwegian Personal Shareholders may however be subject to net wealth tax if the shares are held in 
connection with a business, or connected to the conduct of trade, in Norway.  

14.5 Duties on transfer of shares  
No stamp duty or similar duties are currently imposed in Norway on the transfer or issuance of shares in the 
Company.  

14.6 Inheritance tax  

A transfer of shares through inheritance or as a gift does not give rise to inheritance or gift tax in Norway. 
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15. SELLING AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS 

15.1 General  
The grant of Subscription Rights and issue of Offer Shares upon exercise of Subscription Rights and the offer of 
unsubscribed Offer Shares to persons resident in, or who are citizens of countries other than Norway, may be 
affected by the laws of the relevant jurisdiction. Investors should consult their professional advisors as to 
whether they require any governmental or other consent or need to observe any other formalities to enable 
them to exercise Subscription Rights or purchase Offer Shares. 
 
The Company is not taking any action to permit a public offering of the Subscription Rights and Offer Shares in 
any jurisdiction other than Norway. Receipt of this Prospectus will not constitute an offer in those jurisdictions 
in which it would be illegal to make an offer and, in those circumstances, this Prospectus is for information only 
and should not be copied or redistributed. Except as otherwise disclosed in this Prospectus, if an investor 
receives a copy of this Prospectus in any territory other than Norway, the investor may not treat this 
Prospectus as constituting an invitation or offer to it, nor should the investor in any event deal in the Offer 
Shares and Subscription Rights, unless, in the relevant jurisdiction, such an invitation or offer could lawfully be 
made to that investor, or the Offer Shares and Subscription Rights could lawfully be dealt in without 
contravention of any unfulfilled registration or other legal requirements. Accordingly, if an investor receives a 
copy of this Prospectus, the investor should not distribute or send the same, or transfer the Offer Shares and 
Subscription Rights to any person or in or into any jurisdiction where to do so would or might contravene local 
securities laws or regulations. If the investor forwards this Prospectus into any such territories (whether under 
a contractual or legal obligation or otherwise), the investor should direct the recipient's attention to the 
contents of this Section 15 “Selling and transfer restrictions”. 
  
Except as otherwise noted in this Prospectus and subject to certain exceptions: (i) the Subscription Rights and 
Offer Shares being granted or offered, respectively, in the Rights Issue may not be offered, sold, resold, 
transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, in or into, member states of the EEA that have not implemented 
the Prospectus Directive, the United States, Australia, Canada, the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of 
the People's Republic of China, South Africa or Japan or any other jurisdictions in which it would not be 
permissible to grant the Subscription Rights and/or offer the Offer Shares (the "Ineligible Jurisdictions"); (ii) 
this Prospectus may not be sent to any person in any Ineligible Jurisdiction; and (iii) the crediting of 
Subscription Rights to an account of an Ineligible Subscriber or other person in an Ineligible Jurisdiction or a 
citizen of an Ineligible Jurisdiction does not constitute an offer to such persons of the Subscription Rights or the 
Offer Shares. A person to whom the Rights Issue cannot be lawfully made (collectively, "Ineligible Persons") 
may not exercise Subscription Rights. 

If an investor takes up, delivers or otherwise transfers Subscription Rights, exercises Subscription Rights to 
obtain Offer Shares or trades or otherwise deals in the Offer Shares and Subscription Rights, that investor will 
be deemed to have made or, in some cases, be required to make, the following representations and warranties 
to the Company and any person acting on the Company's or its behalf: 

• the investor is not an Ineligible Person; 

• the investor is not acting, and has not acted, for the account or benefit of an Ineligible Person; 

• unless the investor is a QIB, the investor is located outside the United States and any person for 
whose account or benefit it is acting on a non-discretionary basis is located outside the United States 
and, upon acquiring Offer Shares, the investor and any such person will be located outside the United 
States; 

• the investor understands that the Subscription Rights and Offer Shares have not been and will not be 
registered under the U.S. Securities Act and may not be offered, sold, pledged, resold, granted, 
delivered, allocated, taken up or otherwise transferred within the United States except pursuant to 
an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, registration under the U.S. Securities Act; and 

• the investor may lawfully be offered, take up, subscribe for and receive Subscription Rights and Offer 
Shares in the jurisdiction in which it resides or is currently located. 

The Company and any persons acting on behalf of the Company, including the Receiving Agent, will rely upon 
the investor's representations and warranties. Any provision of false information or subsequent breach of these 
representations and warranties may subject the investor to liability. 

If a person is acting on behalf of a holder of Subscription Rights (including, without limitation, as a nominee, 
custodian or trustee), that person will be required to provide the foregoing representations and warranties to 
the Company with respect to the exercise of Subscription Rights on behalf of the holder. If such person cannot 
or is unable to provide the foregoing representations and warranties, the Company will not be bound to 
authorise the allocation of any of the Subscription Rights and Offer Shares to that person or the person on 
whose behalf the other is acting. Subject to the specific restrictions described below, if an investor (including, 
without limitation, its nominees and trustees) is outside Norway and wishes to exercise Subscription Rights 
and/or deal in the Offer Shares, the investor must satisfy itself as to full observance of the applicable laws of 
any relevant territory including obtaining any requisite governmental or other consents, observing any other 
requisite formalities and paying any issue, transfer or other taxes due in such territories. 
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The information set out in this Section is intended as a general guide only. If the investor is in any 
doubt as to whether it is eligible to exercise its Subscription Rights or subscribe for the Offer 
Shares, that investor should consult its professional adviser without delay. 
Subscription Rights will initially be credited to financial intermediaries for the accounts of all shareholders who 
hold Shares registered through a financial intermediary on the Record Date. Subject to certain exceptions, 
financial intermediaries, which include brokers, custodians and nominees, may not exercise any Subscription 
Rights on behalf of any person in the Ineligible Jurisdictions or any Ineligible Person and may be required in 
connection with any exercise of Subscription Rights to provide certifications to that effect. 

Financial intermediaries may sell any and all Subscription Rights held for the benefit of Ineligible Persons to the 
extent permitted under their arrangements with such Ineligible Persons and applicable law and remit the net 
proceeds to the accounts of such Ineligible Persons. 

Subject to certain exceptions, financial intermediaries are not permitted to send this Prospectus or any other 
information about the Rights Issue into any Ineligible Jurisdiction or to any Ineligible Person. Subject to certain 
exceptions, exercise instructions or certifications sent from or postmarked in any Ineligible Jurisdiction will be 
deemed to be invalid and Offer Shares will not be delivered to an addressee in any Ineligible Jurisdiction. The 
Company reserves the right to reject any exercise (or revocation of such exercise) in the name of any person 
who provides an address in an Ineligible Jurisdiction for acceptance, revocation of exercise or delivery of such 
Subscription Rights and Offer Shares, who is unable to represent or warrant that such person is not in an 
Ineligible Jurisdiction and is not an Ineligible Person, who is acting on a non-discretionary basis for such 
persons, or who appears to the Company or its agents to have executed its exercise instructions or 
certifications in, or dispatched them from, an Ineligible Jurisdiction. Furthermore, the Company reserves the 
right, with sole and absolute discretion, to treat as invalid any exercise or purported exercise of Subscription 
Rights which appears to have been executed, effected or dispatched in a manner that may involve a breach or 
violation of the laws or regulations of any jurisdiction. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Prospectus, the Company reserves the right to permit a holder to 
exercise its Subscription Rights if the Company, in its absolute discretion, is satisfied that the transaction in 
question is exempt from or not subject to the laws or regulations giving rise to the restrictions in question. 
Applicable exemptions in certain jurisdictions are described further below. In any such case, the Company does 
not accept any liability for any actions that a holder takes or for any consequences that it may suffer as a result 
of the Company accepting the holder's exercise of Subscription Rights. 

No action has been or will be taken by the Company or the Receiving Agent to permit the possession of this 
Prospectus (or any other offering or publicity materials or application form(s) relating to the Rights Issue) in 
any jurisdiction where such distribution may lead to a breach of any law or regulatory requirement. 

Neither the Company nor the Receiving Agent, nor any of their respective representatives, is making any 
representation to any offeree, subscriber or purchaser of Offer Shares and/or holder of Subscription Rights 
regarding the legality of an investment in the Subscription Rights and/or the Offer Shares by such offeree, 
subscriber or purchaser under the laws applicable to such offeree, subscriber or purchaser. Each investor should 
consult its own advisers before subscribing for or purchasing Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares. Investors 
are required to make their independent assessment of the legal, tax, business, financial and other 
consequences of a subscription for or purchase of Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares. 

A further description of certain restrictions in relation to the Subscription Rights and the Offer Shares in certain 
jurisdictions is set out below. 

15.2 United States 
The Subscription Rights and Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act 
or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not be 
offered, sold, taken up, exercised, resold, transferred or delivered, directly or indirectly, within the United 
States except pursuant to an applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act 
and in compliance with the securities laws of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States. There will be 
no public offer of the Subscription Rights and Offer Shares in the United States. A notification of exercise of 
Subscription Rights and subscription of Offer Shares in contravention of the above may be deemed to be 
invalid. 

The Subscription Rights and Offer Shares are being offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on 
Regulation S. Any offering of the Subscription Rights and Offer Shares by the Company to be made in the 
United States will be made only to a limited number of QIBs pursuant to an exemption from registration under 
the U.S. Securities Act who have executed and returned an investor letter to the Company prior to exercising 
their Subscription Rights. Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of Subscription Rights and 
Offer Shares may be relying on an exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the U.S. Securities Act 
provided by Rule 144A. 

Accordingly, subject to certain limited exceptions, this Prospectus will not be sent to any shareholder with a 
registered address in the United States. In addition, the Company and the Receiving Agent reserve the right to 
reject any instruction sent by or on behalf of any account holder with a registered address in the United States 
in respect of the Subscription Rights and/or the Offer Shares. 
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Any recipient of this Prospectus in the United States is hereby notified that this Prospectus has been furnished 
to it on a confidential basis and is not to be reproduced, retransmitted or otherwise redistributed, in whole or in 
part, under any circumstances. Furthermore, recipients are authorised to use it solely for the purpose of 
considering an investment in the Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares in the Rights Issue and may not 
disclose any of the contents of this document or use any information herein for any other purpose. This 
Prospectus is personal to each offeree and does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public 
generally to subscribe for, or otherwise acquire, Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares. Any recipient of this 
document agrees to the foregoing by accepting delivery of this Prospectus. 

Until 40 days after the commencement of the Rights Issue, any offer or sale of Subscription Rights and Offer 
Shares within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the Rights Issue) may violate the 
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act. 

The Subscription Rights and the Offer Shares have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), any state securities commission in the United States or any other United 
States regulatory authority nor have any of the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the 
offering of the Subscription Rights and Offer Shares or the accuracy or adequacy of this document. Any 
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense in the United States. 

Each person to which Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares are distributed, offered or sold in the United 
States, by accepting delivery of this Prospectus or by its subscription for Offer Shares or purchase of 
Subscription Rights, will be deemed to have represented and agreed, on its behalf and on behalf of any investor 
accounts for which it is subscribing for Offer Shares or purchasing Subscription Rights, as the case may be, 
that: 

(i) it is a "qualified institutional buyer" as defined in Rule 144A of the U.S. Securities Act, and that it has 
executed and returned an investor letter to the Company prior to exercising their Subscription 
Rights;  

(ii) it understands that such Offer Shares are "restricted securities" for purposes of the U.S. securities 
laws and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (i)(A) in accordance with 
Rule 144A to a person that it and any person acting on its behalf reasonably believe is a QIB 
purchasing for its own account or for the account of a QIB, (B) in an offshore transaction in 
accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, (C) pursuant to 
an exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if 
available), (D) pursuant to any other available exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities 
Act or (E) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act, and (ii) in 
accordance with all applicable federal and state securities laws of the United States; and 

(iii) the Subscription Rights and Offer Shares have not been offered to it by the Company by means of 
any form of "general solicitation" or "general advertising" (within the meaning of Regulation D under 
the U.S. Securities Act). 

Each person to which Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares are distributed, offered or sold outside the United 
States will be deemed, by accepting delivery of the Prospectus or by its subscription for Offer Shares or 
purchase of Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares, will be deemed to have represented and agreed, on its 
behalf and on behalf of any investor accounts for which it is subscribing for Offer Shares or purchasing 
Subscription Rights and/or Offer Shares, as the case may be, that: 

(i) it is acquiring the Subscription Rights and/or the Offer Shares from the Company or the Receiving 
Agent in an "offshore transaction" as defined in Regulation S; and 

(ii) the Subscription Rights and/or the Offer Shares have not been offered to it by the Company or the 
Receiving Agent by means of any "directed selling efforts" as defined in Regulation S. 

15.3 United Kingdom 

This Prospectus is only being distributed to and is only directed at (i) persons who are outside the United 
Kingdom or (ii) investment professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the Order) or (iii) high net worth entities and other persons to whom it 
may lawfully be communicated falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons together 
being referred to as Relevant Persons). The Offer Shares are only available to, and any invitation, offer or 
agreement to subscribe, purchase or otherwise acquire such Shares will be engaged in only with, Relevant 
Persons. Any person who is not a Relevant Person should not act or rely on this Prospectus or any of its 
contents. 

The Receiving Agent has represented, warranted and agreed (i) that it has only communicated or caused to be 
communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage 
in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue 
or sale of the Offer Shares in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Company 
and (ii) that it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything 
done by it in relation to the Offer Shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 
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15.4 European Economic Area 

In relation to each Relevant Member State, with effect from and including the date on which the EU Prospectus 
Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the "Relevant Implementation Date"), an offer to 
the public of any Offer Shares which are the subject of the Rights Issue contemplated by this Prospectus may 
not be made in that Relevant Member State, other than the offering in Norway as described in this Prospectus, 
once the Prospectus has been approved by the competent authority in Norway and published in accordance 
with the EU Prospectus Directive (as implemented in Norway), except that an offer to the public in that 
Relevant Member State of any Offer Shares may be made at any time with effect from and including the 
Relevant Implementation Date under the following exemptions under the EU Prospectus Directive, if they have 
been implemented in that Relevant Member State: 

a. to legal entities which are qualified investors as defined in the EU Prospectus Directive; 

b. to fewer than 100, or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provisions of the 
2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined 
in the EU Prospectus Directive), as permitted under the EU Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining 
the prior consent of the Receiving Agent for any such offer; or 

c. in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the EU Prospectus Directive;  

provided that no such offer of Offer Shares shall require the Company or the Receiving Agent to publish a 
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the EU Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 
16 of the EU Prospectus Directive. 

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Offer Shares in any 
Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on 
the terms of the offer and any securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase any 
Offer Shares, as the same may be varied in that member state by any measure implementing the EU 
Prospectus Directive in that Member State the expression "EU Prospectus Directive" means Directive 
2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented 
in the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member 
State and the expression "2010 PD Amending Directive" means Directive 2010/73/EU. 

This EEA selling restrictions is in addition to any other selling restrictions set out in this Prospectus. 
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16. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

16.1 Disputes – actual and potential disputes 
As of the date of this Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is, or has been, involved in 
any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including, to the Company’s knowledge, proceedings that 
are pending or threatened), which may have or have had in recent past significant negative effects on the 
Company’s and/or the Group’s financial position or profitability.  

16.2 Documents on display  
For the life of this Prospectus, the following documents (and copies thereof) are available for inspection at the 
Company’s offices and can be downloaded from the Company's web page www.nrcgroup.com: 
 
• Articles of Association of the Company;  
• All reports, letters and other documents, historical financial information, valuations and statements 

prepared by any expert at the issuer’s request any part of which is included or referred to in the 
registration document;  

• Historical financial information for the Group’s annual accounts for 2015, 2016 and 2017;  
• Historical financial information for the Group’s quarterly accounts for the period ending 30 September 2018 

and 2017; 
• Historical financial information for the Company’s subsidiaries for the last two financial years; and 
• Stock exchange notices, including quarterly reports, distributed by the Company through Oslo Børs’ 

information system NewsWeb. 

16.3 Incorporation by reference  
The information incorporated by reference in this Prospectus shall be read in connection with the cross-
reference list as set out in the table below. Except as provided in this Section, no other information is 
incorporated by reference into this Prospectus.  
 
Section in the 
Prospectus 

Disclosure 
requirements of 
the Prospectus 

Reference document and link Page (P) in 
reference 
document1 

Section 9 
 
 

Audited historical 
financial information 
(Annex I, section 
20.1) 

Financial Statement 2017:  
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2482022/811863.pdf 
Financial Statement 2016:  
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2296713/693564.pdf 
 
Financial Statement 2015:  
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2312930/701721.pdf 
 

P 40-84 
 
 
 
P 32-69 
 
 
P 15-57 

Section 9 
 

Audit report  
(Annex I,  
section 20.4.1) 

Auditor’s Report 2017:  
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2482022/811863.pdf 
Auditor’s Report 2016:  
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2296713/693564.pdf 
Auditor’s Report 2015:  
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2312930/701721.pdf 

P 96-100 
 
 
 
P 81-84 
 
 
P 72-73 

Section 4,9 
 

Accounting 
principles 
(Annex I, section 
20.1 

Accounting principles:  
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2296713/693564.pdf 
 

P 40-45 

Section 9 
 

Interim Financial 
Information 
(Annex I,  
section 20.6.1) 

Interim Report Q3 2018 
https://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2664608/939563.pdf 
Interim Report Q3 2017 
http://mb.cision.com/Main/15911/2384280/747198.pdf 
 
 

P 6-20 
 
 
 
P 7-17 

Section 12.14 
 

 The Articles of Association:  
https://nrcgroup.com/investor/corporate-
governance/#articlesofassociation 

- 

 
1 The original page number as stated in the reference document. Where only parts of a document have been referenced 

to, the non-incorporated parts are either not relevant for the investor or covered elsewhere in the Prospectus. 
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17. DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Acquisition The acquisition by the Purchaser of 100% of the issued shares of VR Track from VR Group 
Acquisition Agreement The share sale and purchase agreement entered into between VR Group, the Purchaser 

and the Company on 11 October 2018 in relation to the Acquisition 
ALTi ...........................................  The Company’s subsidiary ALTi Bygg og Anlegg AS  
APMs ..........................................  Alternative performance measures 
Board of Directors The Board of Directors of the Company 
Company or NRC .........................  NRC Group ASA 
Consideration Shares Up to 9,877,953 shares of the Company to be issued to VR Group in accordance with the 

Acquisition Agreement 
EBIT ..........................................  Earnings before interests and tax 
EBITDA ......................................  Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
EBITDA margin ............................  EBITDA divided on operating revenues 
Elektrobyggnad ...........................  The Company's subsidiary Elektrobyggnad Sverige AB (now merged with NRC Sverige AB) 
FAS Finnish Accounting Standards 
Fibertech ....................................  The Company’s subsidiary Fibertech AS  
Financial Information ....................  The Group’s audited Financial Statements for the financial years 2015, 2016 and 2017, 

restated financial statements for 2016 as presented in the 2017 Financial Statements, as 
well as the Interim Financial Statements for the three and nine-month periods ended 30 
September 2017 and 2018 

Financial Statements ....................  The Group’s audited financial statements as at and for the years ended 31 December 
2017, 2016 and 2015 

Gravco .......................................  The Company’s subsidiaries Gravco AS and Septik Tank Co AS 
Group ........................................  The Company and its subsidiaries as at the date of this Prospectus 
HAG ...........................................  The Company’s subsidiary HAG Anlegg AS  
IAS ............................................  International Accounting Standards 
IFRS ..........................................  International Financial Reporting Standards  
Interim Financial Statements The unaudited financial statements for the three and nine-month periods ended 30 

September 2018 and 2017 
Key Employee Option Program The Company's option program for key employees comprising an aggregate of 400,000 

Shares over two years 
Litz ............................................  The Company's subsidiary Litz Entreprenad AB and its subsidiary Litz Installation AB (now 

merged with NRC Sverige AB)  
NGAAP .......................................  Norwegian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
NOK ...........................................  The lawful currency of Norway 
Non-Norwegian  
Corporate Shareholders ................  

Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other entities) not resident 
in Norway for tax purposes 

Non-Norwegian  
Personal Shareholders ..................  

 
Shareholders who are individuals not resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Norwegian Corporate Governance 
Code Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance, last updated 30 October 2014 

Norwegian Corporate Shareholders .  Shareholders who are limited liability companies (and certain other similar entities) 
resident in Norway for tax purposes 

Norwegian Personal Shareholders ...  Shareholders who are individuals resident in Norway for tax purposes 
Norwegian Public Limited 
Companies Act ............................  

 
The Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act of 13 June 1997 No.45 (as amended) 

Norwegian Securities Trading Act ...  The Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007 No. 75 (as amended) 
Norwegian FSA ............................  The Financial Supervisory Authority of Norway 
NRC Group ..................................  The Group and the Acquired Entities 
NRC Rail .....................................  The Company’s subsidiary NRC Rail AS 
NRC Sverige AB ...........................  The Company’s subsidiary Nordic Railway Construction Sverige AB 
NTP ...........................................  National Transport Plan 
PPA ............................................  Preliminary purchase price allocation 
Pro Forma Financial Information .....  The unaudited pro forma financial information prepared by the Company to show how the 

Acquisition may have affected the Group's income statement for the year ended 31 
December 2017 as if the Acquisition occurred on 1 January 2017 and, how the Acquisition 
may have affected the Group's balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 if the Acquisition 
had occurred on 31 December 2017 

Prospectus ..................................  This Prospectus dated 22 November 2018 
Purchaser ...................................  Parallel Bidco Oy 
SBB ...........................................  The Company’s subsidiary Signal och Banbyggarna i Dalarna AB  
Segermo .....................................  The Company’s subsidiary Segermo Entreprenad Aktiebolag (merged with NRC Sverige 

AB)  
SEK ...........................................  The lawful currency of Sweden 
Senior Management Option 
Program .....................................  

The Company's option program for senior management comprising an aggregate of 
900,000 Shares over two years  

SGAAP .......................................  Swedish Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
Shares .......................................  The Company’s shares, including the Consideration Shares 
US Securities Act .........................  The US Securities Act of 1933 as amended  
VR Group VR-Group Ltd 
VR Track VR Track Oy 
VR Track Entities VR Track and its three wholly-owned subsidiaries, VR Track Sweden AB, Insinööritoimisto 

Arcus Oy and VR Infrapro AB 
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1 REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Services throughout the life cycle of infrastructure projects

VR Track Oy is an engineering firm, construction company and maintenance provider specialising in infrastructure 
projects, as well as a major supplier of railway materials. As a pioneer in our industry, we focus on being flexible in 
our operations and innovative. Our market areas are mainly located in Finland and Sweden.

In Sweden, we have infrastructure engineering operations, which are managed through our subsidiary (100 %) 
Infrapro AB and railway construction and maintenance operations managed through our subsidiary (100%) VR 
Track Sweden AB.

In Finland, we have a subsidiary, Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy, where our shareholding increased from 70 percent to 
100 percent during the financial year that complement our engineering consulting business. VR Track Oy is a 
shareholder in two associated companies, Vossloh Cogifer Finland Oy and Vossloh Rail Services Finland Oy. 
During the financial year 2017, VR Track sold 10% of the shares of Vossloh Cogifer Finland Oy and Vossloh Rail 
Service Finland Oy, and shareholding decreased from 30% to 20%. Capital gains (EUR 0.8 million) arising from 
the changes in shareholdings are presented in other operating income.

Strategy

In line with its strategy, the company focuses on providing engineering, construction and maintenance 
services to the Finnish and Swedish rail markets throughout the life cycle of infrastructure projects. The 
operations in Sweden are mainly carried out by our Swedish subsidiaries.

The customer forms the ground of our operations

During 2017, there were no significant changes to the organisational structure of VR Track Oy. The current 
organisational structure has been built to support the life cycle of infrastructure project. The services of VR Track 
Oy have been divided into engineering, construction and maintenance businesses as well as equipment and 
material services.

Our customers include state and municipal bodies, as well as harbors and industrial companies. We are involved 
in a number of alliances in the infrastructure sector in order to actively develop projects to be more productive and
deliver higher quality. At its best, an effective alliance is an example of flexible co-operation.

Significant events in operations during the financial year

The most significant events in our construction business during the financial year were the launch of the Tampere 
Tramway Alliance and the renewal project for safety equipment at Riihimäki-Tampere section. Additionally, the 
railway project for the transport connection of Äänekoski biotechnology plant was completed on schedule.

In our maintenance business, VR Track Oy won a contract for the track maintenance of area 4, the alliance of 
maintenance area 2 moved to the implementation phase and the contract for maintenance area 1 was extended 
until March 2020 with the Finnish Transport Agency. At the end of the year, VR Track Oy won the contract for the
maintenance of the tramway and the metro power stations in Helsinki. 

The alliance formed between VR Track and its partners were selected to be the designer and later the builder of the 
”Raide-Jokeri” project in the Helsinki metropolitan area. The development phase of the project started during the 
financial year.

https://www.vrtrack.fi/en/services/construction/
https://www.vrtrack.fi/en/services/maintenance/
https://www.vrtrack.fi/en/services/material-services/
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Investments and product development

VR Track's investments amounted to EUR 1.6 million (EUR 2.1 million) in 2017. The investments were associated 
with the digitalisation of operations.

VR Track Oy is constantly investing in the development of work methods that improve safety, quality and 
productivity. In 2017, the main improvement projects related to development of our alliances and the utilisation of
digital technology. The company co-operated actively with external service providers and organisations such as 
BsF (BuildingSmart Finland) and ITS Finland ry to improve its digitalisation.

Safety

VR Track’s Railway Safety Management System complies with the requirements of the Finnish Transport Safety 
Agency (Trafi). Trafi re-examined the Company’s Safety Certificate in 2017 and it is now valid for additional 5 
years.

The certification of occupational health and safety management systems according to ISO 18001 applies to all of 
the business areas of VR Track. The quality system according to ISO 90001 was updated and certificated in 
accordance with the latest standard version and it applies to all of the business areas of VR Track.

In 2017, the occupational accident frequency was 5.1 (8.7) for accidents with more than one day of sick leave. 
There were five (nine) serious occupational accidents. Incident reporting of occupational safety and frequency of
accidents were the objectives of the project commissions. In addition, indicators for occupational safety were 
proactively observed. In 2017, the monthly security reporting of business operations was in use. During the current 
year, the company developed its safety communications and carried out a security campaign to change attitudes in
the workplace in the form of an escape game. Additionally, the company initiated measures to identify the effects of 
human factors in the workplace.

Environment

VR Track's most important environmental areas of focus are the reduction of mixed waste, energy 
consumption and related emissions, and the use of chemicals and natural resources. Haapamäki’s wood 
impregnation plant uses creosote to impregnate wooden railway sleepers and pillars. The use of creosote is 
regulated by EU biocides legislation. Creosote may be used as an active substance until at least 29 March 
2021.

ISO 14001 certification of environmental management systems applies to all of the business areas of VR 
Track.

Finance

The company’s net sales were EUR 238.2 million (EUR 235.6 million). The increase in net sales was +1.1% 
and mainly arises from maintenance net sales whereas construction net sales decreased. The company’s 
operating profit was EUR 20.3 million (EUR 19.8 million). The company’s order backlog was EUR 252.7 
million (EUR 247.3 million) at the end of the year. The order backlog for maintenance and engineering
services increased while the order backlog for construction services decreased. For the the Raide-Jokeri 
alliance project that was won during the year, only the development phase is presented in the order backlog.
The contract related to the implementation stage will be concluded after completion of the development 
phase.

Quality deficiencies observed in the previous year in the maintenance service area 6 were corrected and the 
systematic quality improvement program of maintenance has led to good results. 

Risk assessments are carried out regularly in VR Track Oy as part of a continuous assessment of operations. 
The company’s risks are related to normal risks associated with project activities. There are no other major 
risks or uncertainties known.
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Personnel and management

In the development of personnel the most significant areas of training were refresher trainings of work safety 
and road safety qualifications, project management training, as well as professional ongoing trainings
organised by the company itself. Co-operation with education institutions was significantly improved during 
2017 and the company launched its new trainee programme during the spring.

Due to seasonal fluctuations and regular bidding contests, the company was engaged in co-operative 
negotiations during summer 2017 with employee representatives about possible temporary layoffs that would 
have become effective during autumn 2017. The temporary layoffs were mainly avoided during 2017 due to 
the success in construction offers. Due to seasonal fluctuations the company may be forced to resort
temporary layoffs also during 2018. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is Rolf Jansson. The members of Board of Directors are Patrick Hamelin, 
Timo Koskinen and Outi Henriksson until 21 August 2017 and Marko Hyvärinen since 21 August 2017 The CEO of 
the company is Harri Lukkarinen.

The company's auditor is Ernst & Young Oy, Mikko Rytilahti, Authorized Public Accountant, with principal 
responsibility. 

Granted capital loans

In previous years, VR Track Oy has granted conditional capital loans amounting to SEK 435.000.000 to its 
fully owned subsidiary VR Track Sweden AB. In 2017 VR Track Oy granted a conditional capital loan worth 
SEK 10.500.000 to its fully owned subsidiary VR Infrapro AB. VR Track is entitled to claim repayment of the 
loans in whole or in part if the subsidiary’s unrestricted equity funds are available according to the Swedish 
Companies Act. According to the agreements, no interest is paid on the capital. The loan period is not agreed and 
no guarantee has been received on the payment of the capital. Swedish law applies to the commitments.

Events after the reporting period

The company does not have any significant events after the reporting period.

Future outlooks

VR Track Oy’s order backlog for the year 2018 is positive. The order backlog for the maintenance division is 
strong and modern tramway construction alliances in Tampere and Helsinki metropolitan area (Raide-Jokeri) 
will generate work for the engineering, consulting and construction divisions. The government repair program 
is expected to increase the traditional track market slightly compared to previous year and, as a result, 
construction net sales are expected to increase.

Company shares

The company has one class of shares. The company has 100.000 shares with a nominal value of EUR 
168,1879265 per share. Total share capital is EUR 16.818.792,65. All shares have the same rights to 
dividends and the net assets of the company.

The proposal of the Board of Directors for profit distribution

The company’s distributable funds were EUR 44,468,309.95 (EUR 41,961,794). The Board of Directors presents that no
dividend will be distributed and the result for the period will be included in the equity.

Key figures 2017 2016 2015

Average number of personnel 1 365 1 341 1 412

- Permanent 1 323 3 111 1 387

- Fixed-term 42,0 30,0 25,0

Wages and salaries of the period (M€) 63,5 65,3 65,2

Personnel average age (years) 45,5 46,3 47,0

Women’s share of the personnel (%) 11,4 9,6 8,3

Sick leaves (%) 4,3 4,5 4,8

Trainings days/person 2,5 2,3 2,3

Leadership Index 3,75 3,69 3,72
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2  PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

€ Note 1.1. - 31.12.2017 1.1. - 31.12.2016

Net sales 1 238 222 057,19 235 588 926,97

Changes in inventories of finished 
goods and work in progress 0,00                                0,00

Production for own use 0,00                                0,00

Other operating income 2 2 409 757,11 3 262 056,08

Materials and services 3

Purchases during the financial 
year -61 203 492,52 -46 234 284,71

Changes in inventories -1 260 431,72 -3 419 767,53

External services -36 228 639,80 -38 761 184,51

Personnel expenses 4 -77 857 080,43 -81 931 714,35

Depreciation 5 -4 422 085,06 -4 587 633,62

Other operating expenses 6 -39 394 044,21 -44 137 234,05

Total expenses -220 365 773,74 -219 071 818,77

Operating profit / loss 20 266 040,56 19 779 164,28

Financial income and expenses 7 -472 359,63 3 276 603,30

Profit / Loss before appropriations 
and taxes

19 793 680,93 23 055 767,58

Appropriations

Change in depreciation difference 8 247 821,52 349 216,97

Group contributions given 8 -17 400 000,00 -17 100 000,00

Total appropriations -17 152 178,48 -16 750 783,03

Income taxes 9 -134 986,99 -18 616,87

Profit / Loss for the financial year 2 506 515,46 6 286 367,68
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3  BALANCE SHEET

€ Liite 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 10

Other capitalised long-term expenditure 5 072 692,17 4 890 388,65

Tangible assets 10 14 419 501,56 16 188 101,44

Investments 11 50 759 458,80 52 184 121,45

Non-current assets total 70 251 652,53 73 262 611,54

Current assets

Inventories 12 15 314 577,82 15 802 089,54

Current receivables 13 96 770 347,60 91 758 284,84

Cash in hand and at banks 0,00 0,00

Current assets total 112 084 925,42 107 560 374,38

ASSETS TOTAL 182 336 577,95 180 822 985,92

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity 14

Share capital 16 818 792,65 16 818 792,65

Reserve fund 31 282 954,32 31 282 954,32

Retained earnings 41 961 794,49 35 675 426,81

Profit for the financial year 2 506 515,46 6 286 367,68

Shareholders’ equity total 92 570 056,92 90 063 541,46

Cumulative appropriations

Depreciation difference 9 225 424,29 9 473 245,81

Statutory provisions 15 1 717 048,44 1 983 384,44

Liabilities 16

Current liabilities 78 824 048,30 79 302 814,21

Current liabilities total 78 824 048,30 79 302 814,21

LIABILITIES TOTAL 182 336 577,95 180 822 985,92
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT, M€ 01-12/2017 01-12/2016

OPERATIONS

Operating profit 20 266 040,56 19 779 164,28

Depreciation according to plan 4 422 085,06 4 587 633,62

Gains from sale of property, plant and equipment and 
other adjustments -2 350 439,07 -4 093 422,14
Cash flow before change in working capital 22 337 686,55 20 273 375,76

Change in working capital
Increase (-), decrease (+) in inventories 487 511,72 3 419 767,53

Increase (-), decrease (+) in short-term receivables -2 011 040,66 976 119,61

Increase (-), decrease (+) in current liabilities 32 997,42 -2 202 417,84

Working capital changes -1 490 531,52 2 193 469,30

Interests and fees paid -7 307,43 -6 738,75

Dividends received 887 855,67 3 272 200,00

Interests received from operations 12 836,40 11 437,43

Other financial items from operations -1 365 744,27 -3 223,10

Taxes paid, tax rebates/surtaxes -137 163,10 -685 199,23

Cash flow from financial items and taxes -609 522,73 2 588 476,35

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS 20 237 632,30 25 055 321,41

INVESTMENTS

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -2 870 811,66 -2 066 144,85

Sale of property, plant and equipment 1 341 236,03 1 655 070,00

Changes in investments* -159 636,90 -34 882 389,52

Changes in shares in joint ventures 2 362 189,55

Change in non-current receivables 0,00 0,00
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENTS 672 977,02 -35 293464,37

CASH FLOW BEFORE FINANCING ACTIVITIES 20 910 609,32 -10 238 142,96

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Increase in non-current receivables 0,00 0,00

Repayments of non-current receivables 0,00 0,00

Change in non-current borrowings 0,00 0

Change in current borrowings 0,00 0,00

Group contribution -17 100 000,00 -13 800 000,00

Dividends paid 0,00 0,00

Change in funds transferred into VRY’s account -3 810 609,32 24 003 081,08
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -20 910 609,32 10 203 081,08

CHANGE IN CASH IN HAND AND AT BANKS 0,00 -35 061,88

Cash in hand and at banks 1.1. 0,00 35 061,88

Transferred cash in hand and at banks

Change in funds 0,00 -35 061,88

Cash in hand and at banks 31.12. 0,00 0,00
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5 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5.1 EXTENT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The company is part of the VR Group.

The Group's parent company is VR-Yhtymä Oy, located in Helsinki. The financial statements of VR Track Oy and 
its subsidiaries are consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of VR-Yhtymä Oy, which are subject to 
legislation of the EEA-countries. The copies of the consolidated financial statements are available at the 
Company’s head office, Vilhonkatu 13, 00100 Helsinki.

VR Track Oy constitutes a Group including subsidiaries Insinööritoimisto Arcus Oy (100%), VR Track Sweden AB 
(100%) ja VR lnfrapro AB (100%). The result of the VR Track Oy’s 20%-owned associated companies Vossloh 
Cogifer Finland Oy and Vossloh Rail Services Finland Oy are reported in the consolidated financial statements of 
VR Group.

Revenue recognition of long-term projects

Projects are generally recognized as revenue using the percentage of completion method. The stage of completion 
is determined based on the project’s actual costs by comparing the costs to the total estimated costs. Net sales is 
determined by reference to the stage of completion as a proportion of the project’s total estimated revenue. 

The estimated loss of onerous projects in the order backlog has been recognised in full as an expense and a 
statutory provision.

Comparability of financial statements

Financial statements have been prepared using same accounting principles as previous financial year.

Measurement principles applied in preparing the financial statements

Fixed assets

Fixed assets have been capitalized at direct acquisition

cost. Depreciation periods and methods are:

Intangible rights 5 years, straight-line method
Other long-term expenditure 5 years, straight-line method
Machinery and equipment

Track trucks and trailers 10 years, straight-line method
Other machinery and equipment 10 years, straight-line method
Forklifts and rail cranes 10 years, straight-line method
Cars and trailers 5 years, straight-line method

Other tangible assets 5 years, straight-line method

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the average price in accordance with the prudence principle. Work in progress 
includes direct costs incurred by the closing date. 

Foreign currency translation
Receivables, liabilities and other commitments denominated in foreign currencies have been converted into euros 
at the average rate applied by the European Central Bank at the balance sheet date.

Accrual of pension costs
The statutory pension security is at Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company. The supplementary pension 
insurance is further insured in VR Elakesäätiö. Penson costs have been accrued on an accrual basis.
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5.2 NOTES TO THE PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

1 Net sales according to business areas and market areas (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Business areas

Construction 85 036 96 426

Maintenance 73 855 70 152

Engineering 29 685 28 083

Other income 76 78

Equipment and materials 49 583 40 850

Total 238 235 235 589

Market areas

Finland 238 235 235 589

Total 238 235 235 589

Share of revenue recognised according to percentage of completion 

method of net sales of the financial year 181 449 188 045

The amount of revenue of construction contracts recognised according to 

percentage of completion method, but not yet delivered to customers

during the financial year and previous years 124 515 152 527

2 Other operating income 2017 2 016

Gains from sale of investments 778 1 237

Other operating income 1 632 2 025

Total 2 410 3 262

3 Materials and services (1000 €) 2017 2 016

External services

Increase/decrease in statutory provisions of long-term projects -266 -1 353

Other external services 36 495 40 114

Total 36 229 38 761

4 Number of personnel and personnel expenses 2017 2016

Average number of personnel during the financial year 1 365 1 341

Permanent 1 323 1 311

Fixed-term

Personnel expenses (1 000 €)

42 30

Wages and salaries

Board of Directors            6

Other personnel 63 504 65 254

Wages and salaries total 63 504 65 260

Pension expenses 11 143 11 863

Other social security expenses 3 209 4 809

Personnel expenses according to profit and loss statement 77 857 81 932

Company has not agreed pension commitments with members of the Board of 
Directors and CEO, that deviate from the rest of the personnel. 



Unofficial translation

10

5 Depreciation (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Depreciation according to plan

Intangible assets 1 282 1 067

Buildings 0 2

Machinery and equipment 3 140 3 519

Total 4 422 4 588

6 Other operating expenses (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Expenses from machinery and vehicles 9 784 12 564

Increase/Decrease in warranty provisions 0 -80

Travel expenses of the personnel 7 105 7 452

ICT-expenses 8 186 8 173

Rents and expenses from premises 5 751 5 888

Other expenses 8 568 10 140

Total 39 394 44 137

7 Financial income and expenses (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Dividend income

From group companies 119 32

From others 769 3 240

Dividend income total 888 3 272

Interest and financial income

From group companies 0 0

From others 1 786 14

Financial income total 1 786 14

Interest and financial expenses

From group companies 0 0

From others -3 146 -10

Financial expenses total -3 146 -10

Financial income and expenses total -472 3 276

8 Appropriations (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Difference between depreciations according to plan and depreciations in 
taxation

Change in depreciation difference (increase +, decrease -) -248 -349

Group contribution to VR-Yhtymä Oy 17 400 17 100

Appropriations total 17 152 16 751

9 Income taxes (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Income taxes from ordinary operations 135 19

Total 135 19

Unrecognised deferred tax asset

Provision for onerous long term projects 196 294
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5.3 NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET

10 Non-current assets (1 000 €)

2017 Intangible assets Tangible assets

(1 000€) Intangible Other long-

rights            term expenses   

Total Buildin

gs

Machine

ry and 

equip

ment

Work
in 
progr
ess

Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1. 1 273 10 796 12 069 77 127 533 875 128 485

Additions 0 1 464 1 464 0 176 2 003 2 179

Disposals 0 0 0 -1 798 -772 -2 570

Acquisition cost at 31.12. 1 273 12 260 13 533 77 125 911 2 106 128 094

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 1 273 5 905 7 178 77 112 220 0 112 297

Disposals’ accumulated depreciation 0 0 0 0 -1 763 0 -1 763

Depreciation from financial year 0 1 282 1 282 0 3 140 0 3 140

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 1 273 7 187 8 460 77 113 597 0 113 674

Book value 31.12. 0 5 072 5 072 0 12 313 2 106 14 420

2016 Intangible assets Tangible assets

(1 000€)                                  Intangible 

rights

Other 

long-term 

expenses

Total Buildin

gs

Machiner

y and 

equip

ment

Work 
in 
progre
ss

Total

Acquisition cost at 1.1. 1 273 8 686 9 959 77 129 001 1 250 130 328

Additions 0 2 110 2 110 0 330 624 954

Disposals 0 0 0 0 -1 798 -999 -2 797

Acquisition cost at 31.12. 1 273 10 796 12 069 77 127 533 875 128 485

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. 1 252 4 859 6 111 75 110 331 0 110 407

Disposals’ accumulated depreciation 0 0 0 0 -1 630 0 -1 630

Depreciation from financial year 21 1 046 1 067 1 3 519 0 3 520

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. 1 273 5 905 7 178 76 112 220 0 112 297

Book value 31.12. 0 4 890 4 890 0 15 312 875 16 188

Book value of production machinery 31.12.2017 11 855

and equipment 31.12.2016 14 784

11 Investments (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Acquisition cost at 1.1. 52 184 16 125

Additions +/disposals - -1 424 36 059

Acquisition cost at 31.12. 50 759 52 184

Share of ownership -% 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

lnsinööritoimisto Arcus Oy, Turku, shares acquired 1.11.2004 100 70

VR Track Sweden Ab, founded 30.6.2011 100 100

VR lnfrapro AB, acquired 30.04.2016 100 100

Vossloh Cogifer Finland Oy, acquired 1.6.2015 20 30

Vossloh Rail Services Finland Oy, acquired 1.7.2015 20 30
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12 Inventories (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Materials and consumables 15 314 15 802

Total 15 314 15 802

13 Current receivables (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Receivables from the group companies

Account receivables 2 485 2 317

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 59 250

Cash pool receivables 28 280 24 470

Other receivables 0 0

Total 30 824 27 037

Receivables from joint ventures

Account receivables 147 203

Receivables from others

Account receivables 52 325 55 161

Other receivables 132 120

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Accrued income from long-term projects 10 282 6 186

Tax receivables 1 738 1 736

Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 1 321 1 314

Total 13 341 9 236

Current receivables total 96 770 91 758
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14 Sharehoders’ equity (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Restricted equity

Share capital 1.1. 16 819 16 819

Share capital 31.12. 16 819 16 819

Reserve fund 1.1. 31 283 31 283

Reserve fund 31.12. 31 283 31 283

Total 48 102 48 102

Unrestricted equity

Retained earnings 1.1. 41 962 35 675

Retained earnings 31.12. 41 962 35 675

Profit / Loss from the financial year 2 507 6 286

Total 44 469 41 962

Shareholders’ equity total 92 570 90 063

Distributable funds

Retained earnings 41 962 35 675

Profit from the financial year 2 507 6 286

Distributable funds total 44 469 41 962

15 Statutory provisions (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Warranty provisions 736 512

Provisions for onerous contracts/orders 981 1 471

Provisions 31.12. 1 717 1 983
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16 Liabilities (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Current liabilities

Borrowings from parties outside the group

Trade payables 8 722 6 549

Accruals and deferred income

Accrued personnel expenses 17 080 18 021

Other accruals and deferred income 1 727 1 123

Accruals and deferred income total 18 807 19 144

Other liabilities 10 884 12 512

Total 38 415 38 206

Borrowings from the group companies

Trade payables 783 459

Other liabilities 17 468 17 132

Total 18 251 17 591

Borrowing from joint ventures

Trade payables 860 264

Advances received

Advances received from long-term projects 

From parties outside the group 21 298 23 242

Total advances received from long-term projects 21 298 23 242

Total 21 298 23 242

Current liabilities total 78 824 79 303



Unofficial translation

15

5.4 OTHER NOTES

1 Order backlog for long-term projects (1 000 €) 2017 2016 2015 2014

Projects recognised using percentage of completion method 144 669 175 572 51 621 73 824

Long-term maintenance contracts 108 055 71 763 102 724 150 191

Projects recognised at the time of release 0 0 942 26 731

Order backlog for projects at the end of the year 252 724 247 335 155 287 250 746

2 Contingent liabilities (1 000 €) 2017 2016

Leasing liabilities

Payable in the next financial year, to others 1 554 1 131

Payable in later periods, to others 3 612 3 179

Total 5 167 4 310

Rental liabilities

Payable in the next financial year, to group companies 1 807 2 042

Payable in the next financial year, to others 345 510

Payable in later periods, to group companies 3 778 4 110

Payable in later periods, to others 0 0

Total 5 930 6 662

Guarantee commitments

Guarantees given on behalf of the group companies 15 238 15 703

Loan guarantees given on behalf of the associated companies 400 400

Guarantees for contracts 17 265 17 411

Parent company VR-Yhtymä Oy has granted 

counter-guarantees against guarantees for 

contracts

3 Auditor’s fees 2017 2016

Audit fees 22 45

Tax services 0 9

Other services 0 0
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4 Key figures (1 000 €) 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

Net sales 238,2 235,6 229,3 265,5 312,5
Balance sheet total 183,1 180,8 175,2 168,7 153,4
Gross investments 1,5 2,1 10,4 2,2 2,3
-as percentage of net sales (%) 0,6 0,9 4,5 0,8 0,7
Average number of personnel 1 365 1 347 1 412 1 592 1 789

Profitablity 
Operating profit 20,3 19,8 21 16,2 7,7
-as percentage of net sales (%) 8,5 8,4 9,2 6,1 2,5
Profit for the financial year 2,5 6,3 3,8 1,6 4,6
Return on investment (ROI) 16,2 23,2 22,8 17,7 8,8
Return on equity (ROE) 19,9 24,4 23,6 18,9 9,4

Equity ratio 61,8 62,0 58,4 54,9 57,4

Quick ratio 1,5 1,5 1,7 1,5 1,2

Invested capital

Return on invested capital (ROI)

Return on equity(ROE)

Equity ratio

Quick ratio

Balance sheet total – non-interest bearing liabilities

Profit before approp.and taxes + interest and other financial expenses * 100
Invested capital (average of the period)

Profit before approp.and taxes - income taxes and change of deferred tax liability*100
Equity + minority interest + provisions in taxation and depreciation difference less 
deferred tax liability (average of the period)

Equity + minority interest + provisions in taxation and depreciation difference - deferred tax liability * 100 
Balance sheet total – current and non-current advances received

Financial assets – advances received from long-term projects
Current borrowings - advances received
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5 SIGNING OF THE REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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lnslnööritoimisto Arcus Oy PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT 

Linnankatu 16

20100 TURKU

Business ID 1023425-7

1.1.2017 1.1.2016
Currency EURO - 31.12.2017 - 31.12.2016

NET SALES 1 559 877,82 1 796 058,67

Other operating income 7 603,41 0,00
Materials and services

External services -242 866,15 -290 743,59

-242 866,15 -290743,59

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries
Social security expenses

-684 806,15 -702 148,70

Pension expenses -126 471,72 -120 517,49

Other social security expenses -9 466,93 -20 475,16

-820 744,80 -843 141,35

Depreciation and impairments

Depreciation according to plan -5 627,02 -6 748,52

-5 627,02 -6 748,52

Other operating expenses -259 254,95 -235 379,72

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 238 988,31 420 045,49

Financial income and expenses

Other interest and financial income
From others 12,59 16,18

Interest and other financial expenses

To others -320,62  -492,78

     -308,03  -476,60

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS 238 680,28 419 568,89

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES
238 680,28 419 568,89

Income taxes 

Taxes for the financial year -47 962,06 -85039,12

-47 962,06 -85039,12

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 190 718,22 334 529,77
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lnslnööritoimisto Arcus Oy BALANCE SHEET 

Linnankatu 16

20100 TURKU

Business ID 1023425-7

Currency EURO 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets
Other capitalised long-term 
expenditure

Tangible assets
Machinery and equipment

CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables
Current

Trade receivables 207 120,90 359 571,89

Receivables from group companies 8 940,40 47 015,10

Receivables from borrowings 431,59 2 831,59

Other receivables 6 663,01 9 892,19

Prepayments and accrued income 30 068,78 7 963,71
253 224,68 427 274,48

Cash in hand and at banks 783 830,72 707 850,04

1 037 055,40 1 135 124,52

   TOTAL ASSETS 1 048 261,54 1 151 957,68

1 112,54 3 375,02
1 112,54 3 375,02

10 093,60 13 458,14
10 093,60 13 458,14

11 206,14 16 833,16
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lnslnööritoimisto Arcus Oy BALANCE SHEET 

Linnankatu 16

20100 TURKU

Business ID 1023425-7

Currency EURO 31.12.2017 31.12.2016

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital
Share capital 8 409,40 8 409,40

8 409,40 8 409,40

Retained earnings (loss) 636 446,52 471 916,75

Profit (Loss) for the financial year 190 718,22 334 529,77

835 574,14 814 855,92

LIABILITIES

Current

Trade payables 74 012,47 19 489,40

Borrowings from group companies 5 892,67 102 309,08

Other liabilities 37 872,94 68 096,29

Accruals and deferred income 94 909,32 147 206,99
212 687,40 337 101,76

212 687,40 337 101,76

   TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 1 048 261,54 1 151 957,68
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     lnsinööritoimisto Arcus Oy
NOTES TO THE 31.12.2017 FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Accounting policies

Applied regulations

The financial statements has been prepared in accordance with the regulations for small undertakings in the 
government decree on the information presented in the financial statements of a small undertaking and micro-
undertaking.

Measurement and accrual principles and methods

The financial statements has been prepared in accordance with the presumtioned
measurement and accrual principles and methods according to the government decree on 
the information presented in the financial statements of a small undertaking and micro-
undertaking.

Capitalised long-term expenditure

  The computer program included in the balance sheet will be depreciated over 4 years 

  because of the experience based estimation for its revenue-generating effect to be at least 4 

  years.

Non-current assets

Depreciation according to plan

Machinery and equipment

The acquisition cost of machinery and equipment is depreciated by 25% on declining  
depreciation method.

Other off-balance-sheet financial commitments

31.12.2017

Total amount of existing leasing agreements, 32 723,62

of which matures in 2018 7 411,44

in 2-5 years 25 312,18

Information about the parent company

The company is part of the VR Track group. The parent company of the group is VR Track Oy, which is located in 
Helsinki. lnsinööritoimisto Arcus Oy and VR Track Oy are included in the consolidated financial statements prepared 
by VR Yhtymä Oy. A copy of the consolidated financial statements is available at the company's head office at 
Vilhonkatu 13 PL 488, 00101 Helsinki.

VR Track Oy is a group comprising of VR Track Oy’s subsidiaries;
VRTrack SwedenAb, VR lnfrapro Ab and lnsinööritoimisto Arcus Oy,

and associated companies; Vossloh Cogifer Finland Oy, Vossloh RailServices Finland

Oy.

VR-Track Oy holds 100% ownership in lnsinööritoimisto Arcus Oy,

VR-Track group is part of the VR-group, of which parent company is VR-Yhtymä Oy.
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  Personnel

The average number of personnel during the financial year was 11 persons.
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lnsinööritoimisto Arcus Oy
NOTES TO THE 31.12.2017 FINANCIAL                                      
STATEMENTS

Information required by the Limited Liability Companies Act 

Changes in equity

31.12.2017 31.12.2016

Share capital at the beginning of the year 8 409,40 8 409,40

Share capital at the end of the year 8 409,40 8 409,40

Restricted equity at the end of the year 8 409,40 8 409,40

Retained earnings at the beginning of the year 471 916,75 425 527,27

Transfer of the profit / loss from the previous year 334 529,77 92 389,48

Distribution of dividends -170 000,00 -46 000,00

Profit / Loss from the previous years at the end of the financial year 638 446,52 471 916,75

Profit / Loss for the financial year 190 718,22 334 529,77

Total unrestricted equity at the end of the financial year 827 164,74 806 446,52

Equity total 835 574,14 814 855 ,92

The Board’s proposal for the distribution of unrestricted equity

Distributable funds were EUR  827.164,74, of which profit for the financial year 
amounted to EUR 190.718,22. There have been no material changes in the company's 
financial position after the balance sheet date. The Board of Directors proposes to the 
Annual General Meeting that the distributable funds are used as follows:

Distributed as dividends EUR 0,00 per share, totaling EUR 0,00 

Remaining as unrestricted equity

Total EUR 827.164,74.
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lnsinööritoimisto Arcus Oy
SIGNING OF THE 31.12.2017 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DATE AND SIGNATURES

Helsinki, 27 February 2017

                                                                                                                   
Timo Cronvall Harri Yli-Villamo

                                                   
Pasi Tikka

AUDITOR’S NOTE

An audit report of the audit performed has been given today.

Helsinki, 7 March 2018

Ernst & Young Oy

Mikko Rytilahti, KHT, JHT
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